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Part I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION.
Item 1. Financial Statements

WHITE MOUNTAINS INSURANCE GROUP, LTD.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

March 31, 2022 December 31, 2021Millions, except share and per share amounts
Assets Unaudited
Financial Guarantee (HG Global/BAM)

Fixed maturity investments, at fair value $ 873.8  $ 934.1 
Short-term investments, at fair value 36.5  32.4 

Total investments 910.3  966.5 
Cash 22.3  19.8 
Insurance premiums receivable 6.9  6.9 
Deferred acquisition costs 33.1  33.1 
Other assets 18.4  18.5 

Total Financial Guarantee assets 991.0  1,044.8 
P&C Insurance and Reinsurance (Ark)

Fixed maturity investments, at fair value 692.4  688.6 
Common equity securities, at fair value 290.1  251.1 
Short-term investments, at fair value 198.0  296.2 
Other long-term investments 334.5  326.2 

Total investments 1,515.0  1,562.1 
Cash 115.5  67.8 
Reinsurance recoverables 412.7  448.4 
Insurance premiums receivable 759.6  416.0 
Ceded unearned premiums 86.8  67.1 
Deferred acquisition costs and value of in-force business acquired 179.8  108.2 
Goodwill and other intangible assets 292.5  292.5 
Other assets 73.3  64.9 

Total P&C Insurance and Reinsurance assets 3,435.2  3,027.0 
Specialty Insurance Distribution (NSM)
     Cash (restricted $90.2 and $89.2) 113.5  111.5 

Premiums and commissions receivable 97.6  85.0 
     Goodwill and other intangible assets 712.0  725.4 
     Other assets 53.0  55.4 

Total Specialty Insurance Distribution assets 976.1  977.3 
Asset Management (Kudu)
     Other long-term investments 691.8  669.5 
     Cash (restricted $4.5 and $4.5) 25.4  21.4 
     Accrued investment income 11.8  16.9 
     Goodwill and other intangible assets 8.9  8.9 
     Other assets 9.6  10.4 

Total Asset Management assets 747.5  727.1 
Other Operations
     Fixed maturity investments, at fair value 249.3  286.2 
     Short-term investments, at fair value 87.0  137.3 

Investment in MediaAlpha, at fair value 280.4  261.6 
     Other long-term investments 402.2  382.1 

     Total investments 1,018.9  1,067.2 
     Cash 50.4  38.8 
     Goodwill and other intangible assets 38.1  39.1 
     Other assets 83.6  63.3 

Assets held for sale 15.9  16.1 
     Total Other Operations assets 1,206.9  1,224.5 
Total assets $ 7,356.7  $ 7,000.7 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (CONTINUED)
March 31, 2022 December 31, 2021Millions, except share and per share amounts

Liabilities Unaudited
Financial Guarantee (HG Global/BAM)

Unearned insurance premiums $ 267.3  $ 266.3 
Accrued incentive compensation 11.2  24.7 
Other liabilities 28.3  30.9 

Total Financial Guarantee liabilities 306.8  321.9 
P&C Insurance and Reinsurance (Ark)

Loss and loss adjustment expense reserves 999.6  894.7 
Unearned insurance premiums 883.1  495.9 
Debt 184.8  185.9 
Reinsurance payable 348.9  424.1 
Contingent consideration 30.1  28.0 
Other liabilities 108.4  93.8 

Total P&C Insurance and Reinsurance liabilities 2,554.9  2,122.4 
Specialty Insurance Distribution (NSM)

Debt 270.6  272.1 
Premiums payable 146.0  135.9 
Contingent consideration —  6.8 

     Other liabilities 77.4  80.5 
Total Specialty Insurance Distribution liabilities 494.0  495.3 

Asset Management (Kudu)
Debt 218.2  218.2 

     Other liabilities 42.3  42.8 
     Total Asset Management liabilities 260.5  261.0 

Other Operations
Debt 17.3  16.8 
Accrued incentive compensation 25.3  48.5 
Other liabilities 28.6  30.1 

Total Other Operations liabilities 71.2  95.4 
Total liabilities 3,687.4  3,296.0 

Equity
White Mountains’s common shareholders’ equity

White Mountains’s common shares at $1 par value per share—authorized 50,000,000
   shares; issued and outstanding 2,994,162 and 3,017,772 shares 3.0  3.0 
Paid-in surplus 583.3 585.9
Retained earnings 2,956.2  2,957.5 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), after-tax:

Net unrealized gains (losses) from foreign currency translation and 
    interest rate swap (.4) 1.7 
Total White Mountains’s common shareholders’ equity 3,542.1  3,548.1 

Non-controlling interests 127.2  156.6 
Total equity 3,669.3  3,704.7 
Total liabilities and equity $ 7,356.7  $ 7,000.7 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2



WHITE MOUNTAINS INSURANCE GROUP, LTD.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(Unaudited)



Three Months Ended March 31,
Millions 2022 2021

Revenues:
Financial Guarantee (HG Global/BAM)

Earned insurance premiums $ 8.4  $ 6.4 
Net investment income 4.6  4.5 
Net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses) (45.1) (17.9)
Other revenues .8  .3 

Total Financial Guarantee revenues (31.3) (6.7)

P&C Insurance and Reinsurance (Ark)
Earned insurance premiums 194.4  $ 104.6 
Net investment income 1.6  .8 
Net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses) (17.5) 1.1 
Other revenues (2.8) 2.6 

Total P&C Insurance and Reinsurance revenues 175.7  109.1 

Specialty Insurance Distribution (NSM)
Commission revenues 70.1  59.6 
Other revenues 18.4  15.2 
Total Specialty Insurance Distribution revenues 88.5  74.8 

Asset Management (Kudu)
Net investment income 12.6  8.2 
Net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses) 22.3  15.8 
Other revenues —  .1 
Total Asset Management revenues 34.9  24.1 

Other Operations
   Net investment income 1.8  7.1 
   Net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses) 31.9  2.1 
   Net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses) from


      investment in MediaAlpha 18.8  (41.7)
   Commission revenues 2.9  2.3 
   Other revenues 25.7  7.1 

Total Other Operations revenues 81.1  (23.1)
Total revenues $ 348.9  $ 178.2 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)
(Unaudited)



Three Months Ended March 31,

Millions 2022 2021

Expenses:
Financial Guarantee (HG Global/BAM)

Insurance acquisition expenses $ 3.0  $ 1.9 
General and administrative expenses 16.3  16.4 

Total Financial Guarantee expenses 19.3  18.3 

P&C Insurance and Reinsurance (Ark)
Loss and loss adjustment expenses 122.0  66.0 
Insurance and reinsurance acquisition expenses 49.9  36.7 
General and administrative expenses 23.1  37.8 
Interest expense 3.8  1.1 

Total P&C Insurance and Reinsurance expenses 198.8  141.6 

Specialty Insurance Distribution (NSM)
General and administrative expenses 54.0  46.0 
Broker commission expenses 20.6  18.9 
Change in fair value of contingent consideration .1  — 
Amortization of other intangible assets 9.1  8.6 
Loss on assets held for sale —  28.7 
Interest expense 2.1  5.9 
Total Specialty Insurance Distribution expenses 85.9  108.1 

Asset Management (Kudu)
General and administrative expenses 2.7  2.5 
Amortization of other intangible assets .1  .1 
Interest expense 2.8  5.8 
Total Asset Management expenses 5.6  8.4 

Other Operations
   Cost of sales 21.4  4.0 
   General and administrative expenses 28.9  35.7 
   Amortization of other intangible assets .9  .5 
   Interest expense .3  .3 

Total Other Operations expenses 51.5  40.5 
Total expenses 361.1  316.9 

Pre-tax income (loss) from continuing operations (12.2) (138.7)
   Income tax (expense) benefit 3.8  9.5 
Net income (loss) from continuing operations (8.4) (129.2)

Net gain (loss) from sale of discontinued operations, net of tax —  18.7 
Net income (loss) (8.4) (110.5)
   Net (income) loss attributable to non-controlling interests 41.8  35.2 
Net income (loss) attributable to White Mountains’s 


   common shareholders $ 33.4  $ (75.3)

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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WHITE MOUNTAINS INSURANCE GROUP, LTD.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(Unaudited)



Three Months Ended March 31,
Millions 2022 2021

Net income (loss) attributable to White Mountains’s 

   common shareholders $ 33.4  $ (75.3)

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax (2.3) 1.8 
Comprehensive income (loss) 31.1  (73.5)

Other comprehensive (income) loss attributable to non-controlling interests .2  (.1)
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to 


   White Mountains’s common shareholders $ 31.3  $ (73.6)



Earnings (loss) per share attributable to White Mountains’s common shareholders:

Basic earnings (loss) per share
Continuing operations $ 11.10  $ (30.33)
Discontinued operations —  6.03 

Total consolidated operations $ 11.10  $ (24.30)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share

Continuing operations $ 11.10  $ (30.33)
Discontinued operations —  6.03 

Total consolidated operations $ 11.10  $ (24.30)
Dividends declared and paid per White Mountains’s


   common share $ 1.00  $ 1.00 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
(Unaudited)



  White Mountains’s Common Shareholders’ Equity  

Millions

Common shares
and paid-in

surplus Retained earnings AOCI, after tax Total
Non-controlling

interest Total Equity
Balance at January 1, 2022 $ 588.9  $ 2,957.5  $ 1.7  $ 3,548.1  $ 156.6  $ 3,704.7 
Net income (loss) —  33.4  —  33.4  (41.8) (8.4)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax —  —  (2.1) (2.1) (.2) (2.3)
Total comprehensive income (loss) —  33.4  (2.1) 31.3  (42.0) (10.7)
Dividends declared on common shares —  (3.0) —  (3.0) —  (3.0)
Dividends to non-controlling interests —  —  —  —  (.6) (.6)
Issuances of common shares .8  —  —  .8  —  .8 
Repurchases and retirements of common shares (7.3) (31.7) —  (39.0) —  (39.0)
BAM member surplus contributions, net of tax —  —  —  —  12.3  12.3 
Amortization of restricted share awards 2.9  —  —  2.9  —  2.9 
Recognition of equity-based compensation expense


   of subsidiaries 1.2  —  —  1.2  .2  1.4 
Net contributions and dilution from other 


   non-controlling interests (.2) —  —  (.2) .7  .5 
Balance at March 31, 2022 $ 586.3  $ 2,956.2  $ (.4) $ 3,542.1  $ 127.2  $ 3,669.3 



  White Mountains’s Common Shareholders’ Equity  

Millions

Common shares
and paid-in

surplus Retained earnings AOCI, after tax Total
Non-controlling

interest Total Equity
Balance at January 1, 2021 $ 595.2  $ 3,311.2  $ (.4) $ 3,906.0  $ (88.1) $ 3,817.9 
Net income (loss) —  (75.3) —  (75.3) (35.2) (110.5)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax —  —  1.7  1.7  .1  1.8 
Total comprehensive income (loss) —  (75.3) 1.7  (73.6) (35.1) (108.7)
Dividends declared on common shares —  (3.1) —  (3.1) —  (3.1)
Dividends to non-controlling interests —  —  —  —  (.6) (.6)
Issuances of common shares —  —  —  —  —  — 
Repurchases and retirements of common shares (1.4) (6.1) —  (7.5) —  (7.5)
BAM member surplus contributions, net of tax —  —  —  —  13.8  13.8 
Amortization of restricted share awards 4.0  —  —  4.0  —  4.0 
Recognition of equity-based compensation expense


   of subsidiary .5  —  —  .5  —  .5 
Net contributions and dilution from other


   non-controlling interests (.4) —  —  (.4) (.2) (.6)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests —  —  —  —  220.2  220.2 
Balance at March 31, 2021 $ 597.9  $ 3,226.7  $ 1.3  $ 3,825.9  $ 110.0  $ 3,935.9 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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WHITE MOUNTAINS INSURANCE GROUP, LTD.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Unaudited)

Three Months Ended March 31,
Millions 2022 2021
Cash flows from operations:
Net income (loss) $ (8.4) $ (110.5)
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided from (used for) operations:    

Net realized and unrealized investment (gains) losses 8.4  (1.1)
Net realized and unrealized investment (gains) losses from investment in MediaAlpha (18.8) 41.7 
Deferred income tax expense 4.6  (1.4)
Net (gain) loss from sale of discontinued operations, net of tax —  (18.7)
Amortization of restricted share awards 2.9  4.0 
Amortization and depreciation 16.0  12.8 

Other operating items:  
Net change in reinsurance recoverables 35.7  (15.7)
Net change in insurance premiums receivable (343.6) (199.7)
Net change in premiums and commissions receivable (12.6) (.2)
Net change in ceded unearned premiums (19.7) 24.8 
Net change in loss and loss adjustment expense reserves 104.9  56.0 
Net change in premiums payable 10.1  2.6 
Net change in unearned insurance premiums 388.2  245.5 
Net change in deferred acquisition costs (71.6) (51.3)
Net change in reinsurance payable (75.2) (40.7)
Net change in restricted cash 1.0  4.8 
Investments in Kudu Participation Contracts —  (11.0)
Net change in other assets and liabilities, net (63.4) (34.7)

Net cash provided from (used for) operations (41.5) (92.8)
Cash flows from investing activities:    

Net change in short-term investments 144.5  (103.1)
Sales of fixed maturity investments 86.5  97.8 
Maturities, calls and paydowns of fixed maturity investments 39.0  31.4 
Sales of common equity securities and investment in MediaAlpha —  160.3 
Distributions and redemptions of other long-term investments and settlements of forward contracts 39.8  40.1 
Release of cash pre-funded/placed in escrow for Ark Transaction —  646.3 
Purchases of consolidated subsidiaries, net of cash acquired of $— and $52.0 —  11.1 
Purchases of other long-term investments (21.4) (101.0)
Purchases of common equity securities (38.0) (68.8)
Purchases of fixed maturity investments (115.0) (411.1)
Other investing activities, net 4.4  60.9 

Net cash provided from (used for) investing activities 139.8  363.9 
Cash flows from financing activities:    

Draw down of debt and revolving line of credit 15.0  105.3 
Repayment of debt and revolving line of credit (14.8) (93.7)
Cash dividends paid to the Company’s common shareholders (3.0) (3.1)
Common shares repurchased (34.8) — 
Net contributions from non-controlling interest shareholders .3  (1.3)
Contingent consideration payments related to acquisitions of subsidiaries —  (6.7)
Capital contributions from BAM members 12.3  13.8 
Fidus Re premium payment (1.9) (3.2)
Other financing activities, net (4.2) (4.6)

Net cash provided from (used for) financing activities (31.1) 6.5 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash .6  (.3)
Net change in cash during the period - continuing operations, including the effect of exchange rate changes 67.8  277.3 
Cash balances at beginning of period (includes restricted cash balances of $89.2 and $78.4) 259.3  211.2 
Cash balances at end of period (includes restricted cash balances of $94.7 and $83.2) $ 327.1  $ 488.5 

Supplemental cash flows information:  
Interest paid $ (8.4) $ (7.5)
Net income tax payments $ (.3) $ (1.4)

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

Note 1. Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

White Mountains Insurance Group, Ltd. (the “Company” or the “Registrant”) is an exempted Bermuda limited liability company whose principal businesses are conducted through its
subsidiaries and other affiliates. The Company’s headquarters is located at 26 Reid Street, Hamilton, Bermuda HM 11, its principal executive office is located at 23 South Main Street, Suite 3B,
Hanover, New Hampshire 03755-2053 and its registered office is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton, Bermuda HM 11. The Company’s website is located at
www.whitemountains.com. The information contained on White Mountains’s website is not incorporated by reference into, and is not a part of, this report.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“GAAP”) and include the accounts of
the Company, its subsidiaries (collectively with the Company, “White Mountains”) and other entities required to be consolidated under GAAP. Intercompany transactions have been eliminated in
consolidation. Certain amounts in the prior period financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current presentation.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

These interim financial statements include all adjustments considered necessary by management to fairly state the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of White Mountains.
These interim financial statements may not be indicative of financial results for the full year and should be read in conjunction with the Company’s 2021 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Reportable Segments
White Mountains has determined its reportable segments based on the nature of the underlying businesses, the manner in which the Company’s subsidiaries and affiliates are organized and

managed and the organization of the financial information provided to the chief operating decision maker to assess performance and make decisions regarding allocation of resources. As of March 31,
2022, White Mountains’s reportable segments were HG Global/BAM, Ark, NSM, Kudu and Other Operations.

The HG Global/BAM segment consists of HG Global Ltd. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries (“HG Global”) and the consolidated results of Build America Mutual Assurance Company (“BAM”)
(collectively, “HG Global/BAM”). BAM is the first and only mutual municipal bond insurance company in the United States. By insuring the timely payment of principal and interest, BAM provides
market access to, and lowers interest expense for, issuers of municipal bonds used to finance essential public purpose projects, such as schools, utilities and transportation facilities. BAM is owned by
and operated for the benefit of its members, the municipalities that purchase BAM’s insurance for their debt issuances. HG Global was established to fund the startup of BAM and, through its
reinsurance subsidiary, HG Re Ltd. (“HG Re”), to provide up to 15%-of-par, first loss reinsurance protection for policies underwritten by BAM. HG Global, together with its subsidiaries, funded the
initial capitalization of BAM through the purchase of $503.0 million of surplus notes issued by BAM (the “BAM Surplus Notes”). As of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, White Mountains
owned 96.9% of HG Global’s preferred equity and 88.4% of its common equity. White Mountains does not have an ownership interest in BAM. However, White Mountains is required to consolidate
BAM’s results in its financial statements because BAM is a variable interest entity for which White Mountains is the primary beneficiary. BAM’s results are all attributed to non-controlling interests.

The Ark segment consists of Ark Insurance Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively, “Ark”). Ark is a specialty property and casualty insurance and reinsurance company that offers a
wide range of niche insurance and reinsurance products, including property, marine & energy, specialty, accident & health and casualty. Ark underwrites select coverages through Lloyd’s Syndicates
4020 and 3902 (the “Syndicates”) and its wholly-owned subsidiary Group Ark Insurance Limited (“GAIL”). White Mountains acquired a controlling ownership interest in Ark on January 1, 2021
(the “Ark Transaction”). See Note 2 — “Significant Transactions”. As of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, White Mountains owned 72.0% of Ark on a basic shares outstanding basis
(63.0% after taking account of management’s equity incentives). The remaining shares are owned by current and former employees. In the future, management rollover shareholders could earn
additional shares in Ark if and to the extent that White Mountains achieves certain multiple of invested capital return thresholds. If fully earned, these additional shares would represent 12.5% of the
shares outstanding at closing. For the years of account prior to the Ark Transaction, a significant proportion of the Syndicates’ underwriting capital was provided by third-party insurance and
reinsurance groups (“TPC Providers”) using whole account reinsurance contracts with Ark’s corporate member. For the years of account subsequent to the Ark Transaction, Ark is no longer using
TPC Providers to provide underwriting capital for the Syndicates. Captions within results of operations and other comprehensive income are shown net of amounts relating to the TPC Providers share
of the Syndicates’ results, including investment results.

8



NSM is a full-service managing general agent (“MGA”) and program administrator with delegated binding authorities for specialty property and casualty insurance. The company places
insurance in niche sectors such as specialty transportation, real estate, social services and pet. On behalf of its insurance carrier partners, NSM typically manages all aspects of the placement process,
including product development, marketing, underwriting and policy issuance. NSM earns commissions based on the volume and profitability of the insurance that it places. NSM does not take
insurance risk. As of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, White Mountains owned 96.5% of the basic units outstanding of NSM (87.3% on a fully diluted, fully converted basis).

The Kudu segment consists of Kudu Investment Management, LLC and its subsidiaries (collectively “Kudu”). Kudu provides capital solutions for boutique asset and wealth managers for a
variety of purposes including generational ownership transfers, management buyouts, acquisition and growth finance and legacy partner liquidity. Kudu also provides strategic assistance to investees
from time to time. Kudu’s capital solutions typically are structured as minority preferred equity stakes with distribution rights, generally tied to gross revenues and designed to generate strong, stable
cash yields. As of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, White Mountains owned 99.1% and 99.3% of the basic units outstanding (84.5% and 84.7% on a fully diluted, fully converted basis).

The Other Operations segment consists of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiary, White Mountains Capital, LLC (“WM Capital”), its other intermediate holding companies, its wholly-
owned investment management subsidiary, White Mountains Advisors LLC (“WM Advisors”), investment assets managed by WM Advisors, its interests in MediaAlpha, Inc. (“MediaAlpha”),
PassportCard Limited (“PassportCard”) and DavidShield Life Insurance Agency (2000) Ltd. (“DavidShield”) (collectively, “PassportCard/DavidShield”), Elementum Holdings LP (“Elementum”),
and certain other consolidated and unconsolidated entities (“Other Operating Businesses”) and certain other assets.

Significant Accounting Policies

Refer to the Company’s 2021 Annual Report on Form 10-K for a complete discussion regarding White Mountains’s significant accounting policies.

Note 2. Significant Transactions

Ark
On October 1, 2020, White Mountains entered into a subscription and purchase agreement (the “Ark SPA”) with Ark and certain selling shareholders (collectively with Ark, the “Ark Sellers”).

Under the terms of the Ark SPA, White Mountains agreed to contribute $605.4 million of equity capital to Ark, at a pre-money valuation of $300.0 million, and to purchase $40.9 million of shares
from the Ark Sellers. White Mountains also agreed to contribute up to an additional $200.0 million of equity capital to Ark in 2021. In accordance with the Ark SPA, in the fourth quarter of 2020,
White Mountains pre-funded/placed in escrow a total of $646.3 million in preparation for closing the Ark Transaction, including $280.0 million funded directly to Lloyd’s on behalf of Ark under the
terms of a credit facility agreement and $366.3 million placed in escrow.

On January 1, 2021, White Mountains completed the Ark Transaction in accordance with the terms of the Ark SPA. As of March 31, 2022, White Mountains owned 72.0% of Ark on a basic
shares outstanding basis (63.0% after taking account of management’s equity incentives). The remaining shares are owned by current and former employees. In the future, management rollover
shareholders could earn additional shares in Ark if and to the extent that White Mountains achieves certain multiple of invested capital return thresholds. If fully earned, these additional shares would
represent 12.5% of the shares outstanding at closing.

White Mountains recognized total assets acquired related to the Ark Transaction of $2.5 billion, including goodwill and other intangible assets of $292.5 million, and total liabilities of
$1.7 billion, including contingent consideration of $22.5 million and non-controlling interest of $220.2 million. Ark incurred transaction costs of $25.3 million in the first quarter of 2021.     

In the third quarter of 2021, Ark issued $163.3 million of floating rate unsecured subordinated notes (the “Ark 2021 Subordinated Notes”) in three separate transactions. See Note 7 — “Debt”.
In connection with the issuance of the Ark 2021 Subordinated Notes, White Mountains and Ark terminated White Mountains’s commitment to provide up to $200.0 million of additional equity
capital to Ark in 2021.
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The following presents additional details of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the January 1, 2021 acquisition date:
Millions As of January 1, 2021

Investments $ 594.3
Cash 52.0
Reinsurance recoverables 433.4
Insurance premiums receivable 236.7
Ceded unearned premiums 170.2
Value of in-force business acquired 71.7
Other assets 88.9
Loss and loss adjustment expense reserves (696.0)
Unearned insurance premiums (326.1)
Debt (46.4)
Ceded reinsurance payable (528.3)
Other liabilities (25.9)
   Net tangible assets acquired 24.5
Goodwill 116.8
Other intangible assets - syndicate underwriting capacity 175.7
Deferred tax liability on other intangible assets (33.4)
  Net assets acquired $ 283.6

 Cash excludes the White Mountains cash contribution of $605.4 as part of the Ark transaction.

The values of net tangible assets acquired and the resulting goodwill, other intangible assets and contingent consideration were recorded at fair value using Level 3 inputs. The majority of the
tangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed were recorded at their carrying values, as their carrying values approximated their fair values due to their short-term nature. The fair values of
goodwill, other intangible assets and the contingent consideration liability were internally estimated primarily based on the income approach. The income approach estimates fair value based on the
present value of the cash flows that the assets are expected to generate in the future. White Mountains developed internal estimates for the expected future cash flows and discount rates used in the
present value calculations.

The value of in-force business acquired represents the estimated profits relating to the unexpired contracts, net of related prepaid reinsurance, at the acquisition date through the expiration date of
the contracts. For the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, Ark recognized $4.7 million and $28.8 million of amortization expense on the value of in-force business acquired. The value of
the syndicate underwriting capacity intangible asset was estimated using net cash flows attributable to Ark’s rights to write business in the Lloyd’s market. The value of the in-force business acquired
and the syndicate underwriting capacity were estimated using a discounted cash flow method. Significant inputs to the valuation models include estimates of growth in premium revenues, investment
returns, claim costs, expenses and discount rates based on a weighted average cost of capital.

In evaluating the fair value of Ark’s loss and loss adjustment expense reserves (“LAE”), White Mountains determined that the risk-free rate of interest was approximately equal to the risk factor
reflecting the uncertainty within the reserves and that no adjustment was necessary.

As of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, Ark recognized total contingent consideration liabilities of $30.1 million and $28.0 million. Any future adjustments to contingent consideration
liabilities will be recognized through pre-tax income (loss). For the three months ended March 31, 2022, Ark recognized pre-tax expense of $2.1 million and for the change in the fair value of its
contingent consideration liabilities. For the three months ended March 31, 2021, Ark did not recognize any pre-tax income (loss) for the change in the fair value of its contingent consideration
liabilities.

(1)

(1)
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MediaAlpha
On October 30, 2020, MediaAlpha completed an initial public offering (the “MediaAlpha IPO”). In the offering, White Mountains sold 3.6 million shares at $19.00 per share ($17.67 per share

net of underwriting fees) and received total proceeds of $63.8 million. White Mountains also received $55.0 million of net proceeds related to a dividend recapitalization at MediaAlpha.
Subsequent to the MediaAlpha IPO, White Mountains’s investment in MediaAlpha is accounted for at fair value based on the publicly traded share price of MediaAlpha’s common stock, and

White Mountains presents its investment in MediaAlpha as a separate line item on the balance sheet.
On March 23, 2021, MediaAlpha completed a secondary offering of 8.05 million shares. In the secondary offering, White Mountains sold 3.6 million shares at $46.00 per share ($44.62 per share

net of underwriting fees) for net proceeds of $160.3 million.
As of March 31, 2022, White Mountains owned 16.9 million shares, representing a 27.7% basic ownership interest (25.0% fully-diluted/fully-converted basis). At this current level of ownership,

each $1.00 per share increase or decrease in the share price of MediaAlpha will result in an approximate $5.65 per share increase or decrease in White Mountains’s book value per share. At the
March 31, 2022 closing price of $16.55 per share, the fair value of White Mountains’s investment in MediaAlpha was $280.4 million. See Note 16 — “Equity-Method Eligible Investments”.

NSM
On May 18, 2018, NSM acquired 100% of Fresh Insurance, which is an insurance broker that offers non-standard personal lines products in the United Kingdom. NSM paid $49.6 million of

upfront cash consideration for Fresh Insurance. NSM borrowed $51.0 million to fund the transaction. During the nine months ended September 30, 2019, NSM paid a purchase price adjustment of an
additional $0.7 million of consideration. The purchase price was subject to additional adjustments based upon growth in EBITDA during two earnout periods, which ended in February 2020 and
2022. NSM did not make any payments related to the Fresh Insurance earnout.

As of March 31, 2021, the Fresh Insurance motor business was classified as held for sale, and NSM recognized a loss of $28.7 million in the first quarter of 2021. See Note 19 — “Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations”. On April 12, 2021, NSM sold Fresh Insurance’s motor business for net proceeds of £1.1 million ($1.5 million based upon the foreign exchange spot rate as of the
transaction date).

On December 3, 2018, NSM acquired all the net assets of KBK Insurance Group, Inc. (“KBK”), a specialized MGA focused on the towing and transportation space. NSM paid $60.0 million of
upfront cash consideration for KBK. White Mountains contributed $29.0 million to NSM and NSM borrowed $30.1 million to fund the transaction. NSM recognized $32.6 million of goodwill and
$32.7 million of other intangible assets, reflecting acquisition date fair values, and recorded a liability of $5.9 million relating to the fair value of contingent consideration made in connection with the
acquisition. The purchase price was subject to adjustments based upon growth in EBITDA during three earnout periods, which ended in December 2019, 2020 and 2021. In the first quarter of 2022
and 2021, NSM paid $6.8 million and $6.7 million related to the second and third KBK earnout periods.

On April 1, 2019, NSM acquired 100% of Embrace Pet Insurance (“Embrace”), a nationwide provider of pet health insurance for dogs and cats. NSM paid $71.5 million of cash consideration,
net of cash acquired, for Embrace. White Mountains contributed $58.2 million to NSM and NSM borrowed $20.4 million to fund the transaction. NSM recognized $52.2 million of goodwill and
$15.4 million of other intangible assets, reflecting acquisition date fair values.

On June 28, 2019, NSM acquired the renewal rights on its U.S. collector car business (the “Renewal Rights”) from American International Group, Inc. (“AIG”) for $82.5 million. The acquisition
satisfied NSM’s obligation to acquire the Renewal Rights from AIG. White Mountains contributed $59.1 million to NSM and NSM borrowed $22.5 million to fund the transaction. NSM recognized
$82.5 million of other intangible assets, reflecting the acquisition date fair value.

On April 7, 2020, NSM acquired 100% of Kingsbridge Group Limited (“Kingsbridge”), a leading provider of commercial lines insurance and consulting services for the professional contractor
and freelancer markets in the United Kingdom. NSM paid £107.2 million ($132.2 million based upon the foreign exchange spot rate at the date of acquisition) of upfront cash consideration for
Kingsbridge. White Mountains contributed $80.3 million to NSM and NSM borrowed £42.5 million ($52.4 million based upon the foreign exchange spot rate at the date of acquisition) to fund the
transaction. NSM recognized $111.5 million of goodwill and $20.2 million of other intangible assets, reflecting acquisition date fair values. The purchase price was subject to adjustment based upon
growth in EBITDA during an earnout period, which ended in January 2022. NSM did not make any payments related to the Kingsbridge earnout.
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On August 6, 2021, NSM acquired 100% of J.C. Taylor Insurance (“J.C. Taylor”), an MGA offering classic and antique collector car insurance. NSM paid $49.6 million of upfront cash
consideration for J.C. Taylor. NSM borrowed $35.0 million under its credit facility to fund the acquisition. NSM recognized total assets acquired related to the J.C. Taylor transaction of $60.3 million,
including goodwill and other intangible assets of $55.7 million, and total liabilities of $10.7 million. During 2021, NSM determined that the relative values of goodwill and other intangible assets
recorded in connection with the J.C. Taylor transaction were $28.5 million and $27.2 million, reflecting acquisition date fair values.

See Note 4 — “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”.
The contingent consideration liabilities related to NSM’s acquisitions are subject to adjustments based upon EBITDA, EBITDA projections, and present value factors for acquired entities. For

the three months ended March 31, 2022, NSM recognized pre-tax loss of $0.1 million for the change in the fair value of its contingent consideration liabilities. For the three months ended March 31,
2021, NSM did not recognize any pre-tax income (loss) for the change in the fair value of its contingent consideration liabilities. As of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, NSM had
$0.0 million and $6.8 million of contingent consideration liabilities.

PassportCard/DavidShield
On January 24, 2018, White Mountains acquired a 50.0% ownership interest in DavidShield, its joint venture partner in PassportCard. DavidShield is an MGA that is the leading provider of

expatriate medical insurance in Israel and uses the same card-based delivery system as PassportCard. As part of the transaction, White Mountains reorganized its equity stake in PassportCard so that
White Mountains and its partner in DavidShield would each own 50.0% of both businesses. To facilitate the transaction, White Mountains provided financing to its partner in the form of a non-
interest bearing loan that is secured by the partner’s equity in PassportCard and DavidShield. The gross purchase price for the 50.0% interest in DavidShield was $41.8 million, or $28.3 million net of
the financing provided for the restructuring.

On May 7, 2020, White Mountains made an additional $15.0 million investment in PassportCard/DavidShield to support operations through the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. The transaction
increased White Mountains’s ownership interest from 50.0% to 53.8%, but had no impact on the governance structure of the companies, including White Mountains’s board representation or other
investor rights. The governance structures for both PassportCard and DavidShield were designed to give White Mountains and its co-investor equal power to make the decisions that most
significantly impact the operations of PassportCard and DavidShield. Because White Mountains does not have the unilateral power to direct the operations of PassportCard or DavidShield, White
Mountains does not hold a controlling financial interest in either PassportCard or DavidShield and does not consolidate either entity. White Mountains’s ownership interest gives White Mountains the
opportunity to exert significant influence over the significant financial and operating activities of PassportCard and DavidShield. Accordingly, PassportCard and DavidShield meet the criteria to be
accounted for under the equity method. White Mountains has taken the fair value option for its investment in PassportCard and DavidShield. Changes in the fair value of PassportCard and
DavidShield are recorded in realized and unrealized investment gains. White Mountains’s maximum exposure to loss on its equity investment in PassportCard/DavidShield and the non-interest
bearing loan to its partner is limited to the total carrying value of $134.5 million.
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Note 3.  Investment Securities

White Mountains’s portfolio of investment securities held for general investment purposes consists of fixed maturity investments, short-term investments, common equity securities, its
investment in MediaAlpha and other long-term investments, which are classified as trading securities. Trading securities are reported at fair value as of the balance sheet date.  Net realized and
unrealized investment gains (losses) on trading securities are reported in pre-tax revenues.

White Mountains’s fixed maturity investments are generally valued using industry standard pricing methodologies. Key inputs include benchmark yields, benchmark securities, reported trades,
issuer spreads, bids, offers, credit ratings and prepayment speeds. Income on mortgage and asset-backed securities is recognized using an effective yield based on anticipated prepayments and the
estimated economic life of the securities. When actual prepayments differ significantly from anticipated prepayments, the estimated economic life is recalculated and the remaining unamortized
premium or discount is amortized prospectively over the remaining economic life.

Realized investment gains (losses) resulting from sales of investment securities are accounted for using the specific identification method. Premiums and discounts on all fixed maturity
investments are amortized or accreted to income over the anticipated life of the investment. Short-term investments consist of interest-bearing money market funds, certificates of deposit and other
securities, which at the time of purchase, mature or become available for use within one year.  Short-term investments are carried at fair value, which approximated amortized cost, as of March 31,
2022 and December 31, 2021.

Other long-term investments consist primarily of unconsolidated entities, including Kudu’s Participation Contracts, private equity funds and hedge funds, a bank loan fund, Lloyd’s trust deposits,
insurance-linked securities (“ILS”) funds and private debt investments.

Net Investment Income

White Mountains’s net investment income is comprised primarily of interest income associated with White Mountains’s fixed maturity investments and short-term investments, dividend income
from common equity securities, distributions from its investment in MediaAlpha and distributions from other long-term investments.

The following table presents pre-tax net investment income for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021:

Three Months Ended
March 31,

Millions 2022 2021

Fixed maturity investments $ 8.2  $ 6.5 
Short-term investments .1  1.6 
Other long-term investments 13.2  13.8 
Amount attributable to TPC Providers (.5) (.9)

Total investment income 21.0  21.0 
Third-party investment expenses (.4) (.4)

Net investment income, pre-tax $ 20.6  $ 20.6 
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Net Realized and Unrealized Investment Gains (Losses)

The following table presents net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses) for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021:

Three Months Ended March  31,
Millions 2022 2021

Realized investment gains (losses)
Fixed maturity investments $ (1.1) $ 1.9 
Short-term investments (.2) (.3)
Investment in MediaAlpha —  160.3 
Other long-term investments 18.7  (18.9)

Net realized investment gains (losses) 17.4  143.0 

Unrealized investment gains (losses)
Fixed maturity investments (79.5) (27.3)
Short-term investments .2  (1.0)
Common equity securities 1.0  1.0 
Investment in MediaAlpha 18.8  (202.0)
Other long-term investments 50.4  47.0 

Net unrealized investment gains (losses) (9.1) (182.3)
Net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses), before
   amount attributable to TPC providers 8.3  (39.3)

Amount attributable to TPC Providers 2.1  (1.3)
Net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses) $ 10.4  $ (40.6)

Fixed maturity and short-term investments
   Net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses) $ (80.6) $ (26.7)

Less: net realized and unrealized gains (losses) on investment 

          securities sold during the period (1.0) (0.9)

Net unrealized investment gains (losses) on investment 

   securities held at the end of the period $ (79.6) $ (25.8)

Common equity securities and investment in MediaAlpha
Net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses) on


   common equity securities $ 1.0  $ 1.0 

Net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses) from

   investment in MediaAlpha 18.8  (41.7)

Total net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses) 19.8  (40.7)
Less: net realized and unrealized gains (losses) on investment 


         securities sold during the period —  19.9 
Net unrealized investment gains (losses) on investment 


   securities held at the end of the period $ 19.8  $ (60.6)

 For the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, includes $2.6 and $(0.2) of realized and unrealized investment gains (losses) related to foreign currency exchange.

The following table presents total gains included in earnings attributable to net unrealized investment gains for Level 3 investments for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 for
investments still held at the end of the period:

Three Months Ended

  March 31,
Millions 2022 2021

Other long-term investments $ 27.2  $ 16.7 
Total net unrealized investment gains, pre-tax - Level 3 investments $ 27.2  $ 16.7 

(1)

(1)
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Investment Holdings

The following tables present the cost or amortized cost, gross unrealized investment gains (losses), net foreign currency gains (losses) and carrying values of White Mountains’s fixed maturity
investments as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021:

 

March 31, 2022

Millions

Cost or

Amortized


Cost

Gross

Unrealized


Gains

Gross

Unrealized


Losses

Net Foreign

Currency Gains

(Losses)
Carrying

Value

U.S. Government and agency obligations $ 181.4  $ —  $ (5.3) $ —  $ 176.1 
Debt securities issued by corporations 1,013.4  1.4  (45.4) .2  969.6 
Municipal obligations 272.2  6.0  (5.9) —  272.3 
Mortgage and asset-backed securities 278.2  .2  (14.3) —  264.1 
Collateralized loan obligations 136.5  —  (1.6) (1.5) 133.4 

Total fixed maturity investments $ 1,881.7  $ 7.6  $ (72.5) $ (1.3) $ 1,815.5 

 

December 31, 2021

Millions

Cost or

Amortized


Cost

Gross

Unrealized


Gains

Gross

Unrealized


Losses

Net Foreign

Currency


Gains (Losses)
Carrying


Value

U.S. Government and agency obligations $ 212.1  $ .5  $ (1.1) $ —  $ 211.5 
Debt securities issued by corporations 993.3  8.7  (8.7) (.4) 992.9 
Municipal obligations 276.4  16.8  (1.3) —  291.9 
Mortgage and asset-backed securities 277.2  2.9  (2.5) —  277.6 
Collateralized loan obligations 136.5  —  (.4) (1.1) 135.0 

Total fixed maturity investments $ 1,895.5  $ 28.9  $ (14.0) $ (1.5) $ 1,908.9 



The following table presents the cost or amortized cost and carrying values of White Mountains’s fixed maturity investments by contractual maturity as of March 31, 2022. Actual maturities

could differ from contractual maturities because borrowers may have the right to call or prepay certain obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties.

March 31, 2022

Millions Cost or Amortized Cost Carrying Value

Due in one year or less $ 157.7  $ 157.1 
Due after one year through five years 858.2  825.6 
Due after five years through ten years 338.4  321.2 
Due after ten years 112.7  114.1 
Mortgage and asset-backed securities and 


   collateralized loan obligations 414.7  397.5 
Total fixed maturity investments $ 1,881.7  $ 1,815.5 
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The following tables present the cost or amortized cost, gross unrealized investment gains (losses), net foreign currency gains (losses), and carrying values of common equity securities, White
Mountains’s investment in MediaAlpha and other long-term investments as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021:

 

March 31, 2022

Millions

Cost or

Amortized


Cost

Gross

Unrealized


Gains

Gross

Unrealized


Losses

Net Foreign

Currency

Gains (Losses)
Carrying


Value

Common equity securities $ 274.3  $ 20.8  $ (1.9) $ (3.1) $ 290.1 
Investment in MediaAlpha $ —  $ 280.4  $ —  $ —  $ 280.4 
Other long-term investments $ 1,187.0  $ 291.6  $ (52.8) $ 2.7  $ 1,428.5 

 

December 31, 2021

Millions

Cost or

Amortized


Cost

Gross

Unrealized


Gains

Gross

Unrealized


Losses

Net Foreign

Currency


Gains (Losses)
Carrying


Value

Common equity securities $ 236.3  $ 16.1  $ —  $ (1.3) $ 251.1 
Investment in MediaAlpha $ —  $ 261.6  $ —  $ —  $ 261.6 
Other long-term investments $ 1,186.7  $ 239.0  $ (44.1) $ (3.8) $ 1,377.8 

Fair Value Measurements

Fair value measurements are categorized into a hierarchy that distinguishes between inputs based on market data from independent sources (observable inputs) and a reporting entity’s internal
assumptions based upon the best information available when external market data is limited or unavailable (unobservable inputs). Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities have
the highest priority (Level 1), followed by observable inputs other than quoted prices, including prices for similar but not identical assets or liabilities (Level 2) and unobservable inputs, including the
reporting entity’s estimates of the assumptions that market participants would use, having the lowest priority (Level 3). See Note 19 — “Fair Value of Financial Instruments”.

As of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, White Mountains used quoted market prices or other observable inputs to determine fair value for approximately 66% and 68% of the investment
portfolio.

Fair Value Measurements by Level

The following tables present White Mountains’s fair value measurements for investments as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021 by level. The major security types were based on the legal
form of the securities. White Mountains has disaggregated its fixed maturity investments based on the issuing entity type, which impacts credit quality, with debt securities issued by U.S. government
entities carrying minimal credit risk, while the credit and other risks associated with other issuers, such as corporations, municipalities or entities issuing mortgage and asset-backed securities vary
depending on the nature of the issuing entity type. White Mountains further disaggregates debt securities issued by corporations by industry sector because investors often reference commonly used
benchmarks and their subsectors to monitor risk and performance. Accordingly, White Mountains has further disaggregated this asset class into subclasses based on the similar sectors and industry
classifications it uses to evaluate investment risk and performance against commonly used benchmarks, such as the Bloomberg Barclays U.S. Intermediate Aggregate.
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March 31, 2022
Millions Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Fixed maturity investments:
       

U.S. Government and agency obligations $ 176.1  $ 176.1  $ —  $ — 
Debt securities issued by corporations:

 

Financials 266.7  —  266.7  — 
Consumer 180.6  —  180.6  — 
Technology 109.5  —  109.5  — 
Industrial 105.4  —  105.4  — 
Healthcare 100.6  —  100.6  — 
Utilities 72.5  —  72.5  — 
Communications 63.5  —  63.5  — 
Energy 41.7  —  41.7  — 
Materials 29.1  —  29.1  — 

Total debt securities issued by corporations 969.6  —  969.6  — 
Municipal obligations 272.3  —  272.3  — 
Mortgage and asset-backed securities 264.1  —  264.1  — 
Collateralized loan obligations 133.4  —  133.4  — 

Total fixed maturity investments 1,815.5  176.1  1,639.4  — 
Short-term investments 321.5  321.5  —  — 
Common equity securities 290.1  —  290.1  — 
Investment in MediaAlpha 280.4  280.4  —  — 
Other long-term investments 894.9  —  9.2  885.7 
Other long-term investments — NAV 533.6  —  —  — 

Total other long-term investments 1,428.5  —  9.2  885.7 
Total investments $ 4,136.0  $ 778.0  $ 1,938.7  $ 885.7 

 Consist of investments in listed funds that predominantly invest in international equities.
 Consists of private equity funds and hedge funds, a bank loan fund, Lloyd’s trust deposits and ILS funds for which fair value is measured at net asset value (“NAV”) using the practical expedient. Investments for which fair value is measured at
NAV are not classified within the fair value hierarchy.

(1)

(2)

(1)

(2)
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December 31, 2021
Millions Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Fixed maturity investments:
       

U.S. Government and agency obligations $ 211.5  $ 211.5  $ —  $ — 
Debt securities issued by corporations:

       

Financials 264.2  —  264.2  — 
Consumer 178.1  —  178.1  — 
Technology 117.9  —  117.9  — 
Industrial 112.9  —  112.9  — 
Healthcare 112.8  —  112.8  — 
Utilities 70.9  —  70.9  — 
Communications 56.0  —  56.0  — 
Energy 48.0  —  48.0  — 
Materials 32.1  —  32.1  — 

Total debt securities issued by corporations 992.9  —  992.9  — 

Municipal obligations 291.9  —  291.9  — 
Mortgage and asset-backed securities 277.6  —  277.6  — 
Collateralized loan obligations 135.0  —  135.0  — 

Total fixed maturity investments 1,908.9  211.5  1,697.4  — 
Short-term investments 465.9  465.9  —  — 
Common equity securities 251.1  —  251.1  — 
Investment in MediaAlpha 261.6  261.6  —  — 
Other long-term investments 895.3  —  4.7  890.6 
Other long-term investments — NAV 482.5  —  —  — 

Total other long-term investments 1,377.8  —  4.7  890.6 
Total investments $ 4,265.3  $ 939.0  $ 1,953.2  $ 890.6 

Consist of investments in listed funds that predominantly invest in international equities.
 Consists of private equity funds and hedge funds, a bank loan fund, Lloyd’s trust deposits and ILS funds for which fair value is measured at NAV using the practical expedient. Investments for which fair value is measured at NAV are not classified
within the fair value hierarchy.

Investments Held on Deposit or as Collateral

As of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, investments of $463.7 million and $479.5 million were held in trusts required to be maintained in relation to HG Global’s reinsurance agreements
with BAM.

BAM and one of the Other Operating Businesses are required to maintain deposits with certain insurance regulatory agencies in order to maintain their insurance licenses. The fair value of such
deposits, which represent state deposits and are included within the investment portfolio, totaled $4.8 million as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021.

Lloyd’s trust deposits are required of Lloyd's syndicates to protect policyholders in non-U.K. markets and are pledged into Lloyd’s trust accounts to provide a portion of the capital needed to
support obligations at Lloyd’s. As of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, Ark held Lloyd’s trust deposits with a fair value of $113.2 million and $113.8 million

The underwriting capacity of a member of Lloyd’s must be supported by providing a deposit (“Funds at Lloyd’s”) in the form of cash, securities or letters of credit in an amount determined by
Lloyd’s. The amount of such deposit is calculated for each member through the completion of an annual capital adequacy exercise. These requirements allow Lloyd’s to evaluate that each member
has sufficient assets to meet its underwriting liabilities plus a required solvency margin. As of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, the fair value of Ark’s Funds at Lloyd’s investment deposits
totaled $305.6 million and $342.8 million.

As of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, Ark has $50.0 million of short-term investments pledged as collateral under an uncommitted standby letter of credit. See Note 7 — “Debt”.

(1)

(2)

(1) 

(2)
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Debt Securities Issued by Corporations

The following table presents the credit ratings of debt securities issued by corporations held in White Mountains’s investment portfolio as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021:

Fair Value at
Millions March 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

AAA $ 10.8  $ 12.0 
AA 84.3  85.0 
A 468.3  490.4 
BBB 398.5  396.8 
Other 7.7  8.7 

Debt securities issued by corporations $ 969.6  $ 992.9 

Credit ratings are based upon issuer credit ratings provided by Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC (“Standard & Poor’s”), or if unrated by Standard & Poor’s, long-term obligation
ratings provided by Moody’s Investor Service, Inc.

Mortgage and Asset-backed Securities and Collateralized Loan Obligations

The following table presents the fair value of White Mountains’s mortgage and asset-backed securities and collateralized loan obligations as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021:

 

March 31, 2022 December 31, 2021
Millions Fair Value Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value Level 2 Level 3

Mortgage-backed securities:
           

Agency:
           

FNMA $ 119.3  $ 119.3  $ —  $ 125.4  $ 125.4  $ — 
FHLMC 86.5  86.5  —  90.5  90.5  — 
GNMA 35.6  35.6  —  40.1  40.1  — 
Total agency 241.4  241.4  —  256.0  256.0  — 

Non-agency: Residential .5  .5  —  .5  .5  — 
Total non-agency .5  .5  —  .5  .5  — 

  Total mortgage-backed securities 241.9  241.9  —  256.5  256.5  — 
Other asset-backed securities:

   

Credit card receivables 9.8  9.8  —  12.3  12.3  — 
Vehicle receivables 12.4  12.4  —  8.8  8.8  — 
  Total other asset-backed securities 22.2  22.2  —  21.1  21.1  — 
Total mortgage and asset-backed
securities 264.1 264.1 —  277.6  277.6  — 

Collateralized loan obligations 133.4  133.4  —  135.0  135.0  — 
Total mortgage and asset-backed
securities and collateralized loan
obligations $ 397.5  $ 397.5  $ —  $ 412.6  $ 412.6  $ — 

Represents publicly traded mortgage-backed securities which carry the full faith and credit guaranty of the U.S. Government (i.e., GNMA) or are guaranteed
by a government sponsored entity (i.e., FNMA, FHLMC).

As of March 31, 2022, White Mountains’s investment portfolio included $133.4 million of collateralized loan obligations that are within the senior tranches of their respective fund
securitization structures. All of White Mountains’s collateral loan obligations were rated AAA or AA as of March 31, 2022.

Investment in MediaAlpha

Following the MediaAlpha IPO, White Mountains’s investment in MediaAlpha is accounted for at fair value based on the publicly traded share price of MediaAlpha’s common stock and is
presented as a separate line item on the balance sheet.

At the March 31, 2022 closing price of $16.55 per share, the fair value of White Mountains’s investment in MediaAlpha was $280.4 million. See Note 2 — “Significant Transactions”.

(1)

(1)    

(1)

(1)    
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Other Long-Term Investments

The following table presents the carrying values of White Mountains’s other long-term investments as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021:

Fair Value at
Millions March 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Kudu’s Participation Contracts $ 691.8  $ 669.5 
PassportCard/DavidShield 125.0  120.0 
Elementum Holdings, L.P. 45.0  45.0 
Other unconsolidated entities 5.0  34.4 

Total unconsolidated entities 866.8  868.9 
Private equity funds and hedge funds 206.3  153.8 
Bank loan fund 162.4  163.0 
Lloyd’s trust deposits 113.2  113.8 
ILS funds 51.7  51.9 
Private debt investments 11.5  14.1 
Other 16.6  12.3 

Total other long-term investments $ 1,428.5  $ 1,377.8 

Includes White Mountains’s non-controlling equity interests in certain private common equity securities, convertible preferred securities and Simple Agreement for Future Equity (“SAFE”) investments.

Private Equity Funds and Hedge Funds
White Mountains invests in private equity funds and hedge funds, which are included in other long-term investments. The fair value of these investments is generally estimated using the NAV of

the funds. As of March 31, 2022, White Mountains held investments in fifteen private equity funds and one hedge fund. The largest investment in a single private equity fund or hedge fund was $33.9
million and $31.3 million as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021.

The following table presents the fair value of investments and unfunded commitments in private equity funds and hedge funds by investment objective and sector as of March 31, 2022 and
December 31, 2021:

 

March 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Millions Fair Value
Unfunded


Commitments Fair Value
Unfunded


Commitments

Private equity funds
       

Aerospace/Defense/Government $ 112.5  $ 47.5  $ 69.8  $ 11.8 
Financial services 78.5  28.7  67.7  29.3 
Real estate 4.8  2.8  4.3  2.9 

Total private equity funds 195.8  79.0  141.8  44.0 
Hedge funds

       

European small/mid cap 10.5  —  12.0  — 
Total hedge funds 10.5  —  12.0  — 

Total private equity funds and hedge funds
   included in other long-term investments $ 206.3  $ 79.0  $ 153.8  $ 44.0 

 
Investments in private equity funds are generally subject to a lock-up period during which investors may not request a redemption. Distributions prior to the expected termination date of the fund

may be limited to dividends or proceeds arising from the liquidation of the fund’s underlying investments. In addition, certain private equity funds have the option to extend the lock-up period.

(1)

(1) 
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The following table presents investments in private equity funds that were subject to lock-up periods as of March 31, 2022:

Millions 1 – 3 years 3 – 5 years 5 – 10 years >10 years Total

Private equity funds — expected
lock-up period remaining $.1 $48.7 $137.0 $10.0 $195.8

Investors in private equity funds are generally subject to indemnification obligations outside of the capital commitment period and prior to the winding up of the fund. As of March 31, 2022 and
December 31, 2021, White Mountains is not aware of any indemnification claims relating to its investments in private equity funds. 

Redemption of investments in most hedge funds is subject to restrictions, including lock-up periods where no redemptions or withdrawals are allowed, restrictions on redemption frequency and
advance notice periods for redemptions. Amounts requested for redemptions remain subject to market fluctuations until the redemption effective date, which generally falls at the end of the defined
redemption period. White Mountains’s hedge fund investment is subject to a perpetual two-year restriction on redemption frequency from the initial investment in the fund and a 90 days advanced
notice period requirement.

Bank Loan Fund
White Mountains’s other long-term investments include a bank loan fund with a fair value of $162.4 million as of March 31, 2022. The fair value of this investment is estimated using the NAV of

the fund. The bank loan fund’s investment objective is to provide, on an unleveraged basis, high current income consistent with preservation of capital and low duration. The bank loan fund primarily
invests in a broad portfolio of U.S. dollar-denominated, non-investment grade, floating-rate senior secured loans and may invest in other financial instruments, such as secured and unsecured
corporate debt, credit default swaps, reverse repurchase agreements, synthetic indices and cash and cash equivalents.

The investment in the bank loan fund is subject to restrictions on redemption frequency and advance notice periods for redemptions. Amounts requested for redemptions remain subject to market
fluctuations until the redemption effective date, which generally falls at the end of the defined redemption period. White Mountains may redeem all or a portion of its bank loan fund investment as of
any calendar month-end upon 15 calendar days advanced written notice.

Lloyd’s Trust Deposits
White Mountains’s other long-term investments include Lloyd’s trust deposits, which consist of non-U.K. deposits and Canadian comingled pooled funds. The Lloyd’s trust deposits invest

primarily in short-term government securities, agency securities and corporate bonds held in trusts that are managed by Lloyd's of London. These investments are required of Lloyd's syndicates to
protect policyholders in non-U.K. markets and are pledged into Lloyd’s trust accounts to provide a portion of the capital needed to support obligations at Lloyd’s. The fair value of the Lloyd’s trust
deposits is generally estimated using the NAV of the funds. As of March 31, 2022, White Mountains held Lloyd’s trust deposits with a fair value of $113.2 million.

Insurance-Linked Securities Funds
White Mountains’s other long-term investments include ILS fund investments. The fair value of these investments is generally estimated using the NAV of the funds. As of March 31, 2022,

White Mountains held investments in ILS funds with a fair value of $51.7 million.
Investments in ILS funds are generally subject to restrictions, including lock-up periods where no redemptions or withdrawals are allowed, non-renewal clauses, restrictions on redemption

frequency and advance notice periods for redemptions. From time to time, natural catastrophe, liquidity, market or other events will occur that make the determination of fair value for underlying
investments in ILS funds less certain due to the potential for loss development. In such circumstances, the impacted investments may be subject to additional lock-up provisions.
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ILS funds are typically subject to monthly and annual restrictions on redemptions and advance redemption notice period requirements that range between 30 and 90 days. Amounts requested for
redemption remain subject to market fluctuations until the redemption effective date, which generally falls at the end of the defined redemption period.

One of the ILS funds in White Mountains’s portfolio requires shareholders to provide advance redemption notice on or before September 15 of each calendar year. Amounts requested for
redemption in this fund remain subject to market fluctuation until the underlying investment has fully matured or been commuted, which may be up to a period of three years from the start of each
calendar year.

Rollforward of Level 3 Investments

Level 3 measurements as of March 31, 2022 and 2021 consist of securities for which the estimated fair value has not been determined based upon quoted market price inputs for identical or
similar securities. The following table presents the changes in White Mountains’s fair value measurements for Level 3 investments for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021:

Level 3 Investments

Millions
Other Long-term


Investments
Other Long-term

Investments

Balance at December 31, 2021 $ 890.6  Balance at December 31, 2020 $ 614.2 
Net realized and unrealized gains 26.8  Net realized and unrealized gains 16.7 
Amortization/accretion —  Amortization/accretion — 
Purchases —  Purchases 17.5 
Sales (31.7) Sales (1.6)
Effect of Ark Transaction —  Effect of Ark Transaction 9.6 
Transfers in —  Transfers in — 
Transfers out —  Transfers out — 
Balance at March 31, 2022 $ 885.7  Balance at March 31, 2021 $ 656.4 



Fair Value Measurements — Transfers Between Levels - Three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021

Transfers between levels are recorded using the fair value measurement as of the end of the quarterly period in which the event or change in circumstance giving rise to the transfer occurred.
During the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, there were no fixed maturity investments or other long-term investments classified as Level 3 measurements in the prior period that

were transferred to Level 2 measurements.
During the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, there were no fixed maturity investments or other long-term investments classified as Level 2 measurements in the prior period that

were transferred to Level 3 measurements.
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Significant Unobservable Inputs

The following tables present significant unobservable inputs used in estimating the fair value of White Mountains’s other long-term investments, classified within Level 3 as of March 31, 2022
and December 31, 2021. The tables below exclude $14.4 million and $46.7 million of Level 3 other long-term investments generally valued based on recent or expected transaction prices. The fair
value of investments in private equity funds and hedge funds, bank loan funds, Lloyd’s trust deposits and ILS funds are generally estimated using the NAV of the funds.



$ in Millions March 31, 2022

Description Valuation Technique(s) Fair Value Unobservable Inputs

Discount Rate 

Terminal Cash Flow Exit
Multiple (x) or Terminal

Revenue Growth Rate (%) 
Kudu’s Participation Contracts Discounted cash flow $691.8 18% - 23% 7x - 13x

PassportCard/DavidShield Discounted cash flow $125.0 23% 4%

Elementum Holdings, L.P. Discounted cash flow $45.0 17% 4%

Private debt investments Discounted cash flow $9.5 9% N/A

 Key inputs to the discounted cash flow analysis generally include projections of future revenue and earnings, discount rates and terminal exit multiples or growth rates.
 Includes the net unrealized investment gains (losses) associated with foreign currency; foreign currency effects based on observable inputs.
 Since Kudu’s Participation Contracts are not subject to corporate taxes within Kudu Investment Management, LLC, pre-tax discount rates are applied to pre-tax cash flows in determining fair values. The weighted average discount rate and
weighted average terminal cash flow exit multiple applied to Kudu’s Participation Contracts is 20% and 10x.

 As of March 31, 2022, one of Kudu’s Participation Contracts with a total fair value of $81.9 was valued using a probability weighted expected return method, which was based on a discounted cash flow analysis and an expected sale transaction.
 Increases (decreases) to the discount rates in isolation would result in lower (higher) fair value measurements, while increases (decreases) to the terminal cash flow exit multiples or terminal revenue growth rates in isolation would result in higher
(lower) fair value measurements.

$ in Millions December 31, 2021
Description Valuation Technique(s) Fair Value Unobservable Inputs

Discount Rate 

Terminal Cash Flow Exit
Multiple (x) or Terminal

Revenue Growth Rate (%) 
Kudu’s Participation Contracts Discounted cash flow $669.5 18% - 23% 7x - 13x

PassportCard/DavidShield Discounted cash flow $120.0 23% 4%

Elementum Holdings, L.P. Discounted cash flow $45.0 17% 4%

Private debt investments Discounted cash flow $9.4 8% N/A

 Key inputs to the discounted cash flow analysis generally include projections of future revenue and earnings, discount rates and terminal exit multiples or growth rates.
 Includes the net unrealized investment gains (losses) associated with foreign currency; foreign currency effects based on observable inputs.
 Since Kudu’s Participation Contracts are not subject to corporate taxes within Kudu Investment Management, LLC, pre-tax discount rates are applied to pre-tax cash flows in determining fair values. The weighted average discount rate and
weighted average terminal cash flow exit multiple applied to Kudu’s Participation Contracts is 20% and 10x.
In 2021, Kudu deployed a total of $223.4 in new and existing Kudu Participation Contracts, including TIG Advisors, TK Partners, Third Eye Capital Management, Douglass Winthrop Advisors, Granahan Investment Management and Radcliffe
Capital Management.

 As of December 31, 2021, one of Kudu’s Participation Contracts with a total fair value of $78.8 was valued using a probability weighted expected return method, which was based on a discounted cash flow analysis and an expected sale
transaction.

 Increases (decreases) to the discount rates in isolation would result in lower (higher) fair value measurements, while increases (decreases) to the terminal cash flow exit multiples or terminal revenue growth rates in isolation would result in higher
(lower) fair value measurements.

(1) (2)

(5) (5)

(3)(4)

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(1) (2)

(6) (6)

(3)(4)(5)

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4) 

(5)

(6)

23



Note 4. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

    White Mountains accounts for purchases of businesses using the acquisition method. Under the acquisition method, White Mountains recognizes and measures the assets acquired, liabilities
assumed and any non-controlling interest in the acquired entities at their acquisition date fair values. The estimated acquisition date fair values, generally consisting of intangible assets and liabilities
for contingent consideration, may be recorded at provisional amounts in circumstances where the information necessary to complete the acquisition accounting is not available at the reporting date.
Any such provisional amounts are finalized as measurement period adjustments within one year of the acquisition date.

The following table presents the economic lives, acquisition date fair values, accumulated amortization and net carrying values for other intangible assets and goodwill, by reportable segment as
of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021:

$ in Millions

Weighted
Average

Economic

 Life 


(in years)

March 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Acquisition Date
Fair Value

Accumulated
Amortization

Impairments and
Amounts Allocated to

Held for Sale
Net Carrying

Value
Acquisition Date

Fair Value
Accumulated
Amortization

Impairments and
Amounts Allocated to

Held for Sale
Net Carrying

Value
Goodwill:
Ark N/A $ 116.8  $ —  $ —  $ 116.8  $ 116.8  $ —  $ —  $ 116.8 
NSM N/A 529.3  —  30.2  499.1  533.4  —  30.2  503.2 
Kudu N/A 7.6  —  —  7.6  7.6  —  —  7.6 
Other Operations N/A 17.9  —  —  17.9  17.9  —  —  17.9 

Total goodwill 671.6  —  30.2  641.4  675.7  —  30.2  645.5 

Other intangible assets:
Ark
Underwriting


   Capacity N/A 175.7  —  —  175.7  175.7  —  —  175.7 

NSM 
Customer 


   relationships 9.2 159.4  62.3  3.5  93.6  159.9  57.0  3.5  99.4 
   Trade names 18 68.5  12.9  1.0  54.6  68.6  11.9  1.0  55.7 
   Information


      technology 

      platform 0 3.1  1.4  1.7  —  3.1  1.4  1.7  — 

Renewal 
   rights 12 82.5  18.3  —  64.2  82.5  15.8  —  66.7 
Other 3.3 1.2  .7  —  .5  1.1  .7  —  .4 

      Subtotal 314.7  95.6  6.2  212.9  315.2  86.8  6.2  222.2 

Kudu
   Trade names 7 2.2  .9  —  1.3  2.2  .9  —  1.3 

Other Operations
   Trade names 17.5 8.2  1.7  —  6.5  8.2  1.5  —  6.7 

Customer 

   relationships 13.0 18.8  5.2  —  13.6  18.8  4.5  —  14.3 

Other 5.3 .3  .2  —  .1  .3  .1  —  .2 
       Subtotal 27.3  7.1  —  20.2  27.3  6.1  —  21.2 
Total other intangible assets 519.9  103.6  6.2  410.1  520.4  93.8  6.2  420.4 
Total goodwill and other
   intangible assets $ 1,191.5  $ 103.6  $ 36.4  1,051.5  $ 1,196.1  $ 93.8  $ 36.4  1,065.9 
Goodwill and other intangible assets attributed to non-controlling interests (117.1) (117.6)
Goodwill and other intangible assets included in White Mountains’s 


   common shareholders’ equity $ 934.4  $ 948.3 

During the three months ended March 31, 2022, NSM’s goodwill included $(4.1) of the effect of foreign currency translation. During the three months ended March 31, 2022, NSM’s intangible assets included $(0.5) and 0.3 of the effect of foreign
currency translation on the acquisition date fair value and accumulated amortization.

(1)

(1)

(1) 
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Intangible Assets Valuation Methods

The goodwill recognized for the entities shown above is attributed to expected future cash flows. The acquisition date fair values of other intangible assets with finite lives are estimated using
income approach techniques, which use future expected cash flows to develop a discounted present value amount.

The multi-period-excess-earnings method estimates fair value using the present value of the incremental after-tax cash flows attributable solely to the other intangible asset over its remaining life.
This approach was used to estimate the fair value of other intangible assets associated with the underwriting capacity, trade names, customer relationships and contracts and information technology.

The relief-from-royalty method was used to estimate fair value for other intangible assets that relate to rights that could be obtained via a license from a third-party owner. Under this method, the
fair value is estimated using the present value of license fees avoided by owning rather than leasing the asset. This technique was used to estimate the fair value of domain names, certain trademarks
and brand names.

The with-or-without method estimates the fair value of other intangible assets that provide an incremental benefit. Under this method, the fair value of the other intangible asset is calculated by
comparing the value of the entity with and without the other intangible asset. This approach was used to estimate the fair value of favorable lease terms.

On at least an annual basis beginning no later than the interim period included in the one-year anniversary of an acquisition, White Mountains evaluates goodwill and other intangible assets for
potential impairment. Between annual evaluations, White Mountains considers changes in circumstances or events subsequent to the most recent evaluation that may indicate that an impairment may
exist and, if necessary will perform an interim review for potential impairment.

The following table presents a summary of the acquisition date fair values of goodwill and other intangible assets for acquisitions completed from January 1, 2021 through March 31, 2022:

$ in Millions

Acquisition of subsidiary/ asset
Goodwill and

Other intangible asset Acquisition Date

Ark $ 292.5  January 1, 2021
J.C. Taylor $ 55.7  August 6, 2021
Other Operations $ 15.9  April 27, 2021

 Acquisition date fair values include the effect of adjustments during the measurement period and excludes the effect of foreign currency translation subsequent to the acquisition date.

The following table present the change in goodwill and other intangible assets for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021:

Three Months Ended March 31,
2022 2021

Millions Goodwill
Other Intangible

Assets

Total Goodwill and
Other Intangible

Assets Goodwill
Other Intangible

Assets

Total Goodwill and
Other Intangible

Assets

Beginning balance $ 645.5  $ 420.4  $ 1,065.9  $ 525.5  $ 256.9  $ 782.4 
Ark Transaction —  —  —  116.8  175.7  292.5 
Measurement period adjustments —  —  —  (.2) —  (.2)
Amortization —  (10.1) (10.1) —  (9.2) (9.2)
Loss on assets held for sale —  —  —  (30.2) —  (30.2)
Foreign currency translation (4.1) (.2) (4.3) 1.5  .2  1.7 

Ending balance $ 641.4  $ 410.1  $ 1,051.5  $ 613.4  $ 423.6  $ 1,037.0 

 Measurement period adjustments relate to updated information about acquisition date fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed. During the three months ended March 31, 2021, adjustments primarily relate to goodwill of $0.2 in
connection with the acquisition in the Other Operations segment.

 Relates to the sale of Fresh Insurance’s motor business recorded in the first quarter of 2021. This amount excludes $1.5 of net proceeds related to the sale.

On April 12, 2021, NSM sold Fresh Insurance’s motor business. In connection with the sale, White Mountains recognized a loss of $28.7 million during the three months ended March 31,
2021. See Note 19 — “Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations”. There were no impairments of goodwill and other intangible assets for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021.

(1)

(1)

(1)

(2)

(1)

(2)
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Note 5.  Loss and Loss Adjustment Expense Reserves

The following table summarizes the loss and LAE reserve activity of Ark’s insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021:

Three Months Ended March 31,

Millions 2022 2021
Gross beginning balance $ 894.7  $ 696.0 
Less: beginning reinsurance recoverable on unpaid losses (428.9) (433.4)

Net loss and loss adjustment expense reserves 465.8  262.6 
Loss and loss adjustment expenses incurred relating to:

Current year losses 125.7  65.5 
Prior year losses (3.7) .5 

Net incurred losses and loss adjustment expenses 122.0  66.0 
Loss and loss adjustment expenses paid relating to:

Current year losses (0.6) (5.2)
Prior year losses (39.4) (19.7)

Net loss and loss adjustment expenses (40.0) (24.9)
Change in TPC Providers’ participation 57.5  (2.2)
Foreign currency translation and other adjustments
to loss and loss adjustment expense reserves (1.7) 2.9 
Net ending balance 603.6  304.4 

Plus: ending reinsurance recoverable on unpaid losses 396.0  447.5 
Gross ending balance $ 999.6  $ 751.9 

 The beginning reinsurance recoverable on unpaid losses includes amounts attributable to TPC Providers of $276.8 and $319.2.
 The ending reinsurance recoverable on unpaid losses includes amounts attributable to TPC Providers of $207.3 and $331.0.

For the three months ended March 31, 2022, Ark experienced $3.7 million of net favorable prior year loss reserve development. Ark’s net favorable prior year loss reserve development was
driven primarily by the property lines of business.

TPC Providers’ Participation

For the years of account prior to the Ark Transaction, a significant proportion of the Syndicates’ underwriting capital was provided by TPC Providers using whole account reinsurance contracts
with Ark’s corporate member. The TPC Providers’ participation in the Syndicates for the 2020 open year of account is 42.8% of the total net result of the Syndicates. For the years of account
subsequent to the Ark Transaction, Ark is no longer using TPC Providers to provide underwriting capital for the Syndicates.

A Reinsurance to Close (“RITC”) agreement is generally put in place after the third year of operations for a year of account such that the outstanding loss and LAE reserves, including future
development thereon, are reinsured into the next year of account. As a result, and in combination with the changing participation provided by TPC Providers, Ark’s participation on outstanding loss
and LAE reserves reinsured into the next year of account may change, perhaps significantly. During the first quarter of 2022, an RITC was executed such that the outstanding loss and LAE reserves
for claims arising out of the 2019 year of account, for which the TPC Providers’ participation in the total net results of the Syndicates was 58.3%, were reinsured into the 2020 year of account, for
which the TPC Providers’ participation in the total net results of the Syndicates is 42.8%. During the first quarter of 2021, an RITC was executed such that the outstanding loss and LAE reserves for
claims arising out of the 2018 year of account, for which the TPC Providers’ participation in the total net results of the Syndicates was 57.6%, were reinsured into the 2019 year of account, for which
the TPC Providers’ participation in the total net results of the Syndicates was 58.3%.

Municipal Bond Guarantee Insurance

HG Re and BAM do not have any outstanding loss and LAE reserves related to BAM’s municipal bond guarantee insurance business.

(1)

(2)

(1)

(2)
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Note 6.  Third-Party Reinsurance

In the normal course of business, Ark may seek to limit losses that may arise from catastrophes or other events by reinsuring certain risks with third-party reinsurers. Ark remains liable for risks
reinsured in the event that the reinsurer does not honor its obligations under reinsurance contracts. The following table summarizes the effects of reinsurance on written and earned premiums and on
losses and LAE for Ark.

Three Months Ended March 31,
Millions 2022 2021

Written premiums:
Gross $ 633.1  $ 404.5 
Ceded (89.3) (62.1)
Net written premiums $ 543.8  $ 342.4 

Earned premiums:
Gross $ 245.3  $ 162.6 
Ceded (50.9) (58.0)
Net earned premiums $ 194.4  $ 104.6 

Losses and loss adjustment expenses:
Gross $ 183.1  $ 115.6 
Ceded (61.1) (49.6)
Net losses and loss adjustment expenses $ 122.0  $ 66.0 



As of March 31, 2022, Ark had $396.0 million and $16.7 million of reinsurance recoverables on unpaid and paid losses. As reinsurance contracts do not relieve Ark of its obligation to its

policyholders, Ark seeks to reduce the credit risk associated with reinsurance balances by avoiding over-reliance on specific reinsurers through the application of concentration limits and thresholds.
Ark is selective with its reinsurers, placing reinsurance with only those reinsurers having a strong financial condition. Ark monitors the financial strength of its reinsurers on an ongoing basis.

As of March 31, 2022, Ark’s reinsurance recoverables of $412.7 million included $207.3 million attributable to TPC Providers, which are collateralized. The following table provides a listing of
Ark’s remaining gross and net reinsurance recoverables, excluding amounts attributable to TPC Providers, by the reinsurer’s A.M. Best Company, Inc (“A.M. Best”) rating and the percentage of total
recoverables.

$ in Millions As of March 31, 2022
A.M. Best Rating Gross Collateral Net % of Total

A+ or better $ 135.5  $ 15.1  $ 120.4  74.3  %
A- to A 54.6 14.1 40.5 25.0 
B++ or lower and not rated 15.3 14.2 1.1 0.7 
Total $ 205.4  $ 43.4  $ 162.0  100.0 %

A.M. Best ratings as detailed above are: “A+ or better” (Superior) “A- to A” (Excellent), “B++” (Good).

See Note 10 — “Municipal Bond Guarantee Insurance” for third-party reinsurance balances related to White Mountains’s financial guarantee business.

Reinsurance Contracts Accounted for as Deposits

Ark has an aggregate excess of loss contract with SiriusPoint Ltd. (“SiriusPoint”), which is accounted for using the deposit method and recorded within other assets. Ark earns an annual crediting
rate of 3.0%, which is recorded within other revenue. During the fourth quarter of 2021, Ark negotiated a reduction of $31.7 million, including accrued interest, to the aggregate excess of loss
contract with SiriusPoint. As of March 31, 2022, the carrying value of Ark’s deposit in SiriusPoint, including accrued interest, was $20.6 million.

See Note 10 — “Municipal Bond Guarantee Insurance” for reinsurance contracts accounted for as deposits related to White Mountains’s financial guarantee business.

(1)

(1) 
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Note 7.  Debt
 

The following table presents White Mountains’s debt outstanding as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021:

$ in Millions
March 31,


2022
Effective 


  Rate
December 31,


2021
Effective 


  Rate

Ark 2007 Subordinated Notes, carrying value $ 30.0  $ 30.0 
Ark 2021 Notes Tranche 1 42.9  44.2 
Ark 2021 Notes Tranche 2 47.0  47.0 
Ark 2021 Notes Tranche 3 70.0  70.0 

Unamortized issuance cost (5.1) (5.3)
Ark 2021 Subordinated Notes, carrying value 154.8  155.9 
    Total Ark Subordinated Notes, carrying value 184.8  6.6% 185.9  6.9%

NSM Bank Facility 275.9  7.0% 277.6  7.3%
Unamortized issuance cost (5.9) (6.4)
NSM Bank Facility, carrying value 270.0  271.2 

Other NSM debt .6  5.8% .9  2.9%
Kudu Credit Facility 225.4  5.0% 225.4  4.3%

Unamortized issuance cost (7.2) (7.2)
Kudu Credit Facility, carrying value 218.2  218.2 

Other Operations debt 17.8  7.3% 17.1  7.5%
Unamortized issuance cost (.5) (.3)
Other Operations debt, carrying value 17.3  16.8 

Total debt $ 690.9  $ 693.0 

Effective rate includes the effect of the amortization of debt issuance costs.
 NSM’s effective rate excludes the effect of the interest rate swap and the interest rate cap on the debt. See Note 9 — “Derivatives”. The weighted average interest rate for the quarter ended March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, excluding the
effect of amortization of debt issuance costs, was 6.1% and 6.5%. The weighted average interest rate for the quarter ended March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021 on the total NSM Bank Facility including both the effect of the amortization of
debt issuance costs and the effect of the interest rate swap and the interest rate cap was 2.9% and 8.2%.

Ark Subordinated Notes

In March 2007, GAIL issued $30.0 million face value of floating rate unsecured junior subordinated deferrable interest notes to Alesco Preferred Funding XII Ltd., Alesco Preferred Funding XIII
Ltd. and Alesco Preferred Funding XIV Ltd (the “Ark 2007 Subordinated Notes”). The Ark 2007 Subordinated Notes, which mature in June 2037, accrue interest at a floating rate equal to the three-
month U.S. LIBOR plus 4.6%. As of March 31, 2022, the Ark 2007 Subordinated Notes had an outstanding balance of $30.0 million.

In the third quarter of 2021, GAIL issued $163.3 million face value floating rate subordinated notes at par in three separate transactions for proceeds of $157.8 million, net of debt issuance costs.
The unsecured subordinated notes (the “Ark 2021 Subordinated Notes”) were issued in private placement offerings that were exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933.
On July 13, 2021, Ark issued €39.1 million ($46.3 million based upon the foreign exchange spot rate as of the date of the transaction) face value floating rate unsecured subordinated notes (“Ark
2021 Notes Tranche 1”). The Ark 2021 Notes Tranche 1, which mature in July 2041, accrue interest at a floating rate equal to the three-month EURIBOR plus 5.75%. On August 11, 2021, Ark issued
$47.0 million face value floating rate unsecured subordinated notes (“Ark 2021 Notes Tranche 2”). The Ark 2021 Notes Tranche 2, which mature in August 2041, accrue interest at a floating rate
equal to the three-month U.S. LIBOR plus 5.75%. On September 8, 2021, Ark issued $70.0 million face value floating rate unsecured subordinated notes (“Ark 2021 Notes Tranche 3”). The Ark
2021 Notes Tranche 3, which mature in September 2041, accrue interest at a floating rate equal to the three-month U.S. LIBOR plus 6.1%. On the ten-year anniversary of the issue dates, the interest
rate for the Ark 2021 Subordinated Notes will increase by 1.0% per annum. Ark has the option to redeem, in whole or in part, the Ark 2021 Subordinated Notes ahead of contractual maturity at the
outstanding principal amounts plus accrued interest at the ten-year anniversary or any subsequent interest payment date.

 (1)  (1)

(2) (2)

 (1) 

(2)
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All payments of principal and interest under the Ark 2021 Subordinated Notes are conditional upon GAIL’s solvency and compliance with the enhanced capital requirements of the Bermuda
Monetary Authority (“BMA”). The deferral of payments of principal and interest under these conditions does not constitute a default by Ark and does not give the noteholders any rights to accelerate
repayment of the Ark 2021 Subordinated Notes or take any enforcement action under the Ark 2021 Subordinated Notes.

If the payments of principal and interest under the Ark 2021 Subordinated Notes become subject to tax withholding on behalf of Bermuda or any political subdivision there, the Ark 2021
Subordinated Notes require the payment of additional amounts such that the amount received by the noteholders is the same as would have been received absent the tax withholding being imposed.
The Ark 2021 Notes Tranche 3 require the payment of additional interest of 1.0% per annum upon the occurrence of a Premium Load Event until such event is remedied. Premium Load Events
include the failure to meet payment obligations of the Ark 2021 Notes Tranche 3 when due, failure of GAIL to maintain an investment grade credit rating, failure to maintain 120% of GAIL’s
Bermuda solvency capital requirement, failure of GAIL to maintain a debt to capital ratio below 40%, late filing of GAIL’s or Ark’s financial information, and making a restricted payment or
distribution on GAIL’s common stock or other securities that rank junior or pari passu with the Ark 2021 Notes Tranche 3 when a different Premium Load Event exists or will be caused by the
restricted payment.

As of March 31, 2022, the Ark 2021 Notes Tranche 1 had an outstanding balance of €39.1 million ($42.9 million based upon the foreign exchange spot rate as of March 31, 2022), the Ark 2021
Notes Tranche 2 had an outstanding balance of $47.0 million, and the Ark 2021 Notes Tranche 3 had an outstanding balance of $70.0 million.

The Ark Subordinated Notes contain various affirmative and negative covenants that White Mountains considers to be customary for such borrowings.

Ark Standby Letter of Credit Facilities

In December 2021, Ark entered into two uncommitted secured standby letter of credit facility agreements to support the continued growth and expansion of its GAIL insurance and reinsurance
operations. The standby letter of credit facility agreements were executed with ING Bank N.V., London Branch (the “ING LOC Facility”) with capacity of $50.0 million on an uncollateralized basis
and with Citibank Europe Plc (the “Citibank LOC Facility”) with capacity of $100.0 million on a collateralized basis. As of March 31, 2022, the ING LOC Facility was undrawn. As of March 31,
2022, the Citibank LOC Facility had an outstanding balance of $36.2 million. As of March 31, 2022, $50.0 million of short-term investments were pledged as collateral under the Citibank LOC
Facility. Ark’s uncommitted secured standby letter of credit facility agreements contain various representations, warranties and covenants that White Mountains considers to be customary for such
borrowings.

NSM Bank Facility

NSM maintains a secured credit facility (the “NSM Bank Facility”) with Ares Capital Corporation. On June 2, 2021, NSM amended the NSM Bank Facility to reduce the margin over the
reference interest rate for USD LIBOR loans from a range of 5.50% to 6.00% to a range of 4.50% to 5.00% and reduce the margin over the reference rate for GBP loans from a range of 6.00% to
6.50% to a range of 5.00% to 5.50%. The amendment also increased the revolving credit loan commitment to $40.0 million and added a $50.0 million delayed-draw term loan commitment. The
amendment also changed the reference interest rate for the GBP loan from GBP-LIBOR to SONIA. The maturity dates of the term loans and the revolving credit loans were not changed as part of the
amendment. The term loans under the NSM Bank Facility mature on May 11, 2026, and the revolving loan matures on November 11, 2025. The reference interest rates under the NSM Bank Facility
are generally subject to a 1.25% rate floor.

Under GAAP, if the terms of a debt instrument are amended, unless there is greater than 10% change in the expected discounted future cash flows of such instrument, the instrument’s carrying
value does not change. White Mountains has determined that the impact of the 2021 amendment to the NSM Bank Facility was less than 10% on the expected discounted future cash flows.
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The following table presents the change in debt under the NSM Bank Facility for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021:

Millions Three Months Ended March 31,
NSM Bank Facility 2022 2021

Beginning balance $ 277.6  $ 277.4 
Term loans

Borrowings —  — 
Repayments (.7) (.7)
Foreign currency translation (1.5) .6 

Revolving credit loan
Borrowings 13.0  — 
Repayments (12.5) — 

Ending balance $ 275.9  $ 277.3 

As of March 31, 2022, the term loans had an outstanding balance of $271.9 million, including £41.8 million ($55.1 million based upon the foreign exchange spot rate as of March 31, 2022) in a
GBP term loan, and the revolving credit loan had an outstanding balance of $4.0 million.

On June 15, 2018, NSM entered into an interest rate swap agreement to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk on $151.0 million of its USD denominated variable rate term loans. As of March
31, 2022, the swap no longer qualified for hedge accounting. As a result, the previously hedged term loans are classified as unhedged term loans. During the three months ended March 31, 2022,
NSM recognized interest income of $2.4 million from the effect of the interest rate swap.

The following table presents the NSM weighted average interest rate for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021:

$ in Millions Three Months Ended March 31,
2022 2021

NSM Weighted Average Interest Rate Weighted Average Interest Expense Weighted Average Interest
rate Weighted Average Interest Expense Weighted Average Interest

rate

Term loan - hedged $ —  $ —  — % $ 147.6  $ 3.4  9.2 %
Term loan - unhedged 273.5 2.0 2.9 % 129.8 2.5 7.7 %

Total NSM Bank Facility $ 273.5  $ 2.0  2.9 % $ 277.4  $ 5.9  8.5 %

For the three months ended March 31, 2022, interest expense includes the amortization of debt issuance costs of $0.5 and the effect of the interest rate swap and interest rate cap of $(2.7). For the three months ended March 31, 2022, interest
expense excludes $0.1 related to the revolving credit loan.

 For the three months ended March 31, 2021, interest expense includes the amortization of debt issuance costs of $0.3 and the effect of the interest rate swap and interest rate cap of $0.6.

The NSM Bank Facility is secured by all property of the loan parties and contains various affirmative, negative and financial covenants that White Mountains considers to be customary for such
borrowings, including a maximum consolidated total leverage ratio covenant.

(1) (2)

(1) 

(2)
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Other NSM Debt

NSM also has a secured term loan related to its U.K. vertical. As of March 31, 2022, the secured term loan had an outstanding balance of $0.6 million and a maturity date of December 31, 2022.

Kudu Credit Facility and Kudu Bank Facility

On December 23, 2019, Kudu entered into a secured credit facility with Monroe Capital Management Advisors, LLC (the “Kudu Bank Facility”). On March 23, 2021, Kudu replaced the Kudu
Bank Facility and entered into a secured revolving credit facility (the “Kudu Credit Facility”) with Massachusetts Mutual Life Insurance Company to repay the Kudu Bank Facility, and to fund new
investments and related transaction expenses. The maximum borrowing capacity of the Kudu Credit Facility is $300.0 million. The Kudu Credit Facility matures on March 23, 2036. In connection
with the replacement of the Kudu Bank Facility, Kudu recognized a total loss of $4.1 million, representing debt issuance costs and prepayment fees, which are included within interest expense for the
three months ended March 31, 2021.

The Kudu Credit Facility requires Kudu to maintain an interest reserve account, which is included in restricted cash. As of March 31, 2022, the interest reserve account is $4.5 million. The Kudu
Credit Facility requires Kudu to maintain a ratio of the outstanding balance to the sum of the fair market value of the participation contracts and cash held in certain accounts (the “LTV Percentage”)
of less than 50% in years 0-3, 40% in years 4-6, 25% in years 7-8, 15% in years 9-10, and 0% thereafter. As of March 31, 2022, Kudu has a 33% LTV Percentage.

Kudu may borrow undrawn balances within the initial three-year availability period, subject to customary terms and conditions, to the extent the amount borrowed under the Kudu Credit Facility
does not exceed the borrowing base, which is equal to 35% of the fair value of qualifying Kudu Participation Contracts. When considering White Mountains’s remaining equity commitment to Kudu
and the fair value of Kudu’s qualifying participation contracts as of March 31, 2022, the available undrawn balance was $34.2 million.

The following table presents the change in debt under the Kudu Bank Facility and Kudu Credit Facility for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021:

Three Months Ended March 31,
Millions 2022 2021

Kudu Bank Facility
Beginning balance $ —  $ 89.2 
Term loans

Borrowings —  3.0 
Repayments —  (92.2)

Ending balance $ —  $ — 
Kudu Credit Facility
Beginning balance $ 225.4  $ — 
Term loans

Borrowings —  102.0 
Repayments —  — 

Ending balance $ 225.4  $ 102.0 

The Kudu Credit Facility is secured by all property of the loan parties and contains various affirmative and negative covenants that White Mountains considers to be customary for such
borrowings.
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Other Operations Debt

As of March 31, 2022, debt in White Mountains’s Other Operations segment consisted of three secured credit facilities (collectively, “Other Operations debt”).
The first credit facility has a maximum borrowing capacity of $16.3 million, which is comprised of a term loan of $11.3 million, a delayed-draw term loan of $3.0 million and a revolving credit

loan commitment of $2.0 million, all with a maturity date of March 12, 2024. The second credit facility has a maximum borrowing capacity of $15.0 million, which is comprised of a term loan of
$9.0 million, a delayed-draw term loan of $4.0 million and a revolving credit loan commitment of $2.0 million, all with a maturity date of July 2, 2025. The third credit facility has a maximum
borrowing capacity of $8.0 million, which is comprised of a revolving credit loan commitment, with a maturity date of October 26, 2021.

During the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, White Mountains’s Other Operations segment borrowed $2.0 million and $0.9 million. During the three months ended March 31, 2022
and 2021, White Mountains’s Other Operations segment made repayments of $1.3 million and $0.2 million. As of March 31, 2022 and 2021, the Other Operations debt had an outstanding balance of
$17.8 million and $17.5 million.

Compliance

At March 31, 2022, White Mountains was in compliance in all material respects with the covenants under all of its debt instruments.

Note 8.  Income Taxes
 

The Company and its Bermuda domiciled subsidiaries are not subject to Bermuda income tax under current Bermuda law. In the event there is a change in the current law such that taxes are
imposed, the Bermuda Exempted Undertakings Tax Protection Act of 1966 states that the Company and its Bermuda domiciled subsidiaries would be exempt from such tax until March 31, 2035. The
Company has subsidiaries and branches that operate in various other jurisdictions around the world and are subject to tax in the jurisdictions in which they operate.  As of March 31, 2022, the primary
jurisdictions in which the Company’s subsidiaries and branches were subject to tax were Ireland, Israel, Luxembourg, the United Kingdom and the United States.

White Mountains’s income tax benefit related to pre-tax loss from continuing operations for the three months ended March 31, 2022 represented an effective tax rate of 31.1%. The effective tax
rate was different from the U.S. statutory rate of 21.0%, due to income in jurisdictions with lower tax rates than the United States and a decline in the full valuation allowance on net deferred tax
assets in certain U.S. operations, consisting of the WM Adams, Inc. consolidated tax group within the Other Operations segment, offset by an increase in the full valuation allowance at BAM and
state income taxes.

White Mountains’s income tax benefit related to pre-tax loss from continuing operations for the three months ended March 31, 2021 represented an effective tax rate of 6.9%. The effective tax
rate was different from the U.S. statutory rate of 21.0% due to income generated in jurisdictions with lower tax rates than the United States.

In arriving at the effective tax rate for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, White Mountains forecasted all income and expense items including the change in unrealized investment
gains (losses) and realized investment gains (losses) for the years ending December 31, 2022 and 2021.

White Mountains records a valuation allowance against deferred tax assets if it becomes more likely than not that all or a portion of a deferred tax asset will not be realized. Changes in valuation
allowances from period to period are included in income tax expense in the period of change. In determining whether or not a valuation allowance, or change therein, is warranted, White Mountains
considers factors such as prior earnings history, expected future earnings, carryback and carryforward periods and strategies that if executed would result in the realization of a deferred tax asset.

With few exceptions, White Mountains is no longer subject to U.S. federal, state, or non-U.S. income tax examinations by tax authorities for years before 2016.
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Note 9. Derivatives

NSM Interest Rate Swap

On June 15, 2018, NSM entered into an interest rate swap agreement to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk on $151.0 million of its USD-denominated variable rate term loans under the NSM
Bank Facility. Under the terms of the swap agreement, NSM pays a fixed-rate of 2.97% and receives a variable rate, which is reset monthly, based on the then-current one-month USD-LIBOR rate.
As of March 31, 2022, the variable rate received by NSM under the swap agreement was 1.00%. Over the term of the swap, the notional amount decreases in accordance with the principal
repayments NSM expects to make on its initial term loans. The interest rate swap is scheduled to mature on June 30, 2024. NSM evaluated the effectiveness of the swap to hedge its interest rate risk
associated with its variable rate debt and concluded at the swap inception date that the swap was highly effective in hedging that risk.

For the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, White Mountains recognized net interest expense of $0.6 million and $0.6 million for the periodic net settlement payments on the swap. As
of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, the estimated fair value of the swap and the accrual of the periodic net settlement payments recorded in other liabilities was $1.3 million and $4.8 million.
As of March 31, 2022, the swap no longer qualified for hedge accounting. As a result, the unrealized loss on the swap liability as of December 31, 2021 of $4.8 million will be reclassified from
accumulated other comprehensive income and amortized to interest expense over the remaining term of the swap on a straight-line basis. In the first quarter of 2022, $0.5 million of amortization was
recognized within interest expense. In addition, NSM recognized $3.5 million of income related to the change in fair value of the swap within interest expense for the three months ended March 31,
2022.

For the three months ended March 31, 2021, the $1.0 million change in the fair value of the swap is included within White Mountains’s accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).
NSM’s obligations under the swap are secured by the same collateral securing the NSM Bank Facility on a pari passu basis. NSM does not currently hold any collateral deposits from or provide

any collateral deposits to the swap counterparty.

NSM Interest Rate Cap

On June 4, 2020, NSM entered into an interest rate cap agreement to limit its exposure to the risk of interest rate increases on the GBP-denominated term loan under the NSM Bank Facility. The
notional amount of the interest rate cap is £42.5 million ($52.4 million based upon the foreign exchange spot rate as of the date of the transaction), and the termination date is June 4, 2022. On August
18, 2020, NSM entered into a separate interest rate cap agreement to extend the term of the original interest rate cap agreement by one year. The second interest rate cap agreement has an effective
date of June 15, 2022 and a termination date of June 15, 2023.

NSM paid total initial premiums of $0.1 million for the interest rate caps. Under the terms of the interest rate cap agreements, if the current three-month GBP-LIBOR rate at the measurement
date exceeds 1.25%, NSM will receive payments from the counterparty equal to the three-month GBP-LIBOR rate, less the 1.25% cap rate. As of March 31, 2022, the three-month GBP-LIBOR rate
was 1.04%.

NSM accounts for the interest rate caps as derivatives at fair value, with changes in fair value recognized in current period earnings within interest expense. For the three months ended
March 31, 2022 and 2021, White Mountains recognized $0.3 million and less than $0.1 million related to the change in fair value on the interest rate caps within interest expense. As of March 31,
2022 and December 31, 2021, the estimated fair value of the caps recorded in other assets was $0.5 million and $0.2 million.
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Note 10. Municipal Bond Guarantee Insurance

HG Global was established to fund the startup of BAM, a mutual municipal bond insurer. HG Global, together with its subsidiaries, provided the initial capitalization of BAM through the
purchase of $503.0 million of the BAM Surplus Notes.

Reinsurance Treaties

FLRT
BAM is a party to a first loss reinsurance treaty (“FLRT”) with HG Re under which HG Re provides first loss protection up to 15%-of-par outstanding on each municipal bond insured by BAM.

For capital appreciation bonds, par is adjusted to the estimated equivalent par value for current interest paying bonds. In return, BAM cedes up to 60% of the risk premium charged for insuring the
municipal bond, which is net of a ceding commission. The FLRT is a perpetual agreement with terms that can be renegotiated after a specified period of time. During 2021, BAM and HG Re agreed
that the terms may be renegotiated at the end of 2024, and each subsequent five-year period thereafter.

Fidus Re
BAM is party to a collateralized financial guarantee excess of loss reinsurance agreement that serves to increase BAM’s claims paying resources and is provided by Fidus Re Ltd. (“Fidus Re”).
In 2018, Fidus Re was initially capitalized by the issuance of $100.0 million of insurance-linked securities (the “Fidus Re 2018 Agreement”). The proceeds from issuance were placed in a

collateral trust supporting Fidus Re’s obligations to BAM. The insurance-linked securities were issued by Fidus Re with an initial term of 12 years and are callable five years after the date of issuance.
Under the Fidus Re 2018 Agreement, Fidus Re reinsures 90% of aggregate losses exceeding $165.0 million on a portion of BAM’s financial guarantee portfolio (the “2018 Covered Portfolio”) up to
a total reimbursement of $100.0 million. The Fidus Re 2018 Agreement does not provide coverage for losses in excess of $276.1 million. The 2018 Covered Portfolio consists of approximately 32%
of BAM’s portfolio of financial guaranty policies issued through March 31, 2022.

In the first quarter of 2021, Fidus Re issued an additional $150.0 million of insurance-linked securities (the “Fidus Re 2021 Agreement”) with an initial term of 12 years and are callable five
years after the date of issuance. The proceeds from issuance were placed in a collateral trust supporting Fidus Re’s obligations to BAM. Under the Fidus Re 2021 Agreement, Fidus Re reinsures 90%
of aggregate losses exceeding $135.0 million on a portion of BAM’s financial guarantee portfolio (the “2021 Covered Portfolio”) up to a total reimbursement of $150.0 million. The Fidus Re 2021
Agreement does not provide coverage for losses in excess of $301.7 million. The 2021 Covered Portfolio consists of approximately 36% of BAM’s portfolio of financial guaranty policies issued
through March 31, 2022.

The Fidus Re agreements are accounted for using deposit accounting and any related financing expenses are recorded in general and administrative expenses as they do not meet the risk transfer
requirements necessary to be accounted for as reinsurance.

XOLT
In January 2020, BAM entered into an excess of loss reinsurance agreement (the “XOLT”) with HG Re. Under the XOLT, HG Re provides last dollar protection for exposures on municipal bonds

insured by BAM in excess of New York State Department of Financial Services (“NYDFS”) single issuer limits. The XOLT is subject to an aggregate limit equal to the lesser of $75.0 million or the
assets held in the supplemental collateral trust (the “Supplemental Trust”) at any point in time. The agreement is accounted for using deposit accounting and any related financing expenses are
recorded in general and administrative expenses as the agreement does not meet the risk transfer requirements necessary to be accounted for as reinsurance.
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Collateral Trusts

HG Re’s obligations under the FLRT are limited to the assets in two collateral trusts: the Supplemental Trust and a Regulation 114 Trust (together, the “Collateral Trusts”). Losses required to be
reimbursed under the FLRT are subject to an aggregate limit equal to the assets held in the Collateral Trusts at any point in time.

On a monthly basis, BAM deposits cash equal to ceded premiums, net of ceding commissions, due to HG Re under the FLRT directly into the Regulation 114 Trust. The Regulation 114 Trust
target balance is equal to gross ceded unearned premiums and unpaid ceded loss and LAE, if any. If, at the end of any quarter, the Regulation 114 Trust balance is below the target balance, funds will
be withdrawn from the Supplemental Trust and deposited into the Regulation 114 Trust in an amount equal to the shortfall. If, at the end of any quarter, the Regulation 114 Trust balance is above
102% of the target balance, funds will be withdrawn from the Regulation 114 Trust and deposited into the Supplemental Trust. The Regulation 114 Trust balance as of March 31, 2022 and
December 31, 2021 was $244.8 million and $250.2 million.

The Supplemental Trust target balance is $603.0 million, less the amount of cash and securities in the Regulation 114 Trust in excess of its target balance (the “Supplemental Trust Target
Balance”). If, at the end of any quarter, the Supplemental Trust balance exceeds the Supplemental Trust Target Balance, such excess may be distributed to HG Re. The distribution will be made first
as an assignment of accrued interest on the BAM Surplus Notes and second in cash and/or fixed income securities.

As the BAM Surplus Notes are repaid over time, the BAM Surplus Notes will be replaced in the Supplemental Trust by cash and fixed income securities. The Supplemental Trust balance as of
March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021 was $591.5 million and $601.8 million.

As of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, the Collateral Trusts held assets of $836.3 million and $852.0 million, which included $466.0 million and $481.7 million of cash and
investments, $364.6 million and $364.6 million of BAM Surplus Notes and $5.7 million and $5.7 million of interest receivable on the BAM Surplus Notes.

BAM Surplus Notes

Through 2024, the interest rate on the BAM Surplus Notes is a variable rate equal to the one-year U.S. Treasury rate plus 300 basis points, set annually. During 2022, the interest rate on the
BAM Surplus Notes is 3.2%. Beginning in 2025, the interest rate will be fixed at the higher of the then current variable rate or 8.0%. Under its agreements with HG Global, BAM is required to seek
regulatory approval to pay interest and principal on the BAM Surplus Notes only to the extent that its remaining qualified statutory capital and other capital resources continue to support its
outstanding obligations, its business plan and its “AA/stable” rating from Standard & Poor’s. No payment of principal or interest on the BAM Surplus Notes may be made without the approval of the
NYDFS.

In December 2021, BAM made a $33.8 million cash payment of principal and interest on the BAM Surplus Notes held by HG Global. Of this payment, $23.6 million was a repayment of
principal held in the Supplemental Trust, $0.4 million was a payment of accrued interest held inside the Supplemental Trust and $9.8 million was a payment of accrued interest held outside the
Supplemental Trust.

During the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, BAM made no repayments of the BAM Surplus Notes or accrued interest.
As of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, the principal balance on the BAM Surplus Notes was $364.6 million and $364.6 million and total interest receivable on the BAM Surplus Notes

was $160.6 million and $157.6 million.
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Insured Obligations and Premiums

The following table presents a schedule of BAM’s insured obligations as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021:

March 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Contracts outstanding 12,611  12,350 
Remaining weighted average contract period outstanding (in
years) 10.8 10.8
Contractual debt service outstanding (in millions):

Principal $ 91,609.8  $ 89,196.5 
Interest 42,353.7  41,486.5 
Total debt service outstanding $ 133,963.5  $ 130,683.0 

Gross unearned insurance premiums (in millions) $ 267.3  $ 266.3 

The following table presents a schedule of BAM’s future premium revenues as of March 31, 2022:

Millions March 31, 2022

April 1, 2022 - December 31, 2022 $ 19.1 

January 1, 2023 - March 31, 2023 6.2 
April 1, 2023 - June 30, 2023 6.1 
July 1, 2023 - September 30, 2023 6.0 
October 1, 2023 - December 31, 2023 5.9 

Total 2023 24.2 

2024 22.7 
2025 21.1 
2026 19.6 
2027 18.1 
2028 and thereafter 142.5 

Total gross unearned insurance premiums $ 267.3 



The following table presents a schedule of written premiums and earned premiums included in White Mountains’s HG Global/BAM segment for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and

2021:

Three Months Ended March 31,
Millions 2022 2021

Written premiums:
Direct $ 9.4  $ 8.0 
Assumed —  4.5 
Gross written premiums $ 9.4  $ 12.5 

Earned premiums:
Direct $ 7.6  $ 5.3 
Assumed .8  1.1 
Gross earned premiums $ 8.4  $ 6.4 

There are no ceded premium amounts in the periods presented and gross earned premiums are equivalent to net written premiums and net earned premiums.



In January 2021, BAM entered into a 100% facultative quota share reinsurance agreement under which it assumed a portfolio of municipal bond guarantee contracts with a par value of
$805.5 million.

(1)

(1)

(1) 
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None of the contracts assumed under these reinsurance agreements were non-performing, and no loss reserves have been established for any of the contracts, either as of the transaction date or as
of March 31, 2022. The agreement, which covers future claims exposure only, meets the risk transfer criteria under ASC 944-20, Insurance Activities and accordingly has been accounted for as
reinsurance.

Note 11. Earnings Per Share
 

White Mountains calculates earnings per share using the two-class method, which allocates earnings between common shares and unvested restricted common shares. Both classes of shares
participate equally in dividends and earnings on a per share basis. Basic earnings per share amounts are based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding adjusted for unvested
restricted common shares.

The following table presents the Company’s computation of earnings per share from continuing operations for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021. See Note 19 — “Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations”.

Three Months Ended

 

March 31,

 

2022 2021

Basic and diluted earnings per share numerators (in millions):  
Net income (loss) attributable to White Mountains’s 


   common shareholders $ 33.4  $ (75.3)
Less: total income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax —  18.7 

Net income (loss) from continuing operations attributable to 

   White Mountains’s common shareholders $ 33.4  $ (94.0)

Allocation of (earnings) losses to participating restricted common shares (.3) .9 
Basic and diluted earnings (losses) per share numerators $ 33.1  $ (93.1)

Basic earnings per share denominators (in thousands):
Total average common shares outstanding during the period 3,006.2  3,100.2 
Average unvested restricted common shares (29.6) (32.4)

Basic earnings (losses) per share denominator 2,976.6  3,067.8 
Diluted earnings per share denominator (in thousands):
Total average common shares outstanding during the period 3,006.2  3,100.2 
Average unvested restricted common shares (29.6) (32.4)

Diluted earnings (losses) per share denominator 2,976.6  3,067.8 
Basic and diluted earnings per share (in dollars) - continuing operations:
Distributed earnings - dividends declared and paid $ 1.00  $ 1.00 
Undistributed earnings (losses) 10.10  (31.33)

Basic and diluted earnings (losses) per share $ 11.10  $ (30.33)

 Restricted shares issued by White Mountains receive dividends and are therefore considered participating securities.
Restricted shares outstanding vest upon a stated date. See Note 12 — “Employee Share-Based Incentive Compensation Plans”.

The following table presents the undistributed net earnings (losses) from continuing operations for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021. See Note 19 — “Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations”.

Three Months Ended

 

March 31,
Millions 2022 2021

Undistributed net earnings (losses) - continuing operations:
Net income (losses) attributable to White Mountains’s common shareholders, net of restricted common share amounts $ 33.1  $ (93.1)
Dividends declared, net of restricted common share amounts (3.0) (3.1)

Total undistributed net earnings (losses), net of restricted common share amounts $ 30.1  $ (96.2)

 Restricted shares issued by White Mountains receive dividends and are therefore considered participating securities.

(1)

(2)

(2)

(1)

(2) 

(1)

(1)
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Note 12. Employee Share-Based Incentive Compensation Plans
 

White Mountains’s Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “WTM Incentive Plan”) provides for grants of various types of share-based and non-share-based incentive awards to key employees of White
Mountains. As of March 31, 2022 and 2021, White Mountains’s share-based compensation incentive awards consist of performance shares and restricted shares.

Performance Shares

Performance shares are designed to reward employees for meeting company-wide performance targets. Performance shares are conditional grants of a specified maximum number of common
shares or an equivalent amount of cash. Awards generally vest at the end of a three-year service period, are subject to the attainment of pre-specified performance goals, and are valued based on the
market value of common shares at the time awards are paid. Performance shares earned under the WTM Incentive Plan are typically paid in cash but may be paid in common shares. Compensation
expense is recognized for the vested portion of the awards over the related service periods. The level of payout ranges from zero to two times the number of shares initially granted, depending on
White Mountains’s financial performance. Performance shares become payable at the conclusion of a performance cycle (typically 3 years) if pre-defined financial targets are met. The performance
measures used for determining performance share payouts are growth in White Mountains’s adjusted book value per share and intrinsic value per share. Intrinsic value per share is generally
calculated by adjusting adjusted book value per share for differences between the adjusted book value of certain assets and liabilities and White Mountains’s estimate of their underlying intrinsic
values.

The following table presents the performance share activity for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 for performance shares granted under the WTM Incentive Plan:

  Three Months Ended March 31,
  2022 2021

Millions, except share amounts
Target Performance


Shares Outstanding
Accrued


Expense
Target Performance


Shares Outstanding
Accrued


Expense

Beginning of period 40,828  $ 42.2  42,458  $ 56.3 
Shares paid (14,625) (26.4) (14,117) (34.6)
New grants 13,075  —  13,000  — 
Forfeitures and
  cancellations 24  .3  (557) .4 
Expense recognized —  5.8  —  16.1 

End of period 39,302  $ 21.9  40,784  $ 38.2 

WTM performance share payments in 2022 for the 2019-2021 performance cycle, which were paid in cash in March 2022 at 172% of target.  WTM performance share payments in 2021 for the 2018-2020 performance cycle, which were paid in
cash in March 2021 at 200% of target. 
Amounts include changes in assumed forfeitures, as required under GAAP.

During the three months ended March 31, 2022, White Mountains granted 13,075 performance shares for the 2022-2024 performance cycle. During the three months ended March 31, 2021,
White Mountains granted 13,000 performance shares for the 2021-2023 performance cycle.

For the 2019-2021 performance cycle, the Company issued common shares for 750 performance shares earned and all other performance shares earned were settled in cash. For the 2018-2020
performance cycle, all performance shares earned were settled in cash. If all the outstanding WTM performance shares had vested on March 31, 2022, the total additional compensation cost to be
recognized would have been $25.8 million, based on accrual factors (common share price and payout assumptions) as of March 31, 2022.

(1)

(2)

(1) 

(2) 
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The following table presents performance shares outstanding and accrued expense for performance shares awarded under the WTM Incentive Plan as of March 31, 2022 for each performance
cycle:

Three Months Ended March 31, 2022

Millions, except share amounts
Target Performance


Shares Outstanding
Accrued


Expense

Performance cycle:    
2020 – 2022 13,350  $ 19.0 
2021 – 2023 13,475  2.9 
2022 – 2024 13,075  .3 

Sub-total 39,900  22.2 
Assumed forfeitures (598) (.3)

March 31, 2022 39,302  $ 21.9 

Restricted Shares

Restricted shares are grants of a specified number of common shares that generally vest at the end of a 34-month service period. The following table presents the unrecognized compensation cost
associated with the outstanding restricted share awards for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021:
  Three Months Ended March 31,
  2022 2021
Millions, 
except share amounts

Restricted

Shares

Unamortized Issue Date

Fair Value

Restricted

Shares

Unamortized Issue Date

Fair Value

Non-vested,        
Beginning of period 37,850  $ 15.9  43,105  $ 15.2 
Issued 13,075  13.6  13,000  15.6 
Vested (12,725) —  (17,717) — 
Forfeited —  —  (583) (.6)
Expense recognized —  (3.0) —  (4.0)
End of period 38,200  $ 26.5  37,805  $ 26.2 

During the three months ended March 31, 2022, White Mountains issued 13,075 restricted shares that vest on January 1, 2025. During the three months ended March 31, 2021, White Mountains
issued 13,000 restricted shares that vest on January 1, 2024. The unamortized issue date fair value as of March 31, 2022 is expected to be recognized ratably over the remaining vesting periods. 
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Note 13. Leases

White Mountains has entered into lease agreements, primarily for office space. These leases are classified as operating leases, with lease expense recognized on a straight-line basis over the term
of the lease. Lease incentives, such as free rent or landlord reimbursements for leasehold improvements, are recognized at lease inception and amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the
lease. Lease expense and the amortization of leasehold improvements are recognized within general and administrative expenses. Lease payments related to options to extend or renew the lease term
are excluded from the calculation of lease liabilities unless White Mountains is reasonably certain of exercising those options.

As of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, the right of use (“ROU”) asset was $41.6 million and $42.2 million and lease liabilities were $44.8 million and $45.2 million.
The following table summarizes net lease expense recognized in White Mountains’s consolidated statement of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021:

Millions Three Months Ended March 31,
Lease Cost 2022 2021

Lease cost $ 2.8  $ 1.9 
Less: sublease income .2  .1 

Net lease cost $ 2.6  $ 1.8 



The following table presents the contractual maturities of the lease liabilities associated with White Mountains’s operating lease agreements as of March 31, 2022:

Millions As of March 31, 2022

Remainder of 2022 $ 7.6 
2023 11.5 
2024 10.0 
2025 6.8 
2026 4.3 
Thereafter 11.8 

Total undiscounted lease payments 52.0 
Less: present value adjustment 7.2 

Operating lease liability $ 44.8 
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The following tables present lease related assets and liabilities by reportable segment as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021:

As of March 31, 2022

Millions HG/BAM Ark NSM Kudu Other Operations Total
Weighted Average Incremental

Borrowing Rate 

ROU lease asset $ 7.1  $ 8.1  $ 13.3  $ 6.4  $ 6.7  $ 41.6 

5.1%Lease liability $ 7.7  $ 8.1  $ 14.5  $ 7.1  $ 7.4  $ 44.8 

 The present value of the remaining lease payments was determined by discounting the lease payments using the incremental borrowing rate.

As of December 31, 2021

Millions HG/BAM Ark NSM Kudu Other Operations Total
Weighted Average Incremental

Borrowing Rate 

ROU lease asset $ 7.6  $ 7.0  $ 14.0  $ 6.5  $ 7.1  $ 42.2 

5.0%Lease liability $ 8.1  $ 7.0  $ 15.2  $ 7.1  $ 7.8  $ 45.2 

 The present value of the remaining lease payments was determined by discounting the lease payments using the incremental borrowing rate.

Note 14. Non-controlling Interests

Non-controlling interests consist of the ownership interests of non-controlling shareholders in consolidated entities and are presented separately on the balance sheet.
The following table presents the balance of non-controlling interests included in White Mountains’s total equity and the ownership interests held by non-controlling shareholders as of March 31,

2022 and December 31, 2021:

 

March 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

$ in Millions
Non-controlling

Percentage 
Non-controlling

Equity
Non-controlling

Percentage 
Non-controlling

Equity

Non-controlling interests, excluding BAM
HG Global 3.1 % $ 5.4  3.1 % $ 8.9 
Ark 28.0 % 224.1  28.0 % 230.7 
NSM 3.5 % 16.7  3.5 % 16.7 
Kudu .9 % 17.3  .7 % 12.4 
Other various 11.2  various 11.9 
Total, excluding BAM 274.7  280.6 

BAM 100.0 % (147.5) 100.0 % (124.0)
Total non-controlling interests $ 127.2  $ 156.6 

 The non-controlling percentage represents the basic ownership interests held by non-controlling shareholders with the exception of HG Global, for which the non-controlling percentage represents the preferred share ownership held by non-
controlling shareholders.

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1) (1)

(1)
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Note 15. Segment Information
 

As of March 31, 2022, White Mountains conducted its operations through five segments: (1) HG Global/BAM, (2) Ark, (3) NSM, (4) Kudu and (5) Other Operations. A discussion of White
Mountains’s consolidated investment operations is included after the discussion of operations by segment.

White Mountains has made its segment determination based on consideration of the following criteria: (i) the nature of the business activities of each of the Company’s subsidiaries and affiliates;
(ii) the manner in which the Company’s subsidiaries and affiliates are organized; (iii) the existence of primary managers responsible for specific subsidiaries and affiliates; and (iv) the organization of
information provided to the chief operating decision makers and the Board of Directors. Significant intercompany transactions among White Mountains’s segments have been eliminated herein.

The following tables present the financial information for White Mountains’s segments:

Millions HG Global/ BAM Ark NSM Kudu Other Operations Total

Three Months Ended March 31, 2022
Earned insurance premiums $ 8.4  $ 194.4  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 202.8 
Net investment income 4.6  1.6  —  12.6  1.8  20.6 
Net realized and unrealized investment


   gains (losses) (45.1) (17.5) —  22.3  31.9  (8.4)
Net realized and unrealized investment gains


   (losses) from investment in MediaAlpha —  —  —  —  18.8  18.8 
Commission revenues —  —  70.1  —  2.9  73.0 
Other revenues .8  (2.8) 18.4  —  25.7  42.1 
     Total revenues (31.3) 175.7  88.5  34.9  81.1  348.9 
Loss and loss adjustment expenses —  122.0  —  —  —  122.0 
Insurance and reinsurance acquisition expenses 3.0  49.9  —  —  —  52.9 
Cost of sales —  —  —  —  21.4  21.4 
General and administrative expenses 16.3  23.1  54.0  2.7  28.9  125.0 
Broker commission expense —  —  20.6  —  —  20.6 
Change in fair value of contingent consideration —  —  .1  —  —  .1 
Amortization of other intangible assets —  —  9.1  .1  .9  10.1 
Loss on assets held for sale —  —  —  —  —  — 
Interest expense —  3.8  2.1  2.8  .3  9.0 
     Total expenses 19.3  198.8  85.9  5.6  51.5  361.1 
Pre-tax income (loss) $ (50.6) $ (23.1) $ 2.6  $ 29.3  $ 29.6  $ (12.2)
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Millions HG Global/ BAM Ark NSM Kudu Other Operations Total

Three Months Ended March 31, 2021
Earned insurance premiums $ 6.4  $ 104.6  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 111
Net investment income 4.5  .8  —  8.2  7.1  20
Net realized and unrealized investment
   gains (losses) (17.9) 1.1  —  15.8  2.1  1
Net realized and unrealized investment gains
   (losses) from investment in MediaAlpha —  —  —  —  (41.7) (41.
Commission revenues —  —  59.6  —  2.3  61
Other revenues .3  2.6  15.2  .1  7.1  25
     Total revenues (6.7) 109.1  74.8  24.1  (23.1) 178
Losses and loss adjustment expenses —  66.0  —  —  —  66
Insurance and reinsurance acquisition expenses 1.9  36.7  —  —  —  38
Cost of sales —  —  —  —  4.0  4
General and administrative expenses 16.4  37.8  46.0  2.5  35.7  138
Broker commission expense —  —  18.9  —  —  18
Amortization of other intangible assets —  —  8.6  .1  .5  9
Loss on assets held for sale —  —  28.7  —  —  28
Interest expense —  1.1  5.9  5.8  .3  13
     Total expenses 18.3  141.6  108.1  8.4  40.5  316
Pre-tax income (loss) $ (25.0) $ (32.5) $ (33.3) $ 15.7  $ (63.6) $ (138.

In compliance with ASC 606, Revenues from Contracts with Customers, the following tables present White Mountains’s total revenues by revenue source for the three months ended March 31,
2022 and 2021:

Millions HG Global/BAM Ark NSM Kudu
Other


Operations Total

Three Months Ended March 31, 2022
Commission and other revenue
Specialty Transportation $ —  $ —  $ 26.5  $ —  $ —  $ 26
Pet —  —  23.4  —  —  23
United Kingdom —  —  12.6  —  —  12
Real Estate —  —  10.5  —  —  10
Social Services —  —  7.0  —  —  7
Diversified B2B —  —  8.5  —  —  8
Other —  —  —  —  2.9  2

Total commission and other revenue —  —  88.5  —  2.9  91
Product and service revenues —  —  —  —  26.4  26
     Revenues from contracts with customers —  —  88.5  —  29.3  117
Other (31.3) 175.7  —  34.9  51.8  231
  Total revenues $ (31.3) $ 175.7  $ 88.5  $ 34.9  $ 81.1  $ 348

Other consists of earned insurance premiums, net investment income, net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses) and other revenues outside the scope of ASC 606, Revenues from Contracts with Customers.






 (1)

(1)    
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Millions HG Global/BAM Ark NSM Kudu
Other


Operations Total

Three Months Ended March 31, 2021
Commission and other revenue
Specialty Transportation $ —  $ —  $ 20.7  $ —  $ —  $ 20.7 
Pet —  —  17.1  —  —  17.1 
United Kingdom —  —  13.1  —  —  13.1 
Real Estate —  —  9.8  —  —  9.8 
Social Services —  —  6.7  —  —  6.7 
Diversified B2B —  —  7.4  —  —  7.4 
Other —  —  —  —  2.3  2.3 

Total commission and other revenue —  —  74.8  —  2.3  77.1 
Product revenues —  —  —  —  6.5  6.5 
     Revenues from contracts with customers —  —  74.8  —  8.8  83.6 
Other (6.7) 109.1  —  24.1  (31.9) 94.6 
  Total revenues $ (6.7) $ 109.1  $ 74.8  $ 24.1  $ (23.1) $ 178.2 

Other consists of earned insurance premiums, net investment income, net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses) and other revenues outside the scope of ASC 606, Revenues from Contracts with Customers.

Note 16. Equity-Method Eligible Investments
 

White Mountains’s equity method eligible investments include White Mountains’s investment in MediaAlpha, certain other unconsolidated entities, including Kudu’s Participation Contracts,
private equity funds and hedge funds in which White Mountains has the ability to exert significant influence over the investee’s operating and financial policies.

The following table presents the ownership interests and carrying values of White Mountains’s equity method eligible investments as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021:

March 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Millions Ownership Interest Carrying Value Ownership Interest Carrying Value

Kudu Participation Contracts 3.2 - 33.4% $ 691.8  3.2 - 32.0% 669.5 
Investment in MediaAlpha 27.7 % 280.4  28.0 % $ 261.6 
PassportCard/DavidShield 53.8 % 125.0  53.8 % 120.0 
Elementum Holdings, L.P. 29.7 % 45.0  29.7 % 45.0 
Other equity method eligible investments, at fair
value Under 50.0% 104.9  Under 50.0% 109.3 
Other equity method eligible investments, at fair
value 50.0% and over 33.9  50.0% and over 17.8 

 Ownership interest generally references basic ownership interest with the exception of Kudu’s Participation Contracts, which are non-controlling equity interests in the form of revenue and earnings participation contracts.

For the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, White Mountains received dividend and income distributions from equity method eligible investments of $13.1 million and $13.7 million,
which were recorded within net investment income in the consolidated statement of operations.

Subsequent to the MediaAlpha IPO, White Mountains’s investment in MediaAlpha is accounted for at fair value based on the publicly traded share price of MediaAlpha’s common stock, and
White Mountains presents its investment in MediaAlpha as a separate line item on the balance sheet. See Note 2 — “Significant Transactions”. For the three months ended March 31, 2022 and
2021, MediaAlpha was considered a significant subsidiary.

 (1)

(1) 

(1)

(1)
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The following tables present summarized financial information for MediaAlpha as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021 and for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021:

Millions March 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Balance sheet data:
Total assets $ 275.2  $ 289.8 
Total liabilities $ 332.9  $ 351.4 

Three Months Ended March 31,
Millions 2022 2021

Income statement data:
Total revenues $ 142.6  $ 173.6 
Total expenses $ 152.4  $ 173.4 
Net income (loss) $ (9.8) $ .2 

Note 17. Fair Value of Financial Instruments
 
    White Mountains records its financial instruments at fair value with the exception of debt obligations, which are recorded as debt at face value less unamortized original issue discount. See Note 7
— “Debt”.
    The following tables presents the fair value and carrying value of these financial instruments as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021:

 

March 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Millions
Fair


Value
Carrying

Value
Fair


Value
Carrying


Value

Ark 2007 Subordinated Notes $ 27.8  $ 30.0  $ 27.6  $ 30.0 
Ark 2021 Subordinated Notes $ 163.4  $ 154.8  $ 162.8  $ 155.9 
NSM Bank Facility $ 273.1  $ 270.0  $ 275.8  $ 271.2 
Other NSM debt $ .7  $ .6  $ 1.0  $ .9 
Kudu Credit Facility $ 241.8  $ 218.2  $ 246.8  $ 218.2 
Other Operations debt $ 17.7  $ 17.3  $ 17.7  $ 16.8 

The fair value estimates for the Ark 2007 Subordinated Notes, the Ark 2021 Subordinated Notes, NSM Bank Facility, the Other NSM debt, the Kudu Credit Facility and Other Operations debt
have been determined based on a discounted cash flow approach and are considered to be Level 3 measurements.
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Note 18. Commitments and Contingencies

Legal Contingencies

White Mountains, and the insurance industry in general, is routinely subject to claims related litigation and arbitration in the normal course of business, as well as litigation and arbitration that do
not arise from, nor are directly related to, claims activity. White Mountains’s estimates of the costs of settling matters routinely encountered in claims activity are reflected in the reserves for unpaid
loss and LAE. See Note 5 — “Losses and Loss Adjustment Expense Reserves”.

White Mountains considers the requirements of ASC 450 when evaluating its exposure to non-claims related litigation and arbitration. ASC 450 requires that accruals be established for litigation
and arbitration if it is probable that a loss has been incurred and it can be reasonably estimated. ASC 450 also requires that litigation and arbitration be disclosed if it is probable that a loss has been
incurred or if there is a reasonable possibility that a loss may have been incurred. White Mountains does not have any current non-claims related litigation that may have a material adverse effect on
White Mountains’s financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

Note 19. Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations

Sirius Group

On April 18, 2016, White Mountains completed the sale of Sirius International Insurance Group, Ltd. (“Sirius Group”) to CM International Pte. Ltd. and CM Bermuda Limited (collectively
“CMI”). In connection with the sale, White Mountains indemnified Sirius Group against the loss of certain interest deductions claimed by Sirius Group related to periods prior to the sale of Sirius
Group to CMI that had been disputed by the Swedish Tax Agency. In late October 2018, the Swedish Administrative Court ruled against Sirius Group on its appeal of the Swedish Tax Agency’s
denial of these interest deductions. As a result, in 2018 White Mountains recorded a loss of $17.3 million within net gain (loss) on sale of discontinued operations reflecting the value of these interest
deductions.

As of December 31, 2020, White Mountains’s liability related to the tax indemnification provided in connection with the sale of Sirius Group in 2016 was $18.7 million. In April 2021, the
Swedish Tax Agency informed the Swedish Administrative Court of Appeal that Sirius Group should prevail in its appeal and that the interest deductions should not be disallowed. In June 2021, the
Swedish Administrative Court of Appeal ruled in Sirius Group’s favor. For the three months ended March 31, 2021, White Mountains recorded a gain of $17.6 million in discontinued operations to
reverse the liability accrued as of December 31, 2020 and $1.1 million gain related to foreign currency translation.

NSM

On April 12, 2021, NSM completed the sale of the Fresh Insurance motor business for net proceeds of £1.1 million ($1.5 million based upon the foreign exchange spot rate as of the transaction
date). The assets and liabilities included in the transaction were measured at their estimated fair values, net of disposal, and classified as held for sale at March 31, 2021. However, the transaction did
not meet the criteria to be classified as discontinued operations. In the first quarter of 2021, NSM recorded a loss of $28.7 million related to the sale.

Other

As of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, White Mountains classified one of the Other Operating Businesses, which included $15.9 million and $16.1 million of insurance licenses,
investments and cash, as assets held for sale.
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Earnings Per Share from Discontinued Operations

White Mountains calculates earnings per share using the two-class method, which allocates earnings between common and unvested restricted common shares. Both classes of shares participate
equally in earnings on a per share basis. Basic earnings per share amounts are based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding adjusted for unvested restricted common shares.
Diluted earnings per share amounts are also impacted by the net effect of potentially dilutive common shares outstanding. The following table presents the Company’s computation of earnings per
share for discontinued operations for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021:

Three Months Ended

  March 31,
2022 2021

Basic and diluted earnings per share numerators (in millions):
Net income (loss) attributable to White Mountains’s common shareholders $ 33.4  $ (75.3)
Less: total income (loss) from continuing operations, net of tax 33.4  (94.0)

Net gain from discontinued operations attributable to White Mountains’s common
shareholders $ —  $ 18.7 

Allocation of earnings to participating restricted common shares —  (.2)
Basic and diluted earnings per share numerators $ —  $ 18.5 

Basic earnings per share denominators (in thousands):  
Total average common shares outstanding during the period 3,006.2  3,100.2 
Average unvested restricted common shares (29.6) (32.4)

Basic earnings per share denominator 2,976.6  3,067.8 
Diluted earnings per share denominator (in thousands):  
Total average common shares outstanding during the period 3,006.2  3,100.2 
Average unvested restricted common shares (29.6) (32.4)

Diluted earnings per share denominator 2,976.6  3,067.8 
Basic and diluted earnings (losses) per share (in dollars) - discontinued operations: $ —  $ 6.03 

Restricted shares issued by White Mountains receive dividends and are therefore considered participating securities.
Net earnings attributable to White Mountains’s common shareholders, net of restricted share amounts, is equal to undistributed earnings for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021.
 Restricted shares outstanding vest upon a stated date. See Note 12 — “Employee Share-Based Incentive Compensation Plans”.

Note 20. Subsequent Event

On April 29, 2022, HG Global received the proceeds of a new $150.0 million, 10-year term loan credit facility. In turn, on May 2, 2022, HG Global paid a $120.0 million cash dividend to
shareholders, of which $116.3 million was paid to White Mountains.

(1)

(2)

(3)

(3)

(1) 

(2) 

(3)
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
 

The following discussion contains “forward-looking statements”. White Mountains intends statements that are not historical in nature, which are hereby identified as forward-looking statements,
to be covered by the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. White Mountains cannot promise that its expectations in such forward-looking statements will turn
out to be correct. White Mountains’s actual results could be materially different from and worse than its expectations. See “FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS” on page 75 for specific
important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in forward-looking statements.

The following discussion also includes twelve non-GAAP financial measures: (i) adjusted book value per share, (ii) BAM’s gross written premiums and member surplus contributions (“MSC”)
from new business, (iii) Ark’s adjusted loss and LAE ratio, (iv) Ark’s adjusted insurance acquisition expense ratio, (v) Ark’s adjusted other underwriting expense ratio, (vi) Ark’s adjusted combined
ratio (vii) NSM’s earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”), (viii) NSM’s adjusted EBITDA, (ix) Kudu’s EBITDA, (x) Kudu’s adjusted EBITDA, (xi) total consolidated
portfolio returns excluding MediaAlpha and (xii) adjusted capital, that have been reconciled from their most comparable GAAP financial measures on page 72. White Mountains believes these
measures to be useful in evaluating White Mountains’s financial performance and condition.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2022 AND 2021

Overview
White Mountains reported book value per share of $1,183 and adjusted book value per share of $1,204 as of March 31, 2022. Book value per share and adjusted book value per share both

increased 1% in the first quarter of 2022, including dividends. Results in the first quarter of 2022 were driven primarily by positive results from White Mountains’s operating companies as well as
positive returns from other long-term investments and White Mountains’s investment in MediaAlpha, partially offset by losses in the fixed income portfolio due to rising interest rates. White
Mountains reported book value per share of $1,231 and adjusted book value per share of $1,242 as of March 31, 2021. Book value per share and adjusted book value per share both decreased 2% in
the first quarter of 2021, including dividends. Results in the first quarter of 2021 were driven by net realized and unrealized investment losses from White Mountains’s investment in MediaAlpha and
a loss related to NSM’s sale of its Fresh Insurance motor business.

In the HG Global/BAM segment, gross written premiums and MSC collected totaled $22 million in the first quarter of 2022 compared to $26 million in the first quarter of 2021. Total pricing was
63 basis points in the first quarter of 2022 compared to 74 basis points in the first quarter of 2021. BAM insured municipal bonds with par value of $3.5 billion in the first quarter of 2022 compared to
$3.5 billion in the first quarter of 2021, which included $806 million from an assumed reinsurance transaction. BAM’s total claims paying resources were $1,201 million as of March 31, 2022
compared to $1,192 million as of December 31, 2021 and $1,144 million as of March 31, 2021. On April 29, 2022, HG Global received the proceeds of a new $150 million, 10-year term loan credit
facility. In turn, on May 2, 2022, HG Global paid a $120 million cash dividend to shareholders, of which $116 million was paid to White Mountains.

Ark reported a GAAP combined ratio of 100% in the first quarter of 2022 compared to 109% in the first quarter of 2021. Ark’s adjusted combined ratio, which adds back amounts attributable to
TPC providers, was 101% in the first quarter of 2022 compared to 108% in the first quarter of 2021. The adjusted combined ratio in the first quarter of 2022 included 16 points of catastrophe losses,
of which 11 points related to an estimate for incurred losses emanating from the conflict in Ukraine. The adjusted combined ratio in the first quarter of 2021 included 17 points of catastrophe losses,
of which 14 points related to Winter Storm Uri. In the first quarter of 2022, Ark reported gross written premiums of $633 million, net written premiums of $544 million and net earned premiums of
$194 million. In the first quarter of 2021, Ark reported gross written premiums of $405 million, net written premiums of $342 million and net earned premiums of $105 million. Ark’s gross written
premiums in the first quarter of 2022 were up 57% from the first quarter of 2021, with risk-adjusted rate change up approximately 9% year over year. Ark reported pre-tax loss of $23 million in the
first quarter of 2022 compared to $33 million in the first quarter of 2021. Ark’s pre-tax loss for the first quarter of 2022 included $18 million of net unrealized investment losses, driven primarily by
losses on fixed income securities. Results in the first quarter of 2021 included $25 million of transaction expenses related to White Mountains’s transaction with Ark.

NSM reported commission and other revenues of $89 million, pre-tax income of $3 million and adjusted EBITDA of $18 million in the first quarter of 2022 compared to commission and other
revenues of $75 million, pre-tax loss of $33 million and adjusted EBITDA of $14 million in the first quarter of 2021. Results in the first quarter of 2022 include the results of J.C. Taylor, an MGA
offering classic and antique collector car insurance, which was acquired on August 6, 2021. Results in the first quarter of 2021 include a loss of $29 million related to the sale of NSM’s Fresh
Insurance motor business, which was sold on April 12, 2021.
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Kudu reported total revenue of $35 million, pre-tax income of $29 million and adjusted EBITDA of $10 million in the first quarter of 2022 compared to total revenue of $24 million, pre-tax
income of $16 million and adjusted EBITDA of $6 million in the first quarter of 2021. Total revenues and pre-tax income in the first quarter of 2022 included $22 million of net unrealized investment
gains on Kudu’s participation contracts compared to $16 million of net unrealized investment gains on Kudu’s participation contracts in the first quarter of 2021.

As of March 31, 2022, the market value of White Mountains’s investment in MediaAlpha was $280 million, which was up from $262 million as of December 31, 2021. As of March 31, 2022, the
closing price was $16.55 per share, which increased from $15.44 at December 31, 2021. Based on White Mountains’s ownership of 16.9 million shares of MediaAlpha as of March 31, 2022, each
$1.00 per share increase or decrease in the stock price of MediaAlpha will result in an approximate $5.65 per share increase or decrease in White Mountains’s book value per share and adjusted book
value per share.

White Mountains’s pre-tax total consolidated portfolio return on invested assets was 0.8% in the first quarter of 2022. This return included $19 million of unrealized investment gains from White
Mountains’s investment in MediaAlpha. Excluding MediaAlpha, the total consolidated portfolio return on invested assets was 0.3% in the first quarter of 2022. Excluding MediaAlpha, investment
returns in the first quarter of 2022 were driven primarily by net unrealized investments gains in the other long-term investments portfolio, which more than offset net unrealized investment losses in
the fixed income portfolio due to rising interest rates. White Mountains’s pre-tax total consolidated portfolio return on invested assets was -0.3% in the first quarter of 2021. This return included $42
million of net realized and unrealized investment losses from White Mountains’s investment in MediaAlpha. Excluding MediaAlpha, the total consolidated portfolio return on invested assets was
0.7% in the first quarter of 2021. Excluding MediaAlpha, investment returns in the first quarter of 2021 were driven primarily by net unrealized investments gains in the other long-term investments
portfolio, which more than offset net unrealized investment losses in the fixed income portfolio due to rising interest rates.

Adjusted Book Value Per Share

The following table presents White Mountains’s book value per share and reconciles it to adjusted book value per share, a non-GAAP measure. See NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES on
page 72.

  March 31, 2022 December 31, 2021 March 31, 2021
Book value per share numerators (in millions):
White Mountains’s common shareholders’ equity -


  GAAP book value per share numerator $ 3,542.1  $ 3,548.1  $ 3,825.9 
Time value of money discount on expected future
   payments on the BAM Surplus Notes (120.9) (125.9) (137.7)
HG Global’s unearned premium reserve 215.8  214.6  195.3 
HG Global’s net deferred acquisition costs (60.6) (60.8) (54.2)

Adjusted book value per share numerator $ 3,576.4  $ 3,576.0  $ 3,829.3 
Book value per share denominators 


   (in thousands of shares):
Common shares outstanding - GAAP book value per


   share denominator 2,994.2  3,017.8  3,107.3 
Unearned restricted common shares (24.2) (13.7) (23.4)

Adjusted book value per share denominator 2,970.0  3,004.1  3,083.9 
GAAP book value per share $ 1,183.00  $ 1,175.73  $ 1,231.27 
Adjusted book value per share $ 1,204.17  $ 1,190.39  $ 1,241.71 

Year-to-date dividends paid per share $ 1.00  $ 1.00  $ 1.00 

Amount reflects White Mountains’s preferred share ownership in HG Global of 96.9%.

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1) 
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Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The following table presents a summary of goodwill and other intangible assets that are included in White Mountains’s book value as of March 31, 2022, December 31, 2021, and March 31,
2021:

Millions March 31, 2022 December 31, 2021 March 31, 2021

Goodwill:
Ark $ 116.8  $ 116.8  $ 116.8 

NSM 499.1  503.2  477.7 

Kudu 7.6  7.6  7.6 

Other Operations 17.9  17.9  11.3 
Total goodwill 641.4  645.5  613.4 

Other intangible assets:
Ark 175.7  175.7  175.7 
NSM 212.9  222.2  222.0 
Kudu 1.3  1.3  1.5 
Other Operations 20.2  21.2  24.4 
Total other intangible assets 410.1  420.4  423.6 

Total goodwill and other intangible assets 1,051.5  1,065.9  1,037.0 
Goodwill and other intangible assets attributed to
     non-controlling interests (117.1) (117.6) (108.4)
Goodwill and other intangible assets included in 


     White Mountains’s common shareholders’
equity $ 934.4  $ 948.3  $ 928.6 

See Note 4 — “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” for details of goodwill and other intangible assets.

(1)

(1) 
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Summary of Consolidated Results

The following table presents White Mountains’s consolidated financial results for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021:

Three Months Ended
  March 31,
Millions 2022 2021

Revenues    

Financial Guarantee revenues $ (31.3) $ (6.7)

P&C Insurance and Reinsurance revenues 175.7  109.1 

Specialty Insurance Distribution revenues 88.5  74.8 

Asset Management revenues 34.9  24.1 

Other Operations revenues 81.1  (23.1)

Total revenues 348.9  178.2 

Expenses

Financial Guarantee expenses 19.3  18.3 

P&C Insurance and Reinsurance expenses 198.8  141.6 

Specialty Insurance Distribution expenses 85.9  108.1 

Asset Management expenses 5.6  8.4 

Other Operations expenses 51.5  40.5 

Total expenses 361.1  316.9 

Pre-tax income (loss)

Financial Guarantee pre-tax income (loss) (50.6) (25.0)

P&C Insurance and Reinsurance pre-tax income (loss) (23.1) (32.5)

Specialty Insurance Distribution pre-tax income (loss) 2.6  (33.3)

Asset Management pre-tax income (loss) 29.3  15.7 

Other Operations pre-tax income (loss) 29.6  (63.6)

Total pre-tax income (loss) (12.2) (138.7)

Income tax (expense) benefit 3.8  9.5 

Net income (loss) from continuing operations (8.4) (129.2)
Gain (loss) on sale of discontinued operations, net 


   of tax —  18.7 

Net income (loss) (8.4) (110.5)

Net (income) loss attributable to non-controlling interests 41.8  35.2 
Net income (loss) attributable to White Mountains’s


   common shareholders 33.4  (75.3)

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax (2.3) 1.8 

Comprehensive income (loss) 31.1  (73.5)
Other comprehensive (income) loss attributable to non-controlling


   interests .2  (.1)
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to White


   Mountains’s common shareholders $ 31.3  $ (73.6)
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I. Summary of Operations By Segment
 

As of March 31, 2022, White Mountains conducted its operations through five segments: (1) HG Global/BAM, (2) Ark, (3) NSM, (4) Kudu and (5) Other Operations. A discussion of White
Mountains’s consolidated investment operations is included after the discussion of operations by segment. White Mountains’s segment information is presented in Note 15 — “Segment
Information” to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

HG Global/BAM

HG Global/BAM consists of the consolidated results of HG Global, HG Re and BAM. BAM is the first and only mutual municipal bond insurance company in the United States. By insuring the
timely payment of principal and interest, BAM provides market access to, and lowers interest expense for, issuers of municipal bonds used to finance essential public purpose projects, such as
schools, utilities and transportation facilities. BAM is owned by and operated for the benefit of its members, the municipalities that purchase BAM’s insurance for their debt issuances. HG Global was
established to fund the startup of BAM and, through HG Re, to provide up to 15%-of-par, first loss reinsurance protection for policies underwritten by BAM.

The following tables present the components of pre-tax income (loss) included in White Mountains’s HG Global/BAM segment related to the consolidation of HG Global, which includes HG Re
and its other wholly-owned subsidiaries, and BAM for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021:

  Three Months Ended March 31, 2022

Millions HG Global BAM Eliminations Total

Direct written premiums $ —  $ 9.4  $ —  $ 9.4 
Assumed written premiums 8.1  —  (8.1) — 
Gross written premiums 8.1  9.4  (8.1) 9.4 

Ceded written premiums —  (8.1) 8.1  — 
Net written premiums $ 8.1  $ 1.3  $ —  $ 9.4 

Earned insurance premiums $ 6.9  $ 1.5  $ —  $ 8.4 
Net investment income 2.1  2.5  —  4.6 
Net investment income - BAM Surplus Notes 2.9  —  (2.9) — 
Net realized and unrealized investment gains
(losses) (23.5) (21.6) —  (45.1)
Other revenues .1  .7  —  .8 

Total revenues (11.5) (16.9) (2.9) (31.3)
Insurance acquisition expenses 2.6  .4  —  3.0 
General and administrative expenses .7  15.6  —  16.3 
Interest expense - BAM Surplus Notes —  2.9  (2.9) — 

Total expenses 3.3  18.9  (2.9) 19.3 
Pre-tax income (loss) $ (14.8) $ (35.8) $ —  $ (50.6)
Supplemental information:
     MSC collected $ —  12.3  $ —  $ 12.3 

MSC collected are recorded directly to BAM’s equity, which is recorded as non-controlling interest on White Mountains’s balance sheet.

(1)

(1) 
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  Three Months Ended March 31, 2021

Millions HG Global BAM Eliminations Total

Direct written premiums $ —  $ 8.0  $ —  $ 8.0 
Assumed written premiums 10.7  4.5  (10.7) 4.5 
Gross written premiums 10.7  12.5  (10.7) 12.5 

Ceded written premiums —  (10.7) 10.7  — 
Net written premiums $ 10.7  $ 1.8  $ —  $ 12.5 

Earned insurance premiums $ 5.3  $ 1.1  $ —  $ 6.4 
Net investment income 1.8  2.7  —  4.5 
Net investment income - BAM Surplus Notes 3.0  —  (3.0) — 
Net realized and unrealized investment gains
(losses) (9.9) (8.0) —  (17.9)
Other revenues .1  .2  —  .3 

Total revenues 0.3  (4.0) (3.0) (6.7)
Insurance acquisition expenses 1.5  .4  —  1.9 
General and administrative expenses .6  15.8  —  16.4 
Interest expense - BAM Surplus Notes —  3.0  (3.0) — 

Total expenses 2.1  19.2  (3.0) 18.3 
Pre-tax loss $ (1.8) $ (23.2) $ —  $ (25.0)

Supplemental information:
     MSC collected $ —  $ 13.8  $ —  $ 13.8 

MSC collected are recorded directly to BAM’s equity, which is recorded as non-controlling interest on White Mountains’s balance sheet.

HG Global/BAM Results—Three Months Ended March 31, 2022 versus Three Months Ended March 31, 2021
BAM is required to prepare its financial statements on a statutory accounting basis for the NYDFS and does not report stand-alone GAAP financial results. BAM charges an insurance premium

on each municipal bond insurance policy it writes. A portion of the premium is MSC and the remainder is a risk premium. In the event of a municipal bond refunding, a portion of the MSC from
original issuance can be reutilized, in effect serving as a credit against the total insurance premium on the refunding of the municipal bond.

Gross written premiums and MSC collected in the HG Global/BAM segment totaled $22 million in the first quarter of 2022 compared to $26 million in the first quarter of 2021. BAM insured
$3.5 billion of municipal bonds, $2.8 billion of which were in the primary market, in the first quarter of 2022 compared to $3.5 billion of municipal bonds, $2.5 billion of which were in the primary
market, in the first quarter of 2021. In the first quarter of 2021, BAM completed an assumed reinsurance transaction to insure municipal bonds with a par value of $806 million. Demand remained
strong for insured bonds in the primary market, as insured penetration in the primary market was 8.1% in the first quarter of 2022 compared to 7.5% in the first quarter of 2021.

Total pricing, which reflects both gross written premiums and MSC from new business, decreased to 63 basis points in the first quarter of 2022 compared to 74 basis points in the first quarter of
2021. See “NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES” on page 72. The decrease in total pricing was driven primarily by a decrease in pricing in the primary market, partially offset by an increase in
pricing for the combined secondary and assumed reinsurance markets in the first quarter of 2022 compared to the first quarter of 2021. Pricing in the primary market decreased to 45 basis points in
the first quarter of 2022 compared to 58 basis points in the first quarter of 2021. Pricing in the combined secondary and assumed reinsurance markets increased to 134 basis points in the first quarter
of 2022 compared to 117 basis points in the first quarter of 2021.

(1)

(1) 
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The following table presents the gross par value of primary and secondary market policies issued, the gross par value of assumed reinsurance, the gross written premiums and MSC collected and
total pricing for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021:

Three Months Ended March 31,
$ in Millions 2022 2021

Gross par value of primary market policies issued 2,755.1  $ 2,542.0 
Gross par value of secondary market policies issued 699.1  177.1 
Gross par value of assumed reinsurance —  805.5 
Total gross par value of market policies issued $ 3,454.2  $ 3,524.6 

Gross written premiums 9.4  $ 12.5 
MSC collected 12.3  13.8 
Total gross written premiums and MSC collected $ 21.7  $ 26.3 

Present value of future installment MSC collections —  — 
Gross written premium adjustments on existing installment policies —  — 
Gross written premiums and MSC from new business $ 21.7  $ 26.3 

Total pricing 63 bps 74 bps

 See “NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES” on page 72.

HG Global reported pre-tax loss of $15 million in the first quarter of 2022 compared to $2 million in the first quarter of 2021. The change in pre-tax loss was driven primarily by lower
investment returns on the HG Global fixed income portfolio, as interest rates increased in the first quarter of 2022 resulting in net unrealized losses. Results in the first quarter of 2022 and 2021 both
included $3 million of interest income on the BAM Surplus Notes.

On April 29, 2022, HG Global received the proceeds of a new $150 million, 10-year term loan credit facility. In turn, on May 2, 2022, HG Global paid a $120 million cash dividend to
shareholders, of which $116 million was paid to White Mountains.

BAM is a mutual insurance company that is owned by its members. BAM’s results are consolidated into White Mountains’s GAAP financial statements and attributed to non-controlling interests.
White Mountains reported $36 million of GAAP pre-tax loss from BAM in the first quarter of 2022 compared to $23 million in the first quarter of 2021. The change in pre-tax loss was driven
primarily by lower investment returns on the BAM fixed income portfolio, as interest rates increased in the first quarter of 2022 resulting in net unrealized losses. Results in the first quarter of 2022
and 2021 both included $3 million of interest expense on the BAM Surplus Notes and $16 million of general and administrative expenses.

(1)

(1)
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Through the COVID-19 pandemic, BAM’s portfolio has performed well. All BAM-insured bond payments due
through May 1, 2022 have been made by insureds, and there are no credits on BAM’s watchlist.

Claims Paying Resources
BAM’s claims paying resources represent the capital and other financial resources BAM has available to pay claims and, as such, is a key indication of BAM’s financial strength.
BAM’s claims paying resources were $1,201 million as of March 31, 2022 compared to $1,192 million as of December 31, 2021 and $1,144 million as of March 31, 2021. The increase in claims

paying resources as of March 31, 2022 compared to December 31, 2021 was driven primarily by increases in the statutory value of the collateral trusts resulting from deposits of ceded premiums. In
the first quarter of 2021, BAM completed a reinsurance agreement with Fidus Re that increased BAM’s claims paying resources by $150 million. The reinsurance agreement with Fidus Re is
accounted for using deposit accounting and any related financing expenses are recorded in general and administrative expenses, as the agreement does not meet the risk transfer requirements
necessary to be accounted for as reinsurance.

The following table presents BAM’s total claims paying resources as of March 31, 2022, December 31, 2021 and March 31, 2021:

Millions March 31, 2022 December 31, 2021 March 31, 2021

Policyholders’ surplus $ 294.7  $ 298.1  $ 321.3 

Contingency reserve 105.7  101.8  92.2 

     Qualified statutory capital 400.4  399.9  413.5 

Net unearned premiums 49.8  49.5  46.2 

Present value of future installment premiums and MSC 13.8  13.8  13.9 

HG Re Collateral trusts at statutory value 486.7  478.9  420.7 

Fidus Re Collateral trust at statutory value 250.0  250.0  250.0 
     Claims paying resources $ 1,200.7  $ 1,192.1  $ 1,144.3 
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HG Global/BAM Balance Sheets
The following tables present amounts from HG Global, which includes HG Re and its other wholly-owned subsidiaries, and BAM that are contained within White Mountains’s consolidated

balance sheet as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021:

March 31, 2022

Millions HG Global BAM

Eliminations and
Segment

Adjustment Total

Assets
Fixed maturity investments, at fair value $ 430.6  $ 443.2  $ —  $ 873.8 
Short-term investments, at fair value 33.1  3.4  —  36.5 

Total investments 463.7  446.6  —  910.3 
Cash 12.2  10.1  —  22.3 
BAM Surplus Notes 364.6  —  (364.6) — 
Accrued interest receivable on BAM Surplus Notes 160.6  —  (160.6) — 
Insurance premiums receivable 4.4  6.9  (4.4) 6.9 
Deferred acquisition costs 62.6  33.1  (62.6) 33.1 
Other assets 2.3  16.4  (.3) 18.4 

Total assets $ 1,070.4  $ 513.1  $ (592.5) $ 991.0 
Liabilities

BAM Surplus Notes $ —  $ 364.6  $ (364.6) $ — 
Accrued interest payable on BAM Surplus Notes —  160.6  (160.6) — 
Preferred dividends payable to White Mountains’s
subsidiaries 415.5  —  —  415.5 
Preferred dividends payable to non-controlling interests 14.7  —  —  14.7 
Unearned insurance premiums 222.6  44.7  —  267.3 
Accrued incentive compensation .5  10.7  —  11.2 
Other liabilities .9  80.0  (67.3) 13.6 

Total liabilities 654.2  660.6  (592.5) 722.3 
Equity

White Mountains’s common shareholders’ equity 410.8  —  —  410.8 
Non-controlling interests 5.4  (147.5) —  (142.1)

Total equity 416.2  (147.5) —  268.7 
Total liabilities and equity $ 1,070.4  $ 513.1  $ (592.5) $ 991.0 

Under GAAP, the BAM Surplus Notes are classified as debt by the issuer. Under U.S. Statutory accounting, they are classified as policyholders’ surplus.
Under GAAP, interest accrues daily on the BAM Surplus Notes. Under U.S. Statutory accounting, interest is not accrued on the BAM Surplus Notes until it has been approved for payment by insurance regulators.
HG Global preferred dividends payable to White Mountains’s subsidiaries is eliminated in White Mountains’s consolidated financial statements. For segment reporting, the HG Global preferred dividends payable to White Mountains’s

subsidiaries included within the HG Global/BAM segment are eliminated against the offsetting receivable included within the Other Operations segment, and therefore are added back to White Mountains’s common shareholders’ equity
within the HG Global/BAM segment.

(1)

(2)

(3)

(1)    

(2)    

(3)    
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December 31, 2021

Millions HG Global BAM

Eliminations
and Segment
Adjustment Total Segment

Assets
Fixed maturity investments, at fair value $ 461.7  $ 472.4  $ —  $ 934.1 
Short-term investments, at fair value 17.8  14.6  —  32.4 

Total investments 479.5  487.0  —  966.5 
Cash 13.4  6.4  —  19.8 
BAM Surplus Notes 364.6  —  (364.6) — 
Accrued interest receivable on BAM Surplus Notes 157.6  —  (157.6) — 
Insurance premiums receivable 4.3  6.9  (4.3) 6.9 
Deferred acquisition costs 62.7  33.1  (62.7) 33.1 
Other assets 2.1  16.6  (.2) 18.5 

Total assets $ 1,084.2  $ 550.0  $ (589.4) $ 1,044.8 
Liabilities

BAM Surplus Notes $ —  $ 364.6  $ (364.6) $ — 
Accrued interest payable on BAM Surplus Notes —  157.6  (157.6) — 
Preferred dividends payable to White Mountains’s
subsidiaries 400.5  —  —  400.5 
Preferred dividends payable to non-controlling interests 14.2  —  —  14.2 
Unearned insurance premiums 221.5  44.8  —  266.3 
Accrued incentive compensation 1.1  23.6  —  24.7 
Other liabilities .5  83.4  (67.2) 16.7 

Total liabilities 637.8  674.0  (589.4) 722.4 
Equity

White Mountains’s common shareholders’ equity 437.5  —  —  437.5 
Non-controlling interests 8.9  (124.0) —  (115.1)

Total equity 446.4  (124.0) —  322.4 
Total liabilities and equity $ 1,084.2  $ 550.0  $ (589.4) $ 1,044.8 

Under GAAP, the BAM Surplus Notes are classified as debt by the issuer. Under U.S. Statutory accounting, they are classified as policyholders’ surplus.
Under GAAP, interest accrues daily on the BAM Surplus Notes. Under U.S. Statutory accounting, interest is not accrued on the BAM Surplus Notes until it has been approved for payment by insurance regulators.
HG Global preferred dividends payable to White Mountains’s subsidiaries is eliminated in White Mountains’s consolidated financial statements. For segment reporting, the HG Global preferred dividends payable to White Mountains’s

subsidiaries included within the HG Global/BAM segment are eliminated against the offsetting receivable included within the Other Operations segment, and therefore are added back to White Mountains’s common shareholders’ equity
within the HG Global/BAM segment.






(1)

(2)

(3)

(1)    

(2)    

(3)    

57



Ark
Ark is a specialty property and casualty insurance and reinsurance company that offers a wide range of niche insurance and reinsurance products, including property, marine & energy, specialty,

accident & health and casualty. Ark underwrites select coverages through its two major subsidiaries in the United Kingdom and Bermuda.
The following table presents the components of pre-tax loss included in White Mountains’s Ark segment for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021:

Three Months Ended March 31,
Millions 2022 2021

Earned insurance and reinsurance premiums $ 194.4  $ 104.6 
Net investment income 1.6  .8 
Net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses) (17.5) 1.1 
Other revenues (2.8) 2.6 

Total revenues 175.7  109.1 
Losses and LAE 122.0  66.0 
Insurance and reinsurance acquisition expenses 49.9  36.7 
General and administrative expenses - other underwriting 22.1  11.2 
General and administrative expenses - all other 1.0  26.6 
Interest expense 3.8  1.1 

Total expenses 198.8 141.6
Pre-tax income (loss) $ (23.1) $ (32.5)



For the years of account prior to the Ark Transaction, a significant proportion of the Syndicates’ underwriting capital was provided by TPC Providers using whole account reinsurance contracts

with Ark’s corporate member. The TPC Providers’ participation in the Syndicates for the 2020 open year of account is 43% of the total net result of the Syndicates. For the years of account
subsequent to the Ark Transaction, Ark is no longer using TPC Providers to provide underwriting capital for the Syndicates. Captions within Ark’s results of operations are shown net of amounts
relating to the TPC Providers share of the Syndicates’ results, including investment results.

Ark Results—Three Months Ended March 31, 2022 versus Three Months Ended March 31, 2021
Ark reported gross written premiums of $633 million, net written premiums of $544 million and net earned premiums of $194 million in the first quarter of 2022 compared to gross written

premiums of $405 million, net written premiums of $342 million and net earned premiums of $105 million in the first quarter of 2021. Ark reported pre-tax loss of $23 million in the first quarter of
2022 compared to $33 million in first quarter of 2021. Ark’s pre-tax loss for the first quarter of 2022 included $18 million of net unrealized investment losses, driven primarily by losses on fixed
income securities in its investment portfolio. Ark’s pre-tax loss for the first quarter of 2021 reflected $25 million of transaction expenses related to the Ark Transaction.

Ark’s GAAP combined ratio was 100% in the first quarter of 2022 compared to 109% in the first quarter of 2021. Ark’s adjusted combined ratio, which adds back amounts attributable to TPC
Providers, was 101% in the first quarter of 2022 compared to 108% in the first quarter of 2021. The GAAP combined ratio for the first quarter of 2022 included 17 points of catastrophe losses, of
which 11 points related to an estimate for incurred losses emanating from the conflict in Ukraine, compared to 16 points in the first quarter of 2021, of which 12 points related to Winter Storm Uri.
The adjusted combined ratio for the first quarter of 2022 included 16 points of catastrophe losses, of which 11 points related to an estimate for incurred losses emanating from the conflict in Ukraine,
compared to 17 points in the first quarter of 2021, of which 14 points related to Winter Storm Uri. Incurred losses related to Ukraine could increase as the conflict continues.
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The following table presents Ark’s loss and LAE, insurance acquisition expense, other underwriting expense and combined ratios on both a GAAP-basis and an adjusted basis, which adds back
amounts attributable to TPC Providers, for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021:

Three Months Ended March 31, 2022
$ in Millions GAAP TPC Providers’ Share Adjusted 

Insurance premiums:
Gross written premiums $ 633.1  $ —  $ 633.1 
Net written premiums $ 543.8  $ 1.8  $ 545.6 
Net earned premiums $ 194.4  $ 4.8  $ 199.2 

Insurance expenses:
Loss and loss adjustment expenses $ 122.0  $ 5.7  $ 127.7 
Insurance and reinsurance acquisition expenses 49.9  —  49.9 
Other underwriting expenses 22.1  1.0  23.1 

Total insurance expenses $ 194.0  $ 6.7  $ 200.7 

Ratios:
Loss and loss adjustment expense 62.7 % 64.1 %
Insurance and reinsurance acquisition expense 25.7 % 25.1 %
Other underwriting expense 11.4 % 11.6 %
Combined Ratio 99.8 % 100.8 %

See “NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES” on page 72.

Three Months Ended March 31, 2021
$ in Millions GAAP Third Party Capital Share Adjusted 

Insurance premiums:
Gross written premiums $ 404.5  $ —  $ 404.5 
Net written premiums $ 342.4  $ (5.0) $ 337.4 
Net earned premiums $ 104.6  $ 31.2  $ 135.8 

Insurance expenses:
Loss and loss adjustment expenses $ 66.0  $ 31.6  $ 97.6 
Insurance and reinsurance acquisition expenses 36.7  —  36.7 
Other underwriting expenses 11.2  1.3  12.5 

Total insurance expenses $ 113.9  $ 32.9  $ 146.8 

Ratios:
Loss and loss adjustment expense 63.1 % 71.9 %
Insurance and reinsurance acquisition expense 35.1 % 27.0 %
Other underwriting expense 10.7 % 9.2 %
Combined Ratio 108.9 % 108.1 %

See “NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES” on page 72.

(1)

(1) 

(1)

(1) 
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Gross Written Premiums
The following table presents Ark’s gross written premiums by line of business for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021. Gross written premiums increased 57% to $633 million in

the first quarter of 2022 compared to the first quarter of 2021, with risk adjusted rate change up approximately 9% year over year. During the first quarter of 2022, in response to the continuing firm
market conditions and a full complement of underwriters at GAIL, Ark substantially increased its gross written premiums, principally in the specialty, property, and marine & energy lines of business.

Three Months Ended March 31,
Millions 2022 2021

Specialty $ 217.3  $ 120.1 
Marine & Energy 178.0  131.1 
Property 173.4  103.6 
Accident & Health 39.5  36.4 
Casualty 24.9  13.3 
   Total Gross Written Premium $ 633.1  $ 404.5 

Catastrophe Risk Management
Ark has exposure to losses caused by unpredictable catastrophic events including natural and other disasters such as hurricanes, windstorms, earthquakes, floods, wildfires, tornadoes, tsunamis,

and severe winter weather all over the world. Catastrophes can also include large losses driven by public health crises, terrorist attacks, explosions, infrastructure failures, cyber-attacks and armed
conflicts. The extent of a catastrophe loss is a function of both the severity of the event and total amount of insured exposure to the event, as well as the coverage provided to customers.

Ark seeks to manage its exposure to catastrophic losses by limiting and monitoring the aggregate insured value of policies in geographic areas with exposure to catastrophic events and by buying
reinsurance. To manage, monitor and analyze insured values and potential losses, Ark utilizes proprietary and third-party catastrophe management software to estimate potential losses for many
different catastrophe scenarios.

Ark estimates that its two largest modeled probable maximum loss natural catastrophe scenarios on a per occurrence basis at a 1-in-250-year return period are U.S. windstorms and U.S.
earthquakes. The April 2022 net after-tax estimated impact of a 1-in-250-year return period loss is 32% and 16% of total tangible capital (shareholders equity and subordinated debt) for U.S.
windstorms and U.S. earthquakes, respectively. In each case, the net impact is after income taxes, reinstatement premiums, amounts ceded to third-party reinsurers, and amounts attributable to TPC
Providers. The April 2022 net after-tax exposure to U.S. windstorms does not reflect the full placement of Ark’s outwards reinsurance program planned for 2022. Once the placement of the outwards
reinsurance program is completed in advance of the peak U.S. windstorm season, and as underlying tangible capital grows with expected earnings during the course of the year, Ark expects the net
after-tax exposure to this zone to be roughly 25-30% of total tangible capital, generally in line with its business plan for 2022.

In addition, Ark also has loss exposures to other global events including, but not limited to, Japanese earthquakes, Japanese windstorms, European windstorms, Southeast U.S. windstorms, and
U.S. wildfires. Outside of natural catastrophe losses, Ark has exposure to non-natural or man-made large losses. The current largest exposures are cyber, offshore energy production platforms,
terrorism events and political risk.
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NSM
NSM is a full-service MGA and program administrator with delegated binding authorities for specialty property and casualty insurance. The company places insurance in niche sectors such as

specialty transportation, pet, real estate, and social services. On behalf of its insurance carrier partners, NSM typically manages all aspects of the placement process, including product development,
marketing, underwriting, policy issuance and claims. NSM earns commissions based on the volume and profitability of the insurance that it places. NSM does not take insurance risk.

The following table presents the components of GAAP net income (loss), EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA included in White Mountains’s NSM segment for the three months ended March 31,
2022 and 2021.

Three Months Ended March 31,
Millions 2022 2021

Commission revenues $ 70.1  $ 59.6 
Broker commission expenses 20.6  18.9 

Gross profit 49.5  40.7 
Other revenues 18.4  15.2 
General and administrative expenses 54.0  46.0 
Change in fair value of contingent consideration .1  — 
Amortization of other intangible assets 9.1  8.6 
Loss on assets held for sale —  28.7 
Interest expense 2.1  5.9 

GAAP pre-tax income (loss) 2.6  (33.3)
Income tax (expense) benefit .4  8.0 

GAAP net income (loss) 3.0  (25.3)
Add back:
Interest expense 2.1  5.9 
Income tax expense (benefit) (.4) (8.0)
General and administrative expenses — depreciation 1.2  1.1 
Amortization of other intangible assets 9.1  8.6 

EBITDA 15.0  (17.7)
Exclude:
Change in fair value of contingent consideration .1  — 
Non-cash equity-based compensation expense .8  .6 
Impairments of intangible assets —  — 
Loss on assets held for sale —  28.7 
Transaction expenses 1.3  — 
Investments made in the development of new business lines .3  — 
Restructuring expenses .6  2.8 
Legal settlements —  — 

Adjusted EBITDA $ 18.1  $ 14.4 

See “NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES” on page 72.

(1)

(1)

(1) 
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NSM Results—Three Months Ended March 31, 2022 versus Three Months Ended March 31, 2021
NSM reported commission and other revenues of $89 million, pre-tax income of $3 million and adjusted EBITDA of $18 million in the first quarter of 2022. NSM reported commission and other

revenues of $75 million, pre-tax loss of $33 million and adjusted EBITDA of $14 million in the first quarter of 2021. Results for the first quarter of 2022 include the results of J.C. Taylor, an MGA
offering classic and antique collector car insurance, which was acquired on August 6, 2021. See Note 2 — “Significant Transactions”. In addition to the acquisition of J.C. Taylor, commission and
other revenues, pre-tax income and adjusted EBITDA benefited from growth in the pet and diversified B2B verticals. Beginning in the first quarter of 2022, NSM changed the name of the “other”
vertical to “diversified B2B”. NSM’s general and administrative expenses were $54 million in the first quarter of 2022 compared to $46 million in the first quarter of 2021, driven primarily by the
acquisition of J.C. Taylor and increases in personnel costs. NSM’s pre-tax loss in the first quarter of 2021 included a loss of $29 million related to the sale of its Fresh Insurance motor business, which
was sold on April 12, 2021.

NSM Business Trends
NSM’s business consists of approximately 25 active programs that are broadly categorized into six market verticals. J.C. Taylor was added to the Specialty Transportation vertical in the third

quarter of 2021. The following table presents the controlled premium and commission and other revenues by vertical for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021:

Three Months Ended March 31,
2022 2021

$ in Millions
Controlled
Premium 

Commission and
Other Revenues

Controlled
Premium 

Commission and
Other Revenues

Specialty Transportation $ 91.5  $ 26.5  $ 74.8  $ 20.7 
Pet 59.6  23.4  43.7  17.1 
United Kingdom 55.4  12.6  52.3  13.1 
Real Estate 44.8  10.5  42.8  9.8 
Social Services 27.4  7.0  27.0  6.7 
Diversified B2B 46.4  8.5  39.4  7.4 

Total $ 325.1  $ 88.5  $ 280.0  $ 74.8 

Controlled Premium are total premiums placed by NSM during the period.

Specialty Transportation: NSM’s specialty transportation controlled premium and commission and other revenues increased 22% and 28% in the first quarter of 2022 compared to the first
quarter of 2021, driven primarily by the acquisition of J.C. Taylor, unit growth and the impact of higher profit commissions in collector car, and unit growth in the trucking business.

Pet: NSM’s pet controlled premium and commission and other revenues increased by 36% and 37% in the first quarter of 2022 compared to the first quarter of 2021, driven primarily by
substantial increases in both rates and units.

United Kingdom: NSM’s U.K. controlled premium increased 6% in the first quarter of 2022 compared to the first quarter of 2021, driven primarily by growth in the MGA business, partially
offset by a decline in Kingsbridge. U.K. commission and other revenues declined 4% in the first quarter of 2022 compared to the first quarter of 2021, driven primarily by a shift to lower rate
products.

Real Estate: NSM’s real estate controlled premium and commission and other revenues increased 5% and 7% in the first quarter of 2022 compared to the first quarter of 2021, driven primarily by
increases in both rates and units in the excess and surplus habitational program, partially offset by unit declines in the coastal condominium program due to lower insurance carrier capacity.

Social Services: NSM’s social services controlled premium and commission and other revenues increased 1% and 4% in the first quarter of 2022 compared to the first quarter of 2021, driven
primarily by increases in rates.

Diversified B2B: NSM’s diversified B2B controlled premium and commission and other revenues increased 18% and 15% in the first quarter of 2022 compared to the first quarter of 2021. The
increase in controlled premium was driven primarily by unit growth in the workers compensation and architects and engineers businesses. The increase in commission and other revenues was driven
primarily by the increase in controlled premium, slightly offset by a shift in mix to lower rate products.

(1) (1)

(1) 
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Kudu

Kudu provides capital solutions for boutique asset and wealth managers for a variety of purposes including generational ownership transfers, management buyouts, acquisition and growth
finance, and legacy partner liquidity. Kudu also provides strategic assistance to investees from time to time.

As of March 31, 2022, Kudu has deployed a total of $612 million in 17 asset and wealth management firms globally, including one that was exited. As of March 31, 2022, the asset and wealth
management firms have combined assets under management of approximately $65 billion, spanning a range of asset classes, including real estate, real assets, wealth management, hedge funds,
private equity and alternative credit strategies.

On March 23, 2021, Kudu replaced the Kudu Bank Facility with the Kudu Credit Facility. Subject to maximum loan to value (“LTV”) levels, the total borrowing capacity of the Kudu Credit
Facility is $300 million (which includes the current advanced amount of $225 million). See Note 7 — “Debt”.

The following table presents the components of GAAP net income, EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA included in White Mountains’s Kudu segment for the three months ended March 31, 2022
and 2021:

Three Months Ended March 31,
Millions 2022 2021

Net investment income $ 12.6  $ 8.2 
Net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses) 22.3  15.8 
Other revenues —  .1 

Total revenues 34.9  24.1 
General and administrative expenses 2.7  2.5 
Amortization of other intangible assets .1  .1 
Interest expense 2.8  5.8 

Total expenses 5.6  8.4 
GAAP pre-tax income (loss) 29.3  15.7 

Income tax (expense) benefit (6.1) (7.8)
GAAP net income (loss) 23.2  7.9 

Add back:
Interest expense 2.8  5.8 
Income tax expense (benefit) 6.1  7.8 
General and administrative expenses - depreciation —  — 
Amortization of other intangible assets .1  .1 

EBITDA 32.2  21.6 
Exclude:
Net realized and unrealized investment (gains) losses (22.3) (15.8)
Non-cash equity-based compensation expense .1  .1 
Transaction expenses —  — 

Adjusted EBITDA $ 10.0  $ 5.9 

See “NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES” on page 72.

Kudu Results—Three Months Ended March 31, 2022 versus Three Months Ended March 31, 2021
Kudu reported total revenues of $35 million, pre-tax income of $29 million and adjusted EBITDA of $10 million in the first quarter of 2022 compared to total revenues of $24 million, pre-tax

income of $16 million and adjusted EBITDA of $6 million in the first quarter of 2021. The increases in Kudu’s total revenues, pre-tax income and adjusted EBITDA were driven primarily by
amounts earned from $225 million in new deployments, including transaction costs, that Kudu made during 2021. Total revenues and pre-tax income in the first quarter of 2022 included $22 million
of net unrealized gains on Kudu’s Participation Contracts compared to $16 million in the first quarter of 2021. Total revenues, pre-tax income and adjusted EBITDA in the first quarter of 2022 also
included $13 million of net investment income compared to $8 million in the first quarter of 2021.

(1)

(1)

(1) 
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Other Operations

The following table presents the components of pre-tax income (loss) included in White Mountains’s Other Operations segment for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021:
Three Months Ended March 31,

Millions 2022 2021

Net investment income $ 1.8  $ 7.1 
Net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses) 31.9  2.1 
Net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses) from 


   investment in MediaAlpha 18.8  (41.7)
Commission revenues 2.9  2.3 
Other revenues 25.7  7.1 

Total revenues 81.1  (23.1)
Cost of sales 21.4  4.0 
General and administrative expenses 28.9  35.7 
Amortization of other intangible assets .9  .5 
Interest expense .3  .3 

Total expenses 51.5  40.5 
Pre-tax income (loss) $ 29.6  $ (63.6)

Other Operations Results—Three Months Ended March 31, 2022 versus Three Months Ended March 31, 2021
White Mountains’s Other Operations segment reported pre-tax income (loss) of $30 million in the first quarter of 2022 compared to $(64) million in the first quarter of 2021. White Mountains’s

Other Operations segment reported net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses) from its investment in MediaAlpha of $19 million in the first quarter of 2022 compared to $(42) million in the
first quarter of 2021. Excluding MediaAlpha, White Mountains’s Other Operations segment reported net realized and unrealized investment gains of $32 million in the first quarter of 2022 compared
to $2 million in the first quarter of 2021, driven primarily by unrealized investment gains from private equity funds in the first quarter of 2022. White Mountains’s Other Operations segment reported
net investment income of $2 million in the first quarter of 2022 compared to $7 million in the first quarter of 2021, driven primarily by lower distributions from private equity funds in the first quarter
of 2022 compared to the first quarter of 2021. See Summary of Investment Results on page 65.

The Other Operations segment reported $26 million of other revenues in the first quarter of 2022 compared to $7 million in the first quarter of 2021. The Other Operations segment reported $21
million of cost of sales in the first quarter of 2022 compared to $4 million in the first quarter of 2021. The increases in other revenues and cost of sales were driven primarily by an acquisition within
the Other Operations segment in the second quarter of 2021.

The Other Operations segment reported general and administrative expenses of $29 million in the first quarter of 2022 compared to $36 million in the first quarter of 2021. The decreases in
general and administrative expenses in the first quarter of 2022 compared to the first quarter of 2021 were driven primarily by lower incentive compensation costs.
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II. Summary of Investment Results
 

White Mountains’s total investment results include results from all segments. For purposes of discussing rates of return, all percentages are presented gross of management fees and trading
expenses and are calculated before any adjustments for TPC Providers in order to produce a better comparison to benchmark returns.

Gross Investment Returns and Benchmark Returns

Prior to the MediaAlpha IPO, White Mountains’s investment in MediaAlpha was presented within other long-term investments. Following the MediaAlpha IPO, White Mountains presents its
investment in MediaAlpha in a separate line item on the balance sheet. Amounts for periods prior to the MediaAlpha IPO have been reclassified to be comparable to the current period.

The following table presents the pre-tax investment returns for White Mountains’s consolidated portfolio for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021:

Three Months Ended

 

March 31,

 

2022 2021

Fixed income investments (3.2)% (1.0)%
Bloomberg Barclays U.S. Intermediate Aggregate Index (4.7)% (1.6)%

Common equity securities 0.2 % 1.8 %
Investment in MediaAlpha 7.2 % (8.5)%
Other long-term investments 6.0 % 4.1 %

Total common equity securities, investment in MediaAlpha and other long-term investments 5.3 % 0.8 %
Total common equity securities and other long-term investments 5.0 % 3.8 %

S&P 500 Index (total return) (4.6)% 6.2 %

Total consolidated portfolio 0.8 % (0.3)%
Total consolidated portfolio - excluding MediaAlpha 0.3 % 0.7 %

Investment Returns—Three Months Ended March 31, 2022 versus Three Months Ended March 31, 2021

White Mountains’s pre-tax total consolidated portfolio return on invested assets was 0.8% in the first quarter of 2022. This return included $19 million of unrealized investment gains from White
Mountains’s investment in MediaAlpha. Excluding MediaAlpha, the total consolidated portfolio return on invested assets was 0.3% in the first quarter of 2022. Excluding MediaAlpha, investment
returns in the first quarter of 2022 were driven primarily by net unrealized investments gains in the other long-term investments portfolio, which more than offset net unrealized investment losses in
the fixed income portfolio due to rising interest rates. White Mountains’s pre-tax total consolidated portfolio return on invested assets was -0.3% in the first quarter of 2021. This return included $42
million of net realized and unrealized investment losses from White Mountains’s investment in MediaAlpha. Excluding MediaAlpha, the total consolidated portfolio return on invested assets was
0.7% in the first quarter of 2021. Excluding MediaAlpha, investment returns in the first quarter of 2021 were driven primarily by net unrealized investments gains in the other long-term investments
portfolio, which more than offset net unrealized investment losses in the fixed income portfolio due to rising interest rates.
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Fixed Income Results
White Mountains’s fixed income portfolio, including short-term investments, was $2.1 billion and $2.4 billion as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, which represented 52% and 56% of

total invested assets. The duration of White Mountains’s fixed income portfolio, including short-term investments, was 2.9 years and 2.6 years as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021. White
Mountains’s fixed income portfolio includes fixed maturity investments and short-term investments in the HG Re Collateral Trusts of $464 million and $480 million as of March 31, 2022 and
December 31, 2021.

White Mountains’s fixed income portfolio return was -3.2% in the first quarter of 2022 compared to -1.0% in the first quarter of 2021, outperforming the Bloomberg Barclays U.S. Intermediate
Aggregate Index returns of -4.7% and -1.6% for the comparable periods. The relative results in the first quarter of 2022 and 2021 were driven primarily by the short duration positioning of White
Mountains’s fixed income portfolio as interest rates increased in both periods.

Common Equity Securities, Investment in MediaAlpha and Other Long-Term Investments Results
White Mountains’s portfolio of common equity securities, its investment in MediaAlpha and other long-term investments was $2.0 billion and $1.9 billion as of March 31, 2022 and December

31, 2021, which represented 48% and 44% of total invested assets. See Note 3 — “Investment Securities”.
White Mountains’s portfolio of common equity securities, its investment in MediaAlpha and other long-term investments returned 5.3% in the first quarter of 2022, which included $19 million of

unrealized investment gains from MediaAlpha. White Mountains’s portfolio of common equity securities and other long-term investments returned 5.0% in the first quarter of 2022.
White Mountains’s portfolio of common equity securities, its investment in MediaAlpha and other long-term investments returned 0.8% in the first quarter of 2021, which included $42 million of

net realized and unrealized investment losses from MediaAlpha. White Mountains’s portfolio of common equity securities and other long-term investments returned 3.8% in the first quarter of 2021.
White Mountains maintains a portfolio of common equity securities that consists of international listed funds held in the Ark portfolio. White Mountains’s portfolio of common equity securities

was $290 million and $251 million as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021.
White Mountains’s portfolio of common equity securities returned 0.2% in the first quarter of 2022 compared to 1.8% in the first quarter of 2021, outperforming and underperforming the S&P

500 Index returns of -4.6% and 6.2% for the comparable periods. The results in the first quarter of 2022 and 2021 were driven primarily by relative outperformance and underperformance in White
Mountains’s international listed funds as compared to the S&P 500 Index.

White Mountains maintains a portfolio of other long-term investments that consists primarily of unconsolidated entities, including Kudu’s Participation Contracts, private equity funds and hedge
funds, a bank loan fund, Lloyd’s trust deposits, ILS funds and private debt investments. White Mountains’s portfolio of other long-term investments was $1.4 billion as of March 31, 2022 and
December 31, 2021.

White Mountains’s other long-term investments portfolio returned 6.0% in the first quarter of 2022 compared to 4.1% in the first quarter of 2021. Investment returns for the first quarter of 2022
were driven primarily by $45 million of net investment income and net realized and unrealized investment gains from private equity funds and $35 million of net investment income and net
unrealized investment gains from Kudu’s Participation Contracts. Investment returns in the first quarter of 2021 were driven primarily by $15 million of net investment income and net realized and
unrealized investment gains from private equity funds and $24 million of net investment income and net unrealized investment gains from Kudu’s Participation Contracts. Investment results from
Kudu’s Participation Contracts were driven primarily by asset growth and solid performance across Kudu’s underlying asset management businesses in both periods.
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Foreign Currency Exposure

As of March 31, 2022, White Mountains had foreign currency exposure on $290 million of net assets primarily related to Ark’s non-U.S. business, NSM’s U.K.-based operations, Kudu’s non-
U.S. Participation Contracts, and certain other foreign consolidated and unconsolidated entities

The following table presents the fair value of White Mountains’s foreign denominated net assets (net liabilities) by segment as of March 31, 2022:

Currency 

$ in Millions Ark NSM Kudu

Other
Operations

Total Fair
Value

% of Total
Shareholders’ Equity

CAD $ 53.9  $ —  $ 84.8  $ —  $ 138.7  3.8  %
GBP 16.4  112.1  —  —  128.5  3.5 
AUD 24.9  —  42.6  —  67.5  1.8 
EUR (60.1) —  —  12.6  (47.5) (1.3)
All other —  —  —  3.2  3.2  .1 

Total $ 35.1  $ 112.1  $ 127.4  $ 15.8  $ 290.4  7.9 %



III. Income Taxes

The Company and its Bermuda domiciled subsidiaries are not subject to Bermuda income tax under current Bermuda law. In the event there is a change in the current law such that taxes are
imposed, the Bermuda Exempted Undertakings Tax Protection Act of 1966 states that the Company and its Bermuda domiciled subsidiaries would be exempt from such tax until March 31, 2035. The
Company has subsidiaries and branches that operate in various other jurisdictions around the world and are subject to tax in the jurisdictions in which they operate.  As of March 31, 2022, the primary
jurisdictions in which the Company’s subsidiaries and branches were subject to tax were Ireland, Israel, Luxembourg, the United Kingdom and the United States.

White Mountains’s income tax benefit related to pre-tax loss from continuing operations for the three months ended March 31, 2022 represented an effective tax rate of 31%. The effective tax
rate was different from the U.S. statutory rate of 21% due to income in jurisdictions with lower tax rates than the United States and a decline in the full valuation allowance on net deferred tax assets
in certain U.S. operations, consisting of the WM Adams, Inc. consolidated tax group within the Other Operations segment, offset by an increase in the full valuation allowance at BAM and state
income taxes.

White Mountains’s income tax benefit related to pre-tax loss from continuing operations for the three months ended March 31, 2021 represented an effective tax rate of 7%. The effective tax rate
was different from the U.S. statutory rate of 21%, due to income generated in jurisdictions with lower tax rates than the United States.

IV. Discontinued Operations

In the first quarter of 2021, White Mountains recorded an $18 million gain within discontinued operations as a result of reversing a liability arising from the tax indemnification provided in
connection with the sale of Sirius Group in 2016 and a $1 million gain related to foreign currency translation. The liability related to certain interest deductions claimed by Sirius Group that had been
disputed by the Swedish Tax Agency. In April 2021, the Swedish Tax Agency informed the Swedish Administrative Court of Appeal that Sirius Group should prevail in its appeal (and that the
interest deductions should not be disallowed). In June 2021, the Swedish Administrative Court of Appeal ruled in Sirius Group’s favor. See Note 19 — “Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations” on page 46.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
 
Operating Cash and Short-term Investments

Holding Company Level 
The primary sources of cash for the Company and certain of its intermediate holding companies are expected to be distributions from its insurance, reinsurance and other operating subsidiaries,

net investment income, proceeds from sales, repayments and maturities of investments, capital raising activities and, from time to time, proceeds from sales of operating subsidiaries. The primary
uses of cash are expected to be general and administrative expenses, purchases of investments, payments to tax authorities, payments on and repurchases/retirements of debt obligations, dividend
payments to holders of the Company’s common shares, distributions to non-controlling interest holders of consolidated subsidiaries, contributions to operating subsidiaries and, from time to time,
purchases of operating subsidiaries and repurchases of the Company’s common shares.

Operating Subsidiary Level 
The primary sources of cash for White Mountains’s insurance, reinsurance and other operating subsidiaries are expected to be premium and fee collections, commissions, net investment income,

proceeds from sales, repayments and maturities of investments, contributions from holding companies and capital raising activities. The primary uses of cash are expected to be claim payments,
policy acquisition costs, general and administrative expenses, broker commission expenses, cost of sales, purchases of investments, payments to tax authorities, payments on and
repurchases/retirements of debt obligations, distributions made to holding companies, distributions to non-controlling interest holders and, from time to time, purchases of operating subsidiaries.

Both internal and external forces influence White Mountains’s financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. Premium and fee collections, investment returns, claims payments and
cost of sales may be impacted by changing rates of inflation and other economic conditions. Some time may lapse between the occurrence of an insured loss, the reporting of the loss to White
Mountains’s insurance and reinsurance operating subsidiaries and the settlement of the liability for that loss. The exact timing of the payment of losses cannot be predicted with certainty. White
Mountains’s insurance and reinsurance operating subsidiaries maintain portfolios of invested assets with varying maturities and a substantial amount of cash and short-term investments to provide
adequate liquidity for the payment of claims.

Management believes that White Mountains’s cash balances, cash flows from operations and routine sales and maturities of investments are adequate to meet expected cash requirements for the
foreseeable future on both a holding company and insurance, reinsurance and other operating subsidiary level.

Dividend Capacity

Following is a description of the dividend capacity of White Mountains’s insurance and reinsurance and other operating subsidiaries:

HG Global/BAM
As of March 31, 2022, HG Global had $619 million face value of preferred shares outstanding, of which White Mountains owned 96.9%. Holders of the HG Global preferred shares receive

cumulative dividends at a fixed annual rate of 6.0% on a quarterly basis, when and if declared by HG Global. As of March 31, 2022, HG Global has accrued $430 million of dividends payable to
holders of its preferred shares, $416 million of which is payable to White Mountains and is eliminated in consolidation. As of March 31, 2022, HG Global and its subsidiaries had $9 million of cash
outside of HG Re.

During the first quarter of 2022, HG Global did not declare any preferred dividends. On April 29, 2022, HG Global received the proceeds of a new $150 million, 10-year term loan credit facility.
In turn, on May 2, 2022, HG Global paid a $120 million cash dividend to shareholders, of which $116 million was paid to White Mountains.

HG Re is a Special Purpose Insurer subject to regulation and supervision by the BMA, but it does not require regulatory approval to pay dividends. However, HG Re’s dividend capacity is
limited to amounts held outside of the Collateral Trusts pursuant to the FLRT with BAM. As of March 31, 2022, HG Re had $739 million of statutory capital and surplus and $836 million of assets
held in the Collateral Trusts pursuant to the FLRT with BAM.

On a monthly basis, BAM deposits cash equal to ceded premiums, net of ceding commissions, due to HG Re under the FLRT directly into the Regulation 114 Trust.  The Regulation 114 Trust
target balance is equal to gross ceded unearned premiums and unpaid ceded loss and LAE expenses, if any.  If, at the end of any quarter, the Regulation 114 Trust balance is below the target balance,
funds will be withdrawn from the Supplemental Trust and deposited into the Regulation 114 Trust in an amount equal to the shortfall.  If, at the end of any quarter, the Regulation 114 Trust balance is
above 102% of the target balance, funds will be withdrawn from the Regulation 114 Trust and deposited into the Supplemental Trust. 
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The Supplemental Trust Target Balance is $603 million, less the amount of cash and securities in the Regulation 114 Trust in excess of its target balance.  If, at the end of any quarter, the
Supplemental Trust balance exceeds the Supplemental Trust Target Balance, such excess may be distributed to HG Re.  The distribution will be made first as an assignment of accrued interest on the
BAM Surplus Notes and second in cash and/or fixed income securities.  As the BAM Surplus Notes are repaid over time, the BAM Surplus Notes will be replaced in the Supplemental Trust by cash
and fixed income securities.

As of March 31, 2022, the Collateral Trusts held assets of $836 million, which included $466 million of cash and investments, $365 million of BAM Surplus Notes and $5 million of interest
receivable on the BAM Surplus Notes.

As of March 31, 2022, HG Re had $2 million of cash and investments and $120 million of accrued interest on the BAM Surplus Notes held outside the Collateral Trusts.
Through 2024, the interest rate on the BAM Surplus Notes is a variable rate equal to the one-year U.S. Treasury rate plus 300 basis points, set annually. During 2022, the interest rate on the BAM

Surplus Notes is 3.2%. Beginning in 2025, the interest rate will be fixed at the higher of the then current variable rate or 8.0%. Under its agreements with HG Global, BAM is required to seek
regulatory approval to pay interest and principal on the BAM Surplus Notes only to the extent that its remaining qualified statutory capital and other capital resources continue to support its
outstanding obligations, its business plan and its “AA/stable” rating from Standard & Poor’s. No payment of principal or interest on the BAM Surplus Notes may be made without the approval of the
NYDFS.

During the three months ended March 31, 2022, BAM made no repayments of the BAM Surplus Notes or accrued interest. See Note 10 — “Municipal Bond Guarantee Insurance”.

Ark
During any 12-month period, GAIL, a class 4 licensed Bermuda insurer, has the ability to (i) make capital distributions based on 15% of its total statutory capital per the previous year’s statutory

financial statements, or (ii) make dividend payments based on 25% of its total statutory capital and surplus per the previous year’s statutory financial statements, without prior approval of Bermuda
regulatory authorities. Accordingly, White Mountains expects GAIL will have the ability to make capital distributions of $114 million during 2022, which is equal to 15% of its December 31, 2021
statutory capital of $758 million, subject to meeting all appropriate liquidity and solvency requirements. During the three months ended March 31, 2022, GAIL did not pay a dividend to its immediate
parent.

As of March 31, 2022, Ark and its intermediate holding companies had $27 million of net unrestricted cash, short-term investments and fixed maturity investments outside of its regulated and
unregulated insurance and reinsurance operating subsidiaries. During the three months ended March 31, 2021, Ark did not pay any dividends to its immediate parent.

NSM
During the three months ended March 31, 2022, NSM distributed $2 million to unitholders, substantially all of which was paid to White Mountains. As of March 31, 2022, NSM had $23 million

of net unrestricted cash.

Kudu
During the three months ended March 31, 2022, Kudu distributed $4 million to unitholders, substantially all of which was paid to White Mountains. As of March 31, 2022, Kudu had $21 million

of net unrestricted cash.

Other Operations
During the three months ended March 31, 2022, White Mountains paid a $3 million common share dividend. As of March 31, 2022, the Company and its intermediate holding companies had

$352 million of net unrestricted cash, short-term investments and fixed maturity investments, $280 million of MediaAlpha common stock and $223 million of private equity funds and ILS funds.
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Financing

The following table presents White Mountains’s capital structure as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021:

$ in Millions
March 31,


2022
December 31,


2021

Ark 2007 Subordinated Notes $ 30.0  $ 30.0 
Ark 2021 Subordinated Notes 154.8  155.9 
NSM Bank Facility 270.0  271.2 
Other NSM debt 0.6  0.9 
Kudu Credit Facility 218.2  218.2 
Other Operations debt 17.3  16.8 

Total debt 690.9  693.0 
Non-controlling interests—excluding BAM 274.7  280.6 
Total White Mountains’s common shareholders’ equity 3,542.1  3,548.1 

Total capital 4,507.7  4,521.7 
Time-value discount on expected future payments on the BAM Surplus
Notes (120.9) (125.9)
HG Global’s unearned premium reserve 215.8  214.6 
HG Global’s net deferred acquisition costs (60.6) (60.8)

Total adjusted capital $ 4,542.0  $ 4,549.6 

Total debt to total adjusted capital 15.2 % 15.2 %

See Note 7 — “Debt” for details of debt arrangements.
 Net of unamortized issuance costs.
Amount reflects White Mountains’s preferred share ownership in HG Global of 96.9%.

Management believes that White Mountains has the flexibility and capacity to obtain funds externally through debt or equity financing on both a short-term and long-term basis. However,
White Mountains can provide no assurance that, if needed, it would be able to obtain additional debt or equity financing on satisfactory terms, if at all.

It is possible that, in the future, one or more of the rating agencies may lower White Mountains’s existing ratings. If one or more of its ratings were lowered, White Mountains could incur higher
borrowing costs on future borrowings and its ability to access the capital markets could be impacted.

Covenant Compliance
As of March 31, 2022, White Mountains was in compliance in all material respects with all of the covenants under its debt instruments.

Share Repurchases

White Mountains’s board of directors has authorized the Company to repurchase its common shares from time to time, subject to market conditions. The repurchase authorizations do not have a
stated expiration date. As of March 31, 2022, White Mountains may repurchase an additional 417,800 shares under these board authorizations. In addition, from time to time White Mountains has
also repurchased its common shares through tender offers that were separately approved by its board of directors.

During the three months ended March 31, 2022, White Mountains repurchased and retired 37,435 of its common shares for $39 million at an average share price of $1,039, which was
approximately 86% of White Mountains’s adjusted book value per share as of March 31, 2022. Of the shares White Mountains repurchased in the first three months of 2022, 4,011 were to satisfy
employee income tax withholding pursuant to employee benefit plans, which do not reduce the board authorizations.

During the three months ended March 31, 2021, White Mountains repurchased and retired 7,161 of its common shares for $7 million, at an average share price of $1,039, which was
approximately 84% of White Mountains’s adjusted book value per share as of March 31, 2021. All of the shares White Mountains repurchased in the first three months of 2021 were to satisfy
employee income tax withholding pursuant to employee benefit plans.

(1)

(1)(2)

(1)(2)

(1)

(1)(2)

(1)(2)

(3)

(3)

(3)

(1) 

(2)
(3) 
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Cash Flows

Detailed information concerning White Mountains’s cash flows during the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 follows:
 

Cash flows from operations for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and March 31, 2021

Net cash used for operations was $42 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022 compared to $93 million for the three months ended March 31, 2021. The decrease in cash used for
operations was driven primarily by cash provided from Ark’s operations in 2022 compared to cash used for Ark’s operations in 2021, which included expenses from the Ark Transaction. As of
March 31, 2022, the Company and its intermediate holding companies had $352 million of net unrestricted cash, short-term investments and fixed maturity investments, $280 million of MediaAlpha
common stock and $223 million of private equity funds and ILS funds.

Cash flows from investing and financing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2022

Financing and Other Capital Activities
During the three months ended March 31, 2022, the Company declared and paid a $3 million cash dividend to its common shareholders.
During the three months ended March 31, 2022, White Mountains repurchased and retired 37,435 of its common shares for $39 million, 4,011 of which were repurchased and retired to satisfy

employee income tax withholding pursuant to employee benefit plans.
During the three months ended March 31, 2022, BAM received $12 million in MSC.
During the three months ended March 31, 2022, NSM borrowed and repaid $13 million in revolving loans under the NSM Bank Facility.

Cash flows from investing and financing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2021

Financing and Other Capital Activities
During the three months ended March 31, 2021, the Company declared and paid a $3 million cash dividend to its common shareholders.
During the three months ended March 31, 2021, White Mountains repurchased and retired 7,161 of its common shares for $7 million, all of which were repurchased and retired to satisfy

employee income tax withholding pursuant to employee benefit plans.
During the three months ended March 31, 2021, BAM received $14 million in MSC.
During the three months ended March 31, 2021, HG Global declared and paid $22 million of preferred dividends, of which $21 million was paid to White Mountains.
During the three months ended March 31, 2021, NSM repaid $1 million in term loans under the NSM Bank Facility.
During the three months ended March 31, 2021, Kudu borrowed $3 million in term loans under the Kudu Bank Facility.
On March 23, 2021, Kudu entered into the Kudu Credit Facility with an initial draw of $102 million, of which $92 million was used to repay the outstanding principal balance on its term loans

under the Kudu Bank Facility.

Acquisitions and Dispositions
On January 1, 2021 White Mountains completed the Ark Transaction, which included contributing $605 million of equity capital to Ark, at a pre-money valuation of $300 million, and purchasing

$41 million of shares from certain selling shareholders. In the fourth quarter of 2020, White Mountains prefunded/placed in escrow a total of $646 million in preparation for closing the Ark
Transaction.

On March 23, 2021, MediaAlpha completed a secondary offering of 8.05 million shares. In the secondary offering, White Mountains sold 3.6 million shares at $46.00 per share ($44.62 per share
net of underwriting fees) for net proceeds of $160 million.
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NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

This report includes twelve non-GAAP financial measures that have been reconciled from their most comparable GAAP financial measures.

Adjusted book value per share
Adjusted book value per share is a non-GAAP financial measure, which is derived by adjusting (i) the GAAP book value per share numerator and (ii) the common shares outstanding

denominator, as described below.
The GAAP book value per share numerator is adjusted (i) to include a discount for the time value of money arising from the modeled timing of cash payments of principal and interest on the

BAM Surplus Notes and (ii) to add back the unearned premium reserve, net of deferred acquisition costs, at HG Global.
Under GAAP, White Mountains is required to carry the BAM Surplus Notes, including accrued interest, at nominal value with no consideration for time value of money. Based on a debt service

model that forecasts operating results for BAM through maturity of the BAM Surplus Notes, the present value of the BAM Surplus Notes, including accrued interest and using an 8% discount rate,
was estimated to be $125 million, $130 million and $142 million less than the nominal GAAP carrying values as of March 31, 2022, December 31, 2021 and March 31, 2021, respectively.

The value of HG Global’s unearned premium reserve, net of deferred acquisition costs, was $160 million, $159 million and $146 million as of March 31, 2022, December 31, 2021 and March 31,
2021, respectively.

White Mountains believes these adjustments are useful to management and investors in analyzing the intrinsic value of HG Global, including the value of the BAM Surplus Notes and the value
of the in-force business at HG Re, HG Global’s reinsurance subsidiary.

The denominator used in the calculation of adjusted book value per share equals the number of common shares outstanding, adjusted to exclude unearned restricted common shares, the
compensation cost of which, at the date of calculation, has yet to be amortized. Restricted common shares are earned on a straight-line basis over their vesting periods. The reconciliation of GAAP
book value per share to adjusted book value per share is included on page 49.

BAM’s gross written premiums and MSC from new business
BAM’s gross written premiums and MSC from new business is a non-GAAP financial measure, which is derived by adjusting gross written premiums and MSC collected (i) to include the

present value of future installment MSC not yet collected and (ii) to exclude the impact of gross written premium adjustments related to policies closed in prior periods. White Mountains believes
these adjustments are useful to management and investors in evaluating the volume and pricing of new business closed during the period. The reconciliation from GAAP gross written premiums to
gross written premiums and MSC from new business is included on page 54.

Ark’s adjusted loss and LAE, adjusted insurance acquisition expense, adjusted other underwriting expense and adjusted combined ratios
Ark’s adjusted loss and LAE ratio, adjusted insurance acquisition expense ratio, adjusted other underwriting expense ratio and adjusted combined ratio are non-GAAP financial measures, which

are derived by adjusting the GAAP ratios to add back the impact of whole-account quota-share reinsurance arrangements attributable to TPC Providers for the Syndicates. The impact of these
reinsurance arrangements relates to years of account prior to the Ark Transaction. White Mountains believes these adjustments are useful to management and investors in evaluating Ark’s results on a
fully aligned basis (i.e., 100% of the Syndicates’ results). The reconciliation from the GAAP ratios to the adjusted ratios is included on page 58.
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NSM’s EBITDA and NSM’s adjusted EBITDA
NSM’s EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA are non-GAAP financial measures. EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure that excludes interest expense on debt, income tax (expense) benefit,

depreciation and amortization of other intangible assets from GAAP net income (loss). Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure that excludes certain other items in GAAP net income
(loss) in addition to those excluded from EBITDA. The adjustments relate to (i) change in fair value of contingent consideration, (ii) non-cash equity-based compensation expense, (iii) impairments
of intangible assets, (iv) loss on assets held for sale, (v) transaction expenses, (vi) investments made in the development of new business lines, (vii) restructuring expenses and (viii) legal settlements.
A description of each follows:

• Change in fair value of contingent consideration - Contingent consideration consists of amounts payable to the sellers of businesses purchased by NSM that are contingent on the earnings
of such businesses in periods subsequent to their acquisition. Under GAAP, contingent consideration amounts are initially recorded as liabilities at fair value as part of purchase accounting,
with the periodic change in the fair value of these liabilities recorded as income or an expense.

• Non-cash equity-based compensation expense - Represents non-cash expenses related to NSM’s management compensation emanating from the grants of equity units.
• Impairments of intangible assets - Represents expense related to NSM’s write-off of intangible assets. For the periods presented, the impairments related primarily to NSM’s write-off of

intangible assets in its U.K. vertical. The impairments related to lower premium volumes, including due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, and certain reorganization initiatives in
the U.K. vertical.

•  Loss on assets held for sale - Represents the loss on net assets held for sale related to the Fresh Insurance motor business.
• Transaction expenses - Represents costs directly related to NSM’s mergers and acquisitions activity, such as transaction-related compensation, banking, accounting and external lawyer fees,

which are not capitalized and are expensed under GAAP.
• Investments made in the development of new business lines - Represents the net loss related to the start-up of newly established lines of business, which NSM views as investments.
• Restructuring expenses - Represents expenses associated with eliminating redundant work force and facilities that often arise as a result of NSM’s post-acquisition integration strategies. For

the periods presented, this adjustment relates primarily to NSM’s expenses incurred in certain reorganization initiatives in the U.K. vertical.
• Legal settlements - Represents amounts recognized from legal settlements.
White Mountains believes that these non-GAAP financial measures are useful to management and investors in evaluating NSM’s performance. See page 61 for the reconciliation of NSM’s

GAAP net income (loss) to EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA.

Kudu’s EBITDA and Kudu’s adjusted EBITDA
Kudu's EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA are non-GAAP financial measures. EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure that excludes interest expense on debt, income tax (expense) benefit,

depreciation and amortization of other intangible assets from GAAP net income (loss). Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure that excludes certain other items in GAAP net income
(loss) in addition to those excluded from EBITDA. The adjustments relate to (i) net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses) on Kudu's Participation Contracts, (ii) non-cash equity-based
compensation expense and (iii) transaction expenses. A description of each adjustment follows:

• Net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses) - Represents net unrealized investment gains and losses on Kudu’s Participation Contracts, which are recorded at fair value under
GAAP, and realized investment gains and losses on Kudu’s Participation Contracts sold during the period.

• Non-cash equity-based compensation expense - Represents non-cash expenses related to Kudu’s management compensation that are settled with equity units in Kudu.
• Transaction expenses - Represents costs directly related to Kudu’s mergers and acquisitions activity, such as external lawyer, banker, consulting and placement agent fees, which are not

capitalized and are expensed under GAAP.
White Mountains believes that these non-GAAP financial measures are useful to management and investors in evaluating Kudu’s performance. The reconciliation of Kudu’s GAAP net income

(loss) to EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA is included on page 63.

73



Total consolidated portfolio return excluding MediaAlpha
Total consolidated portfolio return excluding MediaAlpha is a non-GAAP financial measure that removes the net investment income and net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses)

from White Mountains’s investment in MediaAlpha. White Mountains believes this measure to be useful to management and investors by showing the underlying performance of White Mountains’s
investment portfolio without regard to MediaAlpha. The following tables present reconciliations from GAAP to the reported percentages:

Three Months Ended March 31, 2022 Three Months Ended March 31, 2021

GAAP Return Remove MediaAlpha
Return - Excluding

MediaAlpha GAAP Return Remove MediaAlpha
Return - Excluding

MediaAlpha
Total consolidated portfolio


   return 0.8 % (0.5)% 0.3 % (0.3)% 1.0 % 0.7 %



Adjusted capital

Total capital at White Mountains is comprised of White Mountains’s common shareholders’ equity, debt and non-controlling interests other than non-controlling interests attributable to BAM.
Total adjusted capital is a non-GAAP financial measure, which is derived by adjusting total capital (i) to include a discount for the time value of money arising from the expected timing of cash
payments of principal and interest on the BAM Surplus Notes and (ii) to add back the unearned premium reserve, net of deferred acquisition costs, at HG Global. The reconciliation of total capital to
total adjusted capital is included on page 70.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Refer to the Company’s 2021 Annual Report on Form 10-K for a complete discussion regarding White Mountains’s critical accounting estimates.

74



FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
 

This report may contain “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. All statements,
other than statements of historical facts, included or referenced in this report which address activities, events or developments which White Mountains expects or anticipates will or may occur in the
future are forward-looking statements. The words “could”, “will”, “believe”, “intend”, “expect”, “anticipate”, “project”, “estimate”, “predict” and similar expressions are also intended to identify
forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements include, among others, statements with respect to White Mountains’s:

• change in book value per share, adjusted book value per share or return on equity;
• business strategy;
• financial and operating targets or plans;
• incurred loss and LAE and the adequacy of its loss and LAE reserves and related reinsurance;
• projections of revenues, income (or loss), earnings (or loss) per share, EBITDA, adjusted EBITDA, dividends, market share or other financial forecasts of White Mountains or its

businesses;
• expansion and growth of its business and operations; and
• future capital expenditures.

These statements are based on certain assumptions and analyses made by White Mountains in light of its experience and perception of historical trends, current conditions and expected future
developments, as well as other factors believed to be appropriate in the circumstances. However, whether actual results and developments will conform to its expectations and predictions is subject to
risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from expectations, including:

• the risks that are described from time to time in White Mountains’s filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, including but not limited to White Mountains’s Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021;

• claims arising from catastrophic events, such as hurricanes, earthquakes, floods, fires, severe winter weather, public health crises, terrorist attacks, explosions, infrastructure failures, cyber-
attacks or armed conflicts;

• recorded loss reserves subsequently proving to have been inadequate;
• the market value of White Mountains’s investment in MediaAlpha;
• the trends and uncertainties from the COVID-19 pandemic, including judicial interpretations on the extent of insurance coverage provided by insurers for COVID-19 pandemic related

claims;
• business opportunities (or lack thereof) that may be presented to it and pursued;
• actions taken by rating agencies, such as financial strength or credit ratings downgrades or placing ratings on negative watch;
• the continued availability of capital and financing;
• deterioration of general economic, market or business conditions, including due to outbreaks of contagious disease (including the COVID-19 pandemic) and corresponding mitigation

efforts;
• competitive forces, including the conduct of other insurers;
• changes in domestic or foreign laws or regulations, or their interpretation, applicable to White Mountains, its competitors or its customers; and
• other factors, most of which are beyond White Mountains’s control.

Consequently, all of the forward-looking statements made in this report are qualified by these cautionary statements, and there can be no assurance that the actual results or developments
anticipated by White Mountains will be realized or, even if substantially realized, that they will have the expected consequences to, or effects on, White Mountains or its business or operations. White
Mountains assumes no obligation to publicly update any such forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Refer to White Mountains’s 2021 Annual Report on Form 10-K and in particular Item 7A. - “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk”. 
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Item 4. Controls and Procedures.
 

The Principal Executive Officer (“PEO”) and the Principal Financial Officer (“PFO”) of White Mountains have evaluated the effectiveness of its disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on that evaluation, the PEO and PFO have concluded that White Mountains’s disclosure
controls and procedures are effective.

There were no significant changes with respect to the Company’s internal control over financial reporting or in other factors that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect,
internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended March 31, 2022.

Part II. OTHER INFORMATION
 
Item 1. Legal Proceedings.
 

None.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

There have been no material changes to any of the risk factors previously disclosed in the Registrant’s 2021 Annual Report
on Form 10-K.

Item 2. Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

Months
Total Number of


Shares Purchased
Average Price


Paid per Share

Total Number of Shares 
Purchased as Part of 

Publicly
Announced Plans 

Maximum Number
of Shares that May
Yet Be Purchased
Under the Plans 

January 1- January 31, 2022 4,011  $ 1,013.90  —  451,224 
February 1 - February 28, 2022 18,692  $ 1,041.00  18,692  432,532 
March 1 - March 31, 2022 14,732  $ 1,042.84  14,732  417,800 
Total 37,435  $ 1,038.82  33,424  417,800 

White Mountains’s board of directors has authorized the Company to repurchase its common shares, from time to time, subject to market conditions. The repurchase authorizations do not have a stated expiration date.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.
 

None.
 

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

None.
 
Item 5. Other Information.
 

None.
 

(1) (1)

(1) 

76



Item 6. Exhibits.

(a) Exhibit number Name

  2  —  Plan of Reorganization (incorporated by reference herein to the Company’s Registration Statement on S-4 (No. 333-87649) dated September 23,
1999)

  3.1  —  Memorandum of Continuance of the Company (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit (3)(i) of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
dated November 1, 1999)

  3.2  —  Amended and Restated Bye-Laws of the Company (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 3 of the Company’s Report on Form 10-Q dated May
2, 2017)

10.1  —  White Mountains Bonus Plan (*)
10.2  —  Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of March 31, 2022 among HG Global Ltd., Hudson Structured Capital Management Ltd. and the lenders

from time to time party thereto (*) (**)
 

31.1  —  Principal Executive Officer Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14 (a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Amended. (*)
 

31.2  —  Principal Financial Officer Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14 (a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Amended. (*)
 

32.1  —  Principal Executive Officer Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002. (*)

 

32.2  —  Principal Financial Officer Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
(*)

 

101  —  XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the
Inline XBRL document.

(*) Included herein
(**) Portions of this exhibit are redacted pursuant to Item 601(b)(10)(iv) of Regulation S-K.



SIGNATURES

 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

 

WHITE MOUNTAINS INSURANCE GROUP, LTD.
 

(Registrant)
   

Date: May 6, 2022
 

By: /s/ Michaela J. Hildreth
   

Michaela J. Hildreth
   

Managing Director and Chief Accounting Officer
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EXHIBIT 10.1 WHITE MOUNTAINS ANNUAL BONUS PROGRAM Set forth below is a summary of the White Mountains Annual Bonus Program: OVERVIEW The White Mountains Annual Bonus Program (the “Program”) is an integral part of the total compensation program for employees of White Mountains Insurance Group, Ltd. (“White Mountains”) and certain of its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company”). The Program is overseen by the Compensation/Nominating & Governance Committee of the Board of Directors of White Mountains (the “CNG Committee”). At the end of each year, a bonus pool is established for the personnel of the Company based on performance. In general, the bonus pool may range from 0% to 200% of the target. ANNUAL BONUS POOL DETERMINATION The size of the annual bonus pool at target is the sum of the individual target bonuses for participants in the program. For senior personnel, the individual target typically is 75% of salary; for junior personnel the individual target is typically a lower percentage of salary. The annual bonus pool can range from 0% to 200% of target, as determined by the CNG Committee using its judgment. Individual bonuses may be capped as described below under the caption “Individual Awards”. INDIVIDUAL AWARDS Bonuses for executive officers are determined in a 100% formulaic manner, with the amount of any bonus determined by reference to one or more performance metrics and harvest scales selected in advance by the CNG Committee. Bonuses earned by executive officers will range from 0% to 200% of target. For our executive officers, the CNG Committee will maintain the discretion to decrease the individual annual bonuses after the quantitative calculation has been finalized; however, it does not have discretion to increase those bonuses. White Mountains’s executive officers, at most, will receive the result of the quantitative methodology. Individual
bonuses to persons who are not executive officers can vary widely around the pool average based on individual performance. Bonuses to such persons are not capped other than by the size of the applicable bonus pool. A limited number of special bonuses may be awarded to persons who are not executive officers in any year to recognize successful individual results without regard to the aggregate size of an annual bonus pool. PROGRAM PARTICIPATION FOR NEW HIRES Annual bonuses of eligible employees hired during the year are typically pro-rated based on date of hire. CLAWBACK POLICY White Mountains has adopted a clawback policy applicable to bonuses. If White Mountains is required to restate any financial statement included in an SEC filing as a result of an employee’s misconduct, the Board may, without prejudice to any other remedies available to White Mountains, seek reimbursement of any bonus received by such person that relates in whole or in part to any period for which such financial statements were restated. If the misconduct was fraud, then in addition to other actions the Board will mandatorily seek such reimbursement.
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[[5791959]] LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT dated as of March 31, 2022 (this “Agreement”), among HG GLOBAL LTD., an exempted Bermuda company limited by shares (the “Borrower”), the LENDERS from time to time party hereto and HUDSON STRUCTURED CAPITAL MANAGEMENT LTD., an exempted Bermuda company limited by shares, as agent for the Lenders (in such capacity, the “Agent”). WHEREAS, the Borrower has requested the Lenders to extend credit to the Borrower consisting of the Term Loan in the aggregate principal amount of $150,000,000. The proceeds of the Term Loan shall be used as described in Section 5.10. The Lenders are severally, and not jointly, willing to extend such credit to the Borrower, subject to the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth. THEREFORE, the parties hereto agree as follows: 1. ACCOUNTING AND OTHER TERMS (a) Accounting terms not defined in this Agreement shall be construed in conformity with GAAP. Subject to Section 1(c), calculations and determinations of accounting terms must be made in conformity with GAAP. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined in this Agreement shall have the meanings set forth in Section 13. (b) For purposes of the Loan Documents, whenever a representation or warranty is made to the knowledge or awareness of the Borrower or any Responsible Officer of the Borrower, to the “best of” the knowledge of the Borrower or any Responsible Officer of the Borrower or with a similar qualification, it will be deemed to mean the actual knowledge, after reasonable inquiry, of any Responsible Officer of the Borrower. (c) If any change in GAAP occurs after the Effective Date by the promulgation of rules, regulations, pronouncements and opinions by, or otherwise as required by, the Financial Accounting Standards Board or the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (or any successor thereto
or agencies with similar functions), or if any change in the application of GAAP by White Mountains, the Borrower or their respective Subsidiaries occurs after the Effective Date, in each case, which results in a change in the calculation of financial covenants, standards or terms (including all applicable covenants, representations and warranties) contained in this Agreement or any other Loan Document, the parties hereto agree to enter, promptly upon request therefor by the Borrower or the Agent, into negotiations to amend such provisions so as equitably to reflect such changes to the end that the criteria for evaluating financial and other covenants, financial condition and performance will be the same after such changes as they were before such changes; and pending the effectiveness of such amendment, the Borrower shall continue to provide calculations for all financial covenants, perform all financial covenants and otherwise observe all financial standards and terms (including all applicable covenants, representations and warranties) in the Loan Documents in accordance with GAAP, or with the application thereof, as in effect immediately prior to such changes.



 

2 [[5791959]] 2. LOAN AND TERMS OF PAYMENT 2.1 Promise to Pay. The Borrower hereby unconditionally promises to pay the Agent and the Lenders the outstanding principal amount of the Term Loan, including all accrued and unpaid interest thereon, and all other Obligations as and when due in accordance with this Agreement. 2.2 Term Loan. (a) Availability. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Lenders agree to make a term loan to the Borrower on the Funding Date in an aggregate principal amount equal to the Term Loan Commitment Amount (the “Term Loan”). The obligation of the Lenders to make the Term Loan under this Agreement shall be several and not joint and several. After repayment or prepayment, the Term Loan may not be reborrowed. (b) Termination of Term Loan Commitments. The Term Loan Commitments shall terminate on the earlier of (i) immediately following the making of the Term Loan on the Funding Date and (ii) 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on May 31, 2022. The Borrower may at any time terminate, in whole or in part, the Term Loan Commitments upon written notice to the Agent to that effect. (c) Repayment; Evidence of Debt. (i) Payment of Principal and Interest at Maturity. All unpaid principal of and accrued and unpaid interest on the Term Loan shall be due and payable in full on the Term Loan Maturity Date or, if earlier, on the date on which they are declared due and payable pursuant to the terms of this Agreement. (ii) Amortization of Term Loan. The Borrower shall repay, without premium or penalty, the outstanding principal amount of the Term Loan in quarterly installments, each such installment to be in an aggregate amount equal to the Amortization Amount, on the last day (or, if such day is not a Business Day, on the first Business Day following such day) of each March, June, September and December, commencing with the first such day to occur after the Amortization Start
Date and continuing thereafter until the last such day to occur prior to the Term Loan Maturity Date. (iii) Promissory Note. Any Lender may request that the portion of the Term Loan made by it be evidenced by a promissory note. In such event, the Borrower shall execute and deliver to such Lender a promissory note payable to such Lender and its registered assigns in a form furnished by the Agent and reasonably acceptable to the Borrower. Thereafter, the Term Loan evidenced by such promissory note and interest thereon shall at all times (including after assignment pursuant to Section 12.2) be represented by one or more promissory notes in such form payable to the payee named therein. (d) Mandatory Prepayments. (i) Upon Acceleration. If the Term Loan is accelerated following the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, the Borrower shall immediately pay



 

3 [[5791959]] to the Agent, for the ratable benefit of the Lenders, an amount equal to the sum of (A) all accrued and unpaid interest on the Term Loan through the date the prepayment is made, plus (B) all outstanding principal of the Term Loan, plus (C) the Applicable Prepayment Premium, if any, plus (D) all other sums, if any, that shall have become then due and payable hereunder in connection with the Term Loan. (ii) Incurrence of Debt. Upon the issuance or incurrence by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries of any Indebtedness (other than Permitted Indebtedness), the Borrower shall, no later than the first Business Day thereafter, prepay the outstanding principal amount of the Term Loan in an amount equal to 100% of the Net Cash Proceeds received by such Person in connection therewith. (iii) Business Transfer. Upon the consummation of a Business Transfer, the Borrower shall, no later than the first Business Day thereafter, pay to the Agent, for the ratable benefit of the Lenders, an amount equal to the sum of (A) all accrued and unpaid interest on the Term Loan through the date the prepayment is made, plus (B) all outstanding principal of the Term Loan, plus (C) the Applicable Prepayment Premium, if any, plus (D) all other sums, if any, that shall have become then due and payable hereunder in connection with the Term Loan. (e) Optional Prepayment. The Borrower shall have the option to prepay, without premium or penalty (other than the Applicable Prepayment Premium, if any), in whole or in part, the Term Loan, provided that (i) the Borrower shall deliver written notice to the Agent of its election to prepay the Term Loan at least thirty (30) days prior to such prepayment (or such shorter period as the Agent may agree); provided that no such notice shall be required in connection with any such prepayment at a time when a Default or an Event of Default exists; and (ii) in the case of any partial prepayment made prior to the occurrence of an
Early Amortization Trigger Event, after giving effect thereto, the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Term Loan shall be at least $50,000,000. On the date of any such prepayment, the Borrower shall also pay (A) all accrued and unpaid interest on the amount prepaid through the date the prepayment is made, plus (B) the Applicable Prepayment Premium, if any, plus (C) all other sums, if any, that shall have become then due and payable hereunder as a result of such prepayment. Any notice given by the Borrower pursuant to this Section 2.2(e) may state that it is conditioned upon the occurrence of one or more events specified therein, in which case such notice may be revoked by the Borrower (by notice to the Agent on or prior to the specified date of prepayment) if such condition is not satisfied. (f) Application of Prepayments to Installments. Each mandatory prepayment of the Term Loan pursuant to Section 2.2(d) shall be applied against the remaining installments due on the principal of the Term Loan pro rata, based on the aggregate amount of each such remaining installment, or, if elected by the Borrower, in the inverse order of maturity. Each optional prepayment of the Term Loan pursuant to Section 2.2(e) shall be applied against the remaining installments due on the principal of the Term Loan in such order as shall be specified by the Borrower. (g) Cumulative Prepayments. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Section 2.2, payments with respect to this Section 2.2 are in addition to payments made or required to be made under any other Section of this Agreement.



 

4 [[5791959]] 2.3 Payment of Interest on the Term Loan. (a) Interest Rate. Subject to Sections 2.3(b) and 2.10, the outstanding principal amount of the Term Loan shall bear interest at the Adjusted Term SOFR for the Interest Period then in effect plus the Applicable Margin. Accrued interest on the Term Loan shall be payable in arrears at the end of each Interest Period; provided that in the event of any repayment or prepayment of the Term Loan, accrued interest on the principal amount repaid or prepaid shall be payable on the date of such repayment or prepayment. (b) Default Rate. If any principal of or interest on the Term Loan or any Applicable Prepayment Premium payable hereunder is not, in each case, paid when due, whether at stated maturity, upon acceleration or otherwise, the relevant overdue amount shall bear interest, in accordance with the immediately following sentence, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Requirements of Law, after as well as before judgment, at a rate per annum (the “Default Rate”) equal to (i) in the case of overdue principal of the Term Loan, 2.0% per annum plus the rate otherwise applicable to the Term Loan as provided in Section 2.3(a) or (ii) in the case of any overdue interest or Applicable Prepayment Premium, 2.0% per annum plus the rate then applicable to the Term Loan as provided in Section 2.3(a). Interest at the Default Rate shall accrue from the date on which an Event of Default for such failure to pay when due shall have occurred and until such Event of Default is cured or waived and shall be payable upon demand. Payment or acceptance of the Default Rate is not a permitted alternative to timely payment and shall not constitute a waiver of any Event of Default or otherwise prejudice or limit any rights or remedies of the Agent or the Lenders. (c) Usury. It is the intention of the parties hereto that the Agent and each Lender shall conform strictly to usury laws applicable to it. Accordingly, if the
transactions contemplated hereby or by any other Loan Document would be usurious as to the Agent or any Lender under laws applicable to it (including the laws of the United States of America and the State of New York or any other jurisdiction whose laws may be mandatorily applicable to the Agent or such Lender notwithstanding the other provisions of this Agreement), then, in that event, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement or any other Loan Document or any agreement entered into in connection with or as security for the Obligations, it is agreed as follows: the aggregate of all consideration which constitutes interest under law applicable to the Agent or any Lender that is contracted for, taken, reserved, charged or received by the Agent or such Lender under this Agreement or any other Loan Document or agreements or otherwise in connection with the Obligations shall under no circumstances exceed the maximum amount allowed by such applicable law, any excess shall be canceled automatically and if theretofore paid shall be credited by the Agent or such Lender on the principal amount of the Obligations (or, to the extent that the principal amount of the Obligations shall have been or would thereby be paid in full, refunded by the Agent or such Lender, as applicable, to the Borrower). If at any time and from time to time (x) the amount of interest payable to the Agent or any Lender on any date shall be computed at the highest lawful rate applicable to the Agent or such Lender pursuant to this Section 2.3(c) and (y) in respect of any subsequent interest computation period the amount of interest otherwise payable to the Agent or such Lender would be less than the amount of interest payable to the Agent or such Lender computed at the highest lawful rate applicable to the Agent or such Lender, then the amount of interest payable to the Agent or such Lender in respect of such subsequent interest computation period shall continue

to be computed at the highest lawful rate applicable to the Agent or such



 

5 [[5791959]] Lender until the total amount of interest payable to the Agent or such Lender shall equal the total amount of interest which would have been payable to the Agent or such Lender if the total amount of interest had been computed without giving effect to this Section 2.3(c). (d) Interest Computation. Interest shall be computed on the basis of a three hundred sixty-five (365) day year for the actual number of days elapsed. In computing interest, the Funding Date shall be included and the date of payment or prepayment shall be excluded. 2.4 Premium and Fees. (a) Applicable Prepayment Premium. Upon the occurrence of a Prepayment Premium Trigger Event, the Borrower shall pay the Applicable Prepayment Premium, if any, to the Agent, for the ratable benefit of the Lenders. (b) Funding Fee/OID. On the Funding Date, the Borrower shall pay to the Agent, for the ratable benefit of the Lenders, the fee payable on such date pursuant to the Fee Letter, which fee will be paid as an original issue discount on the Term Loan. (c) Fees Fully Earned. Unless otherwise provided in this Agreement or in a separate writing by the Agent, the Borrower shall not be entitled to any credit, rebate, or repayment of any fees earned by any Secured Party pursuant to this Agreement or any other Loan Document, notwithstanding any termination of this Agreement or the suspension or termination of the Lenders’ obligation to make loans hereunder. The parties hereto agree that the provisions of this Section 2.4(c) shall survive termination of this Agreement. 2.5 Payments; Application of Payments. (a) All payments to be made by the Borrower under any Loan Document shall be made in immediately available funds in Dollars, without setoff or counterclaim, before 3:00 p.m., New York City time, on the date when due to the Agent, for the ratable benefit of the Lenders (or, in the case of payments expressed to be for its own account, for the benefit of the Agent), to such
account of the Agent as shall be designated in a written notice delivered by the Agent to the Borrower at least two (2) Business Days prior to the date of such payment (and, subject to the immediately following proviso, the Agent hereby agrees to deliver such written notice); provided that, notwithstanding the foregoing, the Agent and the Borrower will enter into an agreement to the effect that the Borrower will make any or all payments payable hereunder or under the other Loan Documents for the account of any Lender directly to such Lender pursuant to such procedures as shall be set forth in such agreement, it being understood that any references herein to such payments being payable to the Agent, for the benefit of the Lenders, shall be subject to the terms of such agreement and the terms of such agreement shall be binding on the parties hereto. (b) Payments of principal and/or interest received after 3:00 p.m., New York City time, are considered received at the opening of business on the next Business Day. When a payment is due on a day that is not a Business Day, the payment shall be due the next Business Day, and additional interest, if applicable, shall continue to accrue until paid.



 

6 [[5791959]] (c) Unless otherwise specified in this Agreement, after the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, (i) the Agent shall have the exclusive right to determine the order and manner in which all payments with respect to the Obligations may be applied to the Obligations and (ii) except with respect to prepayments pursuant to Section 2.2(e), the Borrower shall have no right to specify the order or the accounts to which the Agent shall allocate or apply any payments required to be made by the Borrower to the Agent or otherwise received by any Secured Party under this Agreement when any such allocation or application is not specified elsewhere in this Agreement. 2.6 Withholding. (a) Any and all payments by or on account of any obligation of the Borrower under any Loan Document shall be made free and clear of and without deduction for any Taxes, except as otherwise required by applicable Requirements of Law. If at any time any Requirements of Law (as determined in the good faith discretion of an applicable withholding agent) requires the withholding or deduction for any Taxes from any such payment by a withholding agent, then the applicable withholding agent shall be entitled to make such deduction or withholding and shall pay the full amount deducted or withheld to the relevant Governmental Authority in accordance with the applicable Requirements of Law and, if such Tax is an Indemnified Tax, the Borrower hereby covenants and agrees that the amount due from the Borrower with respect to such payment hereunder will be increased to the extent necessary to ensure that, after the making of such required withholding or deduction for Indemnified Taxes, the applicable Secured Party receives a net sum equal to the sum which it would have received had no withholding or deduction for Indemnified Taxes been made. The Borrower will, upon request, furnish the Agent with proof reasonably satisfactory to the
Agent indicating that the Borrower have made such withholding payment; provided, however, that the Borrower need not make any withholding payment if the amount or validity of such withholding payment is contested in good faith by appropriate and timely proceedings and as to which payment in full is bonded or reserved against by the Borrower. (b) (i) Each Lender that is entitled to an exemption from or reduction of withholding Tax with respect to payments made under this Agreement shall deliver to the Borrower and the Agent, at the time or times reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Agent, such properly completed and executed documentation reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Agent as will permit such payments to be made without withholding or at a reduced rate of withholding. In addition, each Lender, if reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Agent, shall deliver such other documentation prescribed by applicable Requirements of Law or reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Agent as will enable the Borrower or the Agent to determine whether or not such Lender is subject to backup withholding or information reporting requirements. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the preceding two sentences, the completion, execution and submission of such documentation (other than such documentation set forth in Section 2.6(d)(ii)) shall not be required if in the applicable Lender’s reasonable judgment such completion, execution or submission would subject such Lender to any material unreimbursed cost or expense or would materially prejudice the legal or commercial position of such Lender. (ii) If a payment made to any Lender under this Agreement would be subject to U.S. federal withholding Tax imposed by FATCA if such Lender were to fail to comply with the applicable reporting requirements of FATCA (including those contained in Section



 

7 [[5791959]] 1471(b) or 1472(b) of the IRC, as applicable), such Lender shall deliver to the Borrower and the Agent at the time or times prescribed by applicable Requirements of Law and at such time or times reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Agent such documentation prescribed by applicable Requirements of Law (including as prescribed by Section 1471(b)(3)(C)(i) of the IRC) and such additional documentation reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Agent as may be necessary for the Borrower and the Agent to comply with its obligations under FATCA and to determine that such Lender has complied with such Lender’s obligations under FATCA or to determine the amount to deduct and withhold from such payment. Solely for purposes of this clause (ii), “FATCA” shall include any amendments made to FATCA after the date of this Agreement. (iii) Each Lender agrees that if any form or certification it previously delivered expires or becomes obsolete or inaccurate in any respect, it shall update such form or certification or promptly notify the Borrower in writing of its legal inability to do so. (c) If any party determines, in its sole discretion exercised in good faith, that it has received a refund of any Taxes as to which it has been indemnified pursuant to this Section (including by the payment of additional amounts pursuant to this Section 2.6), it shall pay to the indemnifying party an amount equal to such refund (but only to the extent of indemnity payments made under this Section 2.6 with respect to the Taxes giving rise to such refund), net of all out-of- pocket expenses (including Taxes) of such indemnified party and without interest (other than any interest paid by the relevant Governmental Authority with respect to such refund). Such indemnifying party, upon the request of such indemnified party, shall repay to such indemnified party the amount paid over pursuant to this paragraph (plus any penalties, interest or other charges
imposed by the relevant Governmental Authority) in the event that such indemnified party is required to repay such refund to such Governmental Authority. (d) For purposes of this Section 2.6, the term “applicable Requirements of Law” includes FATCA. (e) The agreements and obligations of the Borrower, the Agent and the Lenders contained in this Section 2.6 shall survive the termination of this Agreement. 2.7 Mitigation Obligations of Lenders; Repayment or Replacement of Lenders. (a) If the Borrower is required to pay any Indemnified Taxes or additional amounts to any Lender or any Governmental Authority for the account of any Lender pursuant to Section 2.6, then such Lender shall (at the request of the Borrower) use commercially reasonable efforts to designate a different lending office for funding or booking its share of the Term Loan or to assign its rights and obligations hereunder to another of its offices, branches or Affiliates, if, in the reasonable judgment of such Lender, such designation or assignment (i) would eliminate or reduce amounts payable pursuant to Section 2.6 in the future and (ii) would not subject such Lender to any unreimbursed cost or expense and would not otherwise be disadvantageous to such Lender. The Borrower hereby agrees to pay all reasonable costs and expenses incurred by any Lender in connection with any such designation or assignment to the extent such costs and expenses are set forth in reasonable detail in a certificate submitted by such Lender to the Borrower (with a copy to the Agent).



 

8 [[5791959]] (b) If (i) the Borrower is required to pay any Indemnified Taxes or additional amounts to any Lender or to any Governmental Authority for the account of any Lender pursuant to Section 2.6 or (ii) any Lender is a Defaulting Lender, then the Borrower may, upon notice to such Lender and the Agent, (A) repay in full such Lender’s portion of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Term Loan, plus all accrued and unpaid interest on the amount repaid through the date the repayment is made, in each case, without premium or penalty and without any obligation to pay or prepay the portion of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Term Loan of any other Lender or any other Obligation, or (B) replace such Lender by requiring such Lender to assign (and such Lender shall be obligated to, and hereby agrees to, assign), in accordance with Section 12.2(b) (except that, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Section 12.2(b), no consent of the Agent shall be required for such assignment), all of its interests, rights and obligations under this Agreement to an Eligible Assignee that shall accept such assignment (which Eligible Assignee may be another Lender, if any other Lender accepts such assignment). The Agent agrees, in the case of any assignment pursuant to this Section 2.7(b), that it shall not unreasonably withhold or delay its consent to the form of the Assignment and Acceptance proposed by the Borrower. 2.8 Interest Reserve Account. (a) The Borrower shall establish, on or prior to the Funding Date, and thereafter shall maintain, an Interest Reserve Account, it being understood that the Borrower may, at any time in its discretion so long as no Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, replace any Interest Reserve Account with another deposit account or securities account that meets the definition of the term “Interest Reserve Account”. In the event an Interest Reserve Deficit shall exist at any time, the Agent
may give notice thereof to the Borrower, whereupon the Borrower shall cause such Interest Reserve Deficit to cease to exist no later than the last day of the fourth full Interest Period ended after the date that the Borrower shall have received notice of such Interest Reserve Deficit from the Agent. (b) Amounts on deposit in, or credited to, the Interest Reserve Account may be withdrawn and applied by the Agent to make, on behalf of the Borrower, any payment required to be made, and not otherwise made, by the Borrower under Section 2.3 or, following the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, any other provision of this Agreement and, pending their application, will constitute Collateral securing the Obligations. So long as any Obligation (whether or not due) shall remain unpaid (other than Unasserted Contingent Claims), amounts on deposit in, or credited to, the Interest Reserve Account may not be withdrawn by the Borrower; provided that the Borrower may (and the Agent shall permit the Borrower to), from time to time, upon delivery to the Agent of a certificate of a Responsible Officer of the Borrower to the effect that no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and is continuing or would result therefrom, withdraw from the Interest Reserve Account such amount as shall be specified by the Borrower in such certificate, so long as, immediately after giving effect to such withdrawal, no Interest Reserve Deficit shall exist. Amounts on deposit in, or credited to, the Interest Reserve Account shall be invested in such manner as shall be directed by the Borrower, provided that following the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, the investment of such amounts shall be controlled solely by the Agent. All interest on any amounts on deposit in, or credited to, the Interest Reserve Account shall accumulate in the Interest Reserve Account and may only be withdrawn as set forth in this Section 2.8(b).



 

9 [[5791959]] 2.9 Amortization Collateral Account. (a) In the event an Early Amortization Trigger Event shall have occurred, no later than 45 days after the Early Amortization Start Date the Borrower shall establish, and thereafter shall maintain, an Amortization Collateral Account, it being understood that the Borrower may, at any time in its discretion so long as no Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, replace any Amortization Collateral Account with another deposit account or securities account that meets the definition of the term “Amortization Collateral Account”. (b) Following the establishment of an Amortization Collateral Account, the Borrower shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to (i) cause all cash and Cash Equivalents then held by the Borrower or, promptly upon receipt, thereafter received by the Borrower, in each case, to be deposited into such Amortization Collateral Account and (ii) cause each Subsidiary of the Borrower to cause all cash and Cash Equivalents then held by such Subsidiary or, promptly upon receipt, thereafter received by such Subsidiary, in each case, to be remitted to the Borrower for deposit by the Borrower in accordance with clause (i) above, provided that the requirements of this Section 2.9(b) shall not apply (A) to any Tax and Trust Funds, including any cash and Cash Equivalents held in any BAM Trust Account, (B) to the extent and for so long as such deposit or such remittance would conflict with, contravene, constitute a default or breach under, or result in or permit the termination or acceleration of, any agreement with BAM or any other Person by which the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries is bound and (C) in the case of clause (ii) above, (1) to any cash and Cash Equivalents of any Subsidiary that the Borrower reasonably determines are required by such Subsidiary to satisfy its, or its Subsidiaries’, payment obligations, provided that the aggregate amount of cash and Cash Equivalent
excluded pursuant to this clause (1) at any one time may not exceed $2,000,000, (2) to the extent and for so long as such remittance by any Subsidiary would, in the reasonable determination of the Borrower, conflict with, contravene or violate any applicable Requirements of Law or the fiduciary duties of such Subsidiary’s directors, or result in, or could reasonably be expected to result in, a material risk of personal or criminal liability for any officer, director or employee of such Subsidiary or (3) to the extent and for so long as the Borrower reasonably determines that such remittance could reasonably be expected to result in material and adverse tax consequences (including any withholding taxes) to the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries. (c) Amounts on deposit in, or credited to, the Amortization Collateral Account may be withdrawn and applied by the Agent to make, on behalf of the Borrower, any payment required to be made, and not otherwise made, by the Borrower under Section 2.2(c)(i), 2.2(c)(ii), 2.2(d), 2.3(b), 2.4(a) or, following the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, any other provision of this Agreement and, pending their application, will constitute Collateral securing the Obligations. So long as any Obligation (whether or not due) shall remain unpaid (other than Unasserted Contingent Claims), amounts on deposit in, or credited to, the Amortization Collateral Account may not be withdrawn by the Borrower; provided that the Borrower may (and the Agent shall permit the Borrower to), from time to time, withdraw from the Amortization Collateral Account such amount as shall be specified by the Borrower to the Agent in writing so long as, substantially concurrently therewith, the Borrower shall apply the amount so withdrawn to pay and discharge any Obligations. Amounts on deposit in, or credited to, the Amortization Collateral Account shall be invested in such manner as shall be directed by the Borrower,

provided that following the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, the investment of such amounts shall be controlled solely by the Agent. All interest on



 

10 [[5791959]] any amounts on deposit in, or credited to, the Amortization Collateral Account shall accumulate in the Amortization Collateral Account and may only be withdrawn as set forth in this Section 2.9(c). 2.10 Alternative Rate of Interest. (a) Temporary Unavailability. Subject to Section 2.10(b), if the Agent determines (which determination shall be conclusive absent manifest error), prior to the commencement of any Interest Period, that adequate and reasonable means do not exist for ascertaining the Adjusted Term SOFR for such Interest Period, then (i) the Agent shall give prompt notice thereof to the Borrower and the Lenders by e-mail and (ii) from and after the last day of the then applicable Interest Period and until the Agent notifies the Borrower and the Lenders that the circumstances giving rise to such original notice no longer exist (which the Agent agrees to do promptly after such circumstances cease to exist), the outstanding principal amount of the Term Loan shall, subject to Section 2.3(b), bear interest at a rate per annum equal to the Daily Simple SOFR plus the Applicable Margin. (b) (i) Benchmark Replacement. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other Loan Document, if a Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred prior to any setting of the then-current Benchmark, then (i) if a Benchmark Replacement is determined in accordance with clause (a) of the definition of “Benchmark Replacement” for such Benchmark Replacement Date, such Benchmark Replacement will replace such Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and under any other Loan Document in respect of such Benchmark setting and subsequent Benchmark settings without any amendment to, or further action or consent of any other party to, this Agreement or any other Loan Document and (ii) if a Benchmark Replacement is determined in accordance with clause (b) of the definition of “Benchmark
Replacement” for such Benchmark Replacement Date, such Benchmark Replacement will replace such Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and under any other Loan Document in respect of any Benchmark setting at or after 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the fifth (5th) Business Day after the date notice of such Benchmark Replacement is provided to the Lenders without any amendment to, or further action or consent of any other party to, this Agreement or any other Loan Document so long as the Agent has not received, by such time, written notice of objection to such Benchmark Replacement from Lenders comprising the Required Lenders. (ii) Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes. In connection with the use, administration, adoption or implementation of a Benchmark Replacement, the Agent will have the right, after consultation with the Borrower, to make Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes from time to time and, notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other Loan Document, any amendments implementing such Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes will become effective without any further action or consent of any other party to this Agreement or any other Loan Document. (iii) Notices; Standards for Decisions and Determinations. The Agent will promptly notify the Borrower and the Lenders of (i) the implementation of any Benchmark Replacement and (ii) the effectiveness of any Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes in connection with the use, administration, adoption or implementation of a Benchmark



 

11 [[5791959]] Replacement. Any determination, decision or election that may be made by the Agent or, if applicable, any Lender (or group of Lenders) pursuant to this Section 2.10(b), including any determination with respect to a tenor, rate or adjustment or of the occurrence or non-occurrence of an event, circumstance or date and any decision to take or refrain from taking any action or any selection, will be conclusive and binding absent manifest error and may be made in its or their sole discretion and without consent from any other party to this Agreement or any other Loan Document, except, in each case, as expressly required pursuant to this Section 2.10(b). (c) Benchmark Notification. The Agent does not warrant or accept responsibility for, and shall not have any liability with respect to, the continuation of, administration of, submission of, calculation of or any other matter related to the Adjusted Term SOFR, the Term SOFR or the Term SOFR Reference Rate, or any component definition thereof or rates referred to in the definition thereof, or any alternative, successor or replacement rate thereto (including any Benchmark Replacement), including, whether the composition or characteristics of any such alternative, successor or replacement rate (including any Benchmark Replacement) will be similar to, or produce the same value or economic equivalence of, or have the same volume or liquidity as, the Adjusted Term SOFR, the Term SOFR, the Term SOFR Reference Rate or any other Benchmark prior to its discontinuance or unavailability, it being understood and agreed, however, that nothing in this sentence shall relieve the Agent from, or release it from liability with respect to, its express obligations set forth herein. The Agent and its Affiliates or other related entities may engage in transactions unrelated to this Agreement that affect the calculation of the Term SOFR Reference Rate, the Term SOFR, the Adjusted Term SOFR, any alternative,
successor or replacement rate (including any Benchmark Replacement) or any relevant adjustments thereto, in each case, in a manner adverse to the Borrower. The Agent may select information sources or services in its reasonable discretion and, where expressly specified herein, in accordance with this Agreement, to ascertain the Term SOFR Reference Rate, the Term SOFR, the Adjusted Term SOFR or any other Benchmark, in each case pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, and shall have no liability to the Borrower or any of its Affiliates, any Lender or any other Person for damages of any kind, including direct or indirect, special, punitive, incidental or consequential damages, costs, losses or expenses (whether in tort, contractor otherwise and whether at law or in equity), for any error or calculation of any such rate (or component thereof) provided by any such information source or service. The Agent shall not be liable for any inability, failure or delay on its part to perform any of its duties set forth in this Agreement as a result of the unavailability of a Benchmark and absence of a designated Benchmark Replacement, including as a result of any inability, delay, error or inaccuracy on the part of any other Person in providing any direction, instruction, notice or information required or contemplated by the terms of this Agreement and reasonably required for the performance of such duties. If the Agent at any time or times determines in its reasonable judgment that guidance is needed to perform its duties, or if it is required to decide between alternative courses of action, in respect of a Benchmark or matters related thereto, the Agent may (but is not obligated to) reasonably request guidance in the form of written instructions from the Required Lenders on which the Agent shall be entitled to rely without liability, and shall be protected in refraining from acting until such instructions are received.



 

12 [[5791959]] 3. CONDITIONS OF LOANS 3.1 Conditions Precedent to Effective Date. The effectiveness of this Agreement and the obligation of each Lender to fund its share of the Term Loan are subject to the satisfaction (or waiver) of each of the following conditions precedent: (a) The Agent shall have executed a counterpart of this Agreement, and the Agent (or its counsel) shall have received from the Borrower and each Lender either (i) a counterpart of this Agreement executed on behalf of the Borrower or such Lender or (ii) written evidence satisfactory to the Agent (or its counsel) that the Borrower or such Lender has signed a counterpart of this Agreement. (b) The Agent (or its counsel) shall have received a customary certificate of a Responsible Officer of the Borrower, dated the Effective Date and certifying that: (i) the representations and warranties of the Borrower set forth in this Agreement and in each other Loan Document (A) in the case of representations and warranties that are qualified or modified by materiality in the text thereof, are true and correct and (B) in the case of all other representations and warranties, are true and correct in all material respects, in each case, on and as of the Effective Date (or, in the case of representations and warranties expressly referring to a specific date, as of such specific date) and (ii) no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and is continuing on the Effective Date. (c) The Agent (or its counsel) shall have received a customary certificate of a Responsible Officer of the Borrower, dated the Effective Date and certifying that attached thereto are (i) a true and complete copy of the certificate of incorporation of the Borrower, certified as of a date not more than 30 days prior to the Effective Date by an appropriate official of the jurisdiction of formation of the Borrower, (ii) a true and complete copy of the bye-laws of the Borrower, together with all amendments thereto, (iii) a true and complete copy of
the resolutions of the board of directors of the Borrower authorizing the execution, delivery and performance by the Borrower of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents to which the Borrower is or will be a party and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby and (iv) the names and true signatures of the representatives of the Borrower authorized to sign each Loan Document to which the Borrower is or will be a party and the other documents to be executed and delivered by the Borrower in connection herewith and therewith. (d) The Agent (or its counsel) shall have received customary opinions of (i) Cravath, Swaine & Moore LLP, special New York counsel to the Borrower, and (ii) Conyers Dill & Pearman Limited, special Bermuda counsel to the Borrower, in each case, dated the Effective Date and addressed to the Agent and the Lenders. (e) The Agent shall have received copies, dated as of a recent date prior to the Effective Date, of such financing statement searches as the Agent may reasonably request, accompanied by written evidence (including, if applicable, any Uniform Commercial Code termination statements) that the Liens indicated in any such financing statements either constitute Permitted Liens or have been or, on and as of the Effective Date, will be terminated or released.



 

13 [[5791959]] (f) The Agent (or its counsel) shall have received a Perfection Certificate, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Agent, executed by a Responsible Officer of the Borrower. (g) The Agent shall have received any original share certificates and any other Instruments representing any of the Pledged Shares required to be pledged hereunder, accompanied by undated share transfer forms executed in blank and other proper instruments of transfer. (h) The Term Loan shall have received a public rating from KBRA and such public rating shall be Investment Grade. (i) The Agent shall have received (i) financial projections of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, (ii) a true and complete copy of the FLRT Agreement and (iii) a true and complete copy of the BAM Surplus Notes. By executing this Agreement, the Agent and each Lender shall been deemed to be satisfied with, or to have waived, any and all of the conditions set forth above, and this Agreement, and the obligation of each Lender to fund its share of the Term Loan on the Funding Date, shall be effective as of the date of such execution, notwithstanding any other provision herein. 3.2 Conditions Precedent to Funding Date. The obligation of each Lender to fund its share of the Term Loan is further subject to the satisfaction (or waiver) of each of the following conditions precedent: (a) The Borrower shall deliver to the Agent by e-mail a notice of borrowing substantially in the form attached as Exhibit B hereto (a “Notice of Borrowing”) executed by a Responsible Officer of the Borrower, which shall be irrevocable and (i) shall specify (A) the aggregate principal amount of the Term Loan being requested, (B) the proposed date of the borrowing of the Term Loan (the “Funding Date”), which must be a Business Day and may not be a date prior to April 29, 2022 (unless otherwise agreed by the Agent) or a date after May 31, 2022, and (C) the location and number of the accounts to which
proceeds of the Term Loan are to be disbursed and (ii) must be delivered at least ten (10) days (or, if the proposed Funding Date is April 29, 2022, at least two (2) Business Days) prior to the proposed Funding Date (or, in each case, such shorter period as the Agent is willing to accommodate). (b) The Agent (or its counsel) shall have received a customary certificate of a Responsible Officer of the Borrower, dated the Funding Date and certifying that no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and is continuing on the Funding Date. (c) The Borrower shall have established an Interest Reserve Account and, prior to or substantially concurrently with the funding of the Term Loan on the Funding Date, shall have caused the Interest Reserve Requirement to be satisfied as of the Funding Date, it being understood that the Interest Reserve Requirement shall be deemed to have been satisfied as of the Funding Date if the Borrower shall have directed in the Notice of Borrowing that a portion of the proceeds of the Term Loan, in an amount equal to the amount required to satisfy the Interest Reserve Requirement as of the Funding Date, be disbursed into the Interest Reserve Account.



 

14 [[5791959]] (d) Prior to or substantially concurrently with the funding of the Term Loan on the Funding Date, the Borrower shall have (i) paid to the Agent, for the ratable benefit of the Lenders, the fee referred to in Section 2.4(b), it being understood that such fee may be paid by the Borrower by specifying in the Notice of Borrowing that the amount of such fee be offset against the proceeds of the Term Loan disbursed to the Borrower, and (ii) reimbursed to the Agent and the Lenders all Secured Party Expenses required to be reimbursed by the Borrower hereunder and for which invoices shall have been presented at least two Business Days prior to the Funding Date (or such later date to which the Borrower may agree). Subject to the satisfaction (or waiver) of the conditions set forth in this Section 3.2, the Lenders shall, simultaneously and proportionately to their respective Pro Rata Shares of the Term Loan Commitment Amount as of the Funding Date, make the proceeds of the Term Loan available to the Borrower on the Funding Date in Dollars by transferring immediately available funds equal to such proceeds to the accounts specified by the Borrower in the Notice of Borrowing. 4. CREATION OF SECURITY INTEREST 4.1 Grant of Security Interest. The Borrower hereby grants to the Agent, for the benefit of the Secured Parties, to secure the payment and performance in full of all of the Obligations (whether now existing or hereafter incurred), a continuing security interest in, and pledges to the Agent, all of the Borrower’s right, title and interest in and to the following personal property of the Borrower, wherever located and whether now or hereafter existing and whether now owned or hereafter acquired (all being collectively referred to herein as the “Collateral”): (i) the Pledged Shares, (ii) upon the establishment thereof, the Interest Reserve Account and the Amortization Collateral Account, and all cash, Cash Equivalents and other property from
time to time deposited therein or otherwise credited thereto and (iii) all Proceeds, including all cash and non-cash Proceeds, of any and all of the foregoing Collateral, in each case howsoever the Borrower’s interest therein may arise or appear (whether by ownership, security interest, claim or otherwise). The Agent’s Lien in the Collateral shall continue until all the Term Loan Commitments shall terminate and all the Obligations (other than Unasserted Contingent Claims) are repaid in full in cash, and promptly upon such termination and such prepayment, the Agent shall, at the sole cost and expense of the Borrower, deliver documents reasonably requested by the Borrower to evidence the release of its Liens in the Collateral and all rights therein shall revert to the Borrower. 4.2 Priority of Security Interest. The Borrower represents and warrants as of the Effective Date that, upon the making of filings referred to in Section 4.3(a), the security interest granted herein shall be a first priority security interest in the Collateral (subject only to Permitted Liens) to the extent such security interest may be established in Bermuda by the making of such filing. 4.3 Authorization to File Financing Statements. The Borrower hereby authorizes the Agent (a) to file this Agreement at the offices of the Bermuda Registrar of Companies against the Borrower in accordance with Section 55 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, in order to ensure the priority of the security interest purported to be created by this Agreement over any unregistered and over any subsequently registered security interests and (b) if applicable, to file



 

15 [[5791959]] financing or continuation statements and amendments thereto, without notice to the Borrower, in all appropriate jurisdictions to perfect, establish the priority of or protect the Agent’s security interest or rights hereunder. The Borrower hereby authorizes the Agent to file such financing or continuation statements with a description of collateral that describes the Collateral in any manner that the Agent may reasonably determine is necessary or advisable to ensure the perfection or the priority of the security interest in the Collateral granted under this Agreement. 4.4 Voting. So long as no Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing and the Agent shall not have given a notice of suspension referred to below, the Borrower shall be entitled to exercise or refrain from exercising any and all voting and other consensual rights pertaining to the Pledged Shares or any part thereof to the extent not inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement or any other Loan Document. Upon the occurrence and during the continuation of an Event of Default and the delivery by the Agent to the Borrower of a written notice of the suspension of the Borrower’s rights under this Section 4.4: (a) all rights of the Borrower to exercise or refrain from exercising the voting and other consensual rights pertaining to the Pledged Shares which it would otherwise be entitled to exercise pursuant hereto shall be suspended, and all such rights shall thereupon become vested in the Agent, which shall thereupon have the sole right to exercise such voting and other consensual rights, and (b) in order to permit the Agent to exercise the voting and other consensual rights which it may be entitled to exercise pursuant hereto and to receive all dividends and other distributions which it may be entitled to receive hereunder, the Borrower shall promptly execute and deliver (or cause to be executed and delivered) to the Agent all proxies, dividend payment orders and other instruments as the
Agent may from time to time reasonably request. 4.5 Powers of Agent; Limitation of Liability. The powers conferred on the Agent under this Section 4 are solely to protect its interest in the Collateral and shall not impose any duty upon it to exercise any such powers. Except with respect to the exercise of reasonable care in the custody of any Collateral in its possession, the Agent shall have no duty as to any Collateral or as to the taking of any necessary steps to preserve rights against prior parties or any other rights pertaining to any Collateral. The Agent shall be deemed to have exercised reasonable care in the custody and preservation of Collateral in its possession if such Collateral is accorded treatment substantially equal to that which the Agent accords its own property. The Agent shall not be liable for failure to demand, collect or realize upon all or any part of the Collateral or for any delay in doing so, and the Agent shall not have an obligation to sell or otherwise dispose of any Collateral upon the request of the Borrower or otherwise. 4.6 Certain Covenants as to the Collateral. (a) Pledged Shares. The Borrower shall (i) after the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default and upon request of the Agent, at the Borrower’s expense, promptly deliver to the Agent a copy of each notice or other communication received by the Borrower in respect of the Pledged Shares; and (ii) not make or consent to any amendment or other modification or waiver with respect to any Pledged Shares that could reasonably be expected to be materially adverse to the interests of the Agent and the Lenders (in their capacities as such) under the Loan Documents or enter into any agreement or permit to exist any restriction with respect to any Pledged Shares other than pursuant to applicable Requirements of Law or to the extent expressly permitted by the Loan Documents.



 

16 [[5791959]] (b) Delivery of Pledged Interests. The Borrower agrees promptly to deliver or cause to be delivered to the Agent any and all share certificates or other certificated securities now or hereafter included in the Collateral, including all certificates and securities representing or evidencing any Pledged Shares. Upon delivery to the Agent, (i) any certificates or securities representing or evidencing Pledged Shares required to be delivered pursuant hereto shall be accompanied by share transfer forms duly executed in blank or other instruments of transfer reasonably satisfactory to the Agent and (ii) all other property composing part of the Collateral delivered pursuant to the terms of this Agreement shall be accompanied, to the extent necessary to perfect or establish the priority of the security interest in or allow realization on the Collateral, by proper instruments of assignment and other instruments or documents (including issuer acknowledgments in respect of uncertificated securities), in each case, as the Agent may reasonably request. (c) Further Assurances. The Borrower will take such action and execute, acknowledge and deliver, at its sole cost and expense, such agreements, instruments or other documents as the Agent may reasonably require from time to time in order (i) to perfect, establish the priority of and protect, or maintain the perfection and priority of, the security interest and Lien purported to be created hereby; (ii) to enable the Agent to exercise and enforce its rights and remedies hereunder in respect of the Collateral; or (iii) otherwise to effect the purposes of this Agreement, including, without limitation: (A) at the reasonable request of the Agent, marking conspicuously all Instruments and all of its records pertaining to the Collateral with a legend, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Agent, indicating that such Instruments or records are subject to the security interest created hereby, (B) executing and filing (to the extent, i
any, that the Borrower’s signature is required thereon) or authenticating the filing of, such financing or continuation statements, or amendments thereto, as shall be reasonably requested by the Agent, (C) at the reasonable request of the Agent, delivering to the Agent irrevocable proxies and registration pages in respect of the Pledged Shares, (D) furnishing to the Agent, from time to time upon reasonable request of the Agent, statements and schedules further identifying and describing the Collateral and such other reports in connection with the Collateral as the Agent may reasonably request, all in reasonable detail and (E) at the reasonable request of the Agent, taking all actions required by applicable Requirements of Law in any relevant Uniform Commercial Code jurisdiction. If an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing as a result of the Borrower failing to perform any agreement or obligation contained herein, the Agent may itself perform, or cause performance of, such agreement or obligation, in the name of the Borrower or the Agent, and the reasonable and documented out-of-pocket expenses of the Agent incurred in connection therewith shall be payable by the Borrower pursuant to Section 12.10 and shall be secured by the Collateral. 4.7 Remedies. Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of any Event of Default, the Borrower agrees to deliver each item of tangible Collateral to the Agent on demand, and it is agreed that the Agent shall have the right to take any of or all the following actions at the same or different times: (a) with or without legal process and with or without prior notice or demand for performance, to take possession of the Collateral and without liability for trespass to the Borrower to enter any premises where the Collateral may be located for the purpose of taking possession of or removing the Collateral and, generally, to exercise any and all rights afforded to a secured party under the applicable Uniform Commercial

Code or other applicable Requirements of Law, (b) to sell or otherwise dispose of all or any part of the Collateral at a public or private



 

17 [[5791959]] sale or auction or at any broker’s board or on any securities exchange, for cash, upon credit or for future delivery as the Agent shall deem appropriate and (c) as an alternative to exercising the power of sale herein conferred upon it in clause (b) above, the Agent may proceed by a suit or suits at law or in equity to foreclose this Agreement and to sell the Collateral or any portion thereof pursuant to a judgment or decree of a court or courts having competent jurisdiction or pursuant to a proceeding by a court-appointed receiver. Upon consummation of any such sale of any Collateral pursuant to and in accordance with this Section 4.7, the Agent shall have the right to assign, transfer and deliver to the purchaser or purchasers thereof the Collateral so sold. Each such purchaser at any such sale shall hold the property sold absolutely, free from any claim or right on the part of the Borrower, and the Borrower hereby waives and releases (to the extent permitted by law) all rights of redemption, stay, valuation and appraisal that the Borrower now has or may at any time in the future have under any rule of law or statute now existing or hereafter enacted. Notwithstanding the foregoing or anything in any Loan Document to the contrary, any exercise of rights or remedies by the Agent shall be subject to applicable Requirements of Law, including (if applicable) the express written approval of any Applicable Insurance Regulatory Authority. 4.8 Sale Process. The Agent shall give the Borrower ten (10) Business Days’ written notice (which the Borrower agrees is reasonable notice within the meaning of Section 9-611 of the Code or its equivalent in other jurisdictions) of the Agent’s intention to make any sale of Collateral pursuant to Section 4.7. Such notice, in the case of a public sale, shall state the time and place for such sale and, in the case of a sale at a broker’s board or on a securities exchange, shall state the board or exchange at which such sale is to be
made and the day on which the Collateral, or portion thereof, will first be offered for sale at such board or exchange. Any such public sale shall be held at such time or times within ordinary business hours and at such place or places as the Agent may fix and state in the notice (if any) of such sale. At any such sale, the Collateral, or the portion thereof, to be sold may be sold in one lot as an entirety or in separate parcels, as the Agent may (in its sole and absolute discretion) determine. The Agent shall not be obligated to make any sale of any Collateral if it shall determine not to do so, regardless of the fact that notice of sale of such Collateral shall have been given. The Agent may, without notice or publication, adjourn any public or private auction pursuant to Section 4.7 or cause the same to be adjourned from time to time by announcement at the time and place fixed for sale, and such sale may, without further notice, be made at the time and place to which the same was so adjourned. In the case of any sale of all or any part of the Collateral pursuant to Section 4.7 made on credit or for future delivery, the Collateral so sold may be retained by the Agent until the sale price is paid by the purchaser or purchasers thereof, but the Agent shall not incur any liability in the event that any such purchaser or purchasers shall fail to take up and pay for the Collateral so sold and, in the case of any such failure, such Collateral may be sold again upon notice given in accordance with provisions above. At any public (or, to the extent permitted by law, private) sale made pursuant to Section 4.7, the Agent may bid for or purchase for cash, free (to the extent permitted by law) from any right of redemption, stay, valuation or appraisal on the part of the Borrower (all such rights being also hereby waived and released to the extent permitted by law), the Collateral or any part thereof offered for sale, and the Agent may, upon compliance with the terms of sale, hold, retain and dispose of

such property without further accountability to the Borrower therefor. For purposes of this Section 4.8, a written agreement to purchase the Collateral or any portion thereof shall be treated as a sale thereof; the Agent shall be free to carry out such sale pursuant to such agreement and the Borrower shall not be entitled to the return of the Collateral or any portion thereof subject thereto, notwithstanding the fact that after the Agent shall have entered into such an agreement all



 

18 [[5791959]] Events of Default shall have been remedied and all Obligations (other than Unasserted Contingent Claims) are paid in full. Any sale pursuant to the provisions of Section 4.7 or 4.8 shall be deemed to conform to the commercially reasonable standards as provided in Section 9-610(b) of the Code or its equivalent in other jurisdictions. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Agent and the Lenders hereby acknowledge that any actions taken under this Section 4.8 shall be subject to applicable Requirements of Law, including (if applicable) the express written approval of any Applicable Insurance Regulatory Authority. 5. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES The Borrower represents and warrants as of the Effective Date to the Agent and the Lenders as follows: 5.1 Due Organization; Power and Authority. The Borrower is (a) incorporated, duly existing and in good standing (to the extent such concept exists in such jurisdiction) in its jurisdiction of formation and (b) qualified and licensed to do business and in good standing (to the extent such concept exists in the relevant jurisdiction) in any jurisdiction in which the conduct of its business or its ownership of property requires that it be qualified, except where the failure to be so could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Change. 5.2 Authorization; No Conflicts; Enforceability. The execution, delivery and performance by the Borrower of the Loan Documents to which it is a party have been duly authorized by all necessary organizational action on the part of the Borrower and do not (a) conflict with the Borrower’s Operating Documents, (b) contravene, conflict with or violate any Requirements of Law applicable to the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, (c) contravene, conflict with or violate any applicable order, writ, judgment, injunction, decree, determination or award of any Governmental Authority by which the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries or any of their property
or assets are bound, (d) require any action by, filing, registration, or qualification with, or Governmental Approval from, any Governmental Authority (except (i) such actions, filings, registrations, qualifications or Governmental Approvals which have already been obtained and are in full force and effect and (ii) such actions, filings, registrations, qualifications and Governmental Approvals as may be required in connection with Liens created under the Loan Documents) or (e) conflict with, contravene, constitute a default or breach under, or result in or permit the termination or acceleration of, any agreement by which the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries is bound, except, in each case referred to in clauses (b) through (e), as could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Change. This Agreement is, and each other Loan Document to which the Borrower is or will be a party, when delivered hereunder, will be, a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Borrower, enforceable against the Borrower in accordance with its terms, except as enforceability may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally and by general principles of equity. 5.3 Collateral. The Borrower has good title to, rights in, and the power to transfer each item of the Collateral upon which it purports to grant a Lien hereunder, free and clear of any and all Liens except Permitted Liens, except for minor defects in title that could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Change and except for restrictions and limitations on transfer imposed by the Loan Documents or applicable Requirements of Laws.



 

19 [[5791959]] 5.4 Litigation. There are no legal actions or proceedings pending or, to the knowledge of any Responsible Officer of the Borrower, threatened in writing against the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries involving claims against the Borrower or its Subsidiaries of more than $100,000, individually or in the aggregate. 5.5 Financial Statements; Material Adverse Change. The consolidated financial information of the HG Global Segment set forth in Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements of White Mountains included in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2021, presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial position and results of operations of the HG Global Segment as of December 31, 2021 and for the year then ended, in each case, in conformity with GAAP as applicable to reporting of segment information. Since December 31, 2021, no event or development has occurred that has caused or could reasonably be expected to cause a Material Adverse Change. 5.6 Solvency. The Borrower and its Subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis, are Solvent. 5.7 Investment Company Act; Margin Stock; Compliance with Law. The Borrower is not an “investment company” or a company “controlled” by an “investment company” under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended. The Borrower is not engaged as one of its important activities in extending credit for margin stock (as defined under Regulation U of the Federal Reserve Board). The Borrower and its Subsidiaries are in compliance with all Requirements of Law, except where failure to comply could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Change. None of the Borrower’s or any of its Subsidiaries’ properties or assets has been used by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries or, to the best of the Borrower’s knowledge, by previous owners of such properties or assets, to dispose, produce, store, treat or transport any hazardous substance
other than in compliance with all Requirements of Law pertaining to the environment, in each case, except as could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Change. The Borrower and its Subsidiaries have obtained all consents, approvals and authorizations of, made all declarations or filings with, and given all notices to, all Governmental Authorities that are necessary to continue their respective businesses as currently conducted, except to the extent the failure to do so could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Change. 5.8 Capitalization; Subsidiaries. Schedule 5.8 sets forth, as of the Effective Date, the name, type of entity and jurisdiction of organization of, and the percentage of each class of Equity Interests owned by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries in, the Borrower and each of its Subsidiaries. All of the issued and outstanding Equity Interests of any Subsidiary of the Borrower have been validly issued and, to the extent such concepts are applicable in the relevant jurisdictions, are fully paid and nonassessable. 5.9 Tax Returns and Payments; Pension Contributions. (a) The Borrower and its Subsidiaries have timely filed (subject to all applicable extensions) all required federal, foreign, state and local tax returns and have timely paid all federal, foreign, state and local Taxes owed by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, in each case, except to the extent such Taxes are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings promptly instituted and diligently conducted, so long as such reserve or other appropriate provision, if any, as shall be required in conformity with GAAP shall have been made therefor.



 

20 [[5791959]] (b) The Borrower and its Subsidiaries have paid all amounts necessary to fund all of their present pension, profit sharing and deferred compensation plans in accordance with their terms, except to the extent the failure to do so could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Change, and the Borrower and its Subsidiaries have not withdrawn from participation in, and have not permitted partial or complete termination of, or permitted the occurrence of any other event with respect to, any such plan which could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Change, including any liability to the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation or its successors or any other Governmental Authority that could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Change. 5.10 Use of Proceeds. The Borrower shall use the proceeds of the Term Loan solely to (a) pay fees and expenses related to this Agreement and the other Loan Documents, (b) fund the Interest Reserve Account to the extent required to satisfy the Interest Reserve Requirement as of the Funding Date, (c) make the Specified Restricted Payment and (d) fund general working capital of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries. 5.11 Full Disclosure. The written information (other than any projections, forecasts, other forward-looking information and general economic or industry-specific information) provided by the Borrower to the Agent in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby does not contain, when taken as a whole, any untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state a material fact necessary to make the statements contained therein not materially misleading in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made (it being recognized by the Agent and the Lenders that the projections, forecasts and other forward-looking information provided by the Borrower are not viewed as facts and that actual results during the period or periods covered by
such projections, forecasts or other forward-looking information may differ from the projected or forecasted results). 5.12 Employee and Labor Matters. The Borrower and its Subsidiaries are in compliance with all Requirements of Law pertaining to employment and employment practices, terms and conditions of employment, wages and hours, and occupational safety and health, in each case, except where failure to comply could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Change. All payments due from the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries on account of wages and employee health and welfare insurance and other benefits have been paid or accrued as a liability on the books of the Borrower or such Subsidiary, except to the extent failure to do so could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Change. 5.13 Insurance Licenses. The Borrower and its Subsidiaries have all material Insurance Licenses necessary to conduct their businesses as conducted on the date hereof. To the best of the Borrower’s knowledge, (a) no material Insurance License of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries is the subject of a proceeding for suspension or revocation or any similar proceedings, (b) there is no sustainable basis for such a suspension or revocation of any such Insurance License and (c) no such suspension or revocation of any such Insurance License is threatened in writing by any Applicable Insurance Regulatory Authority. 5.14 Sanctions; Anti-Corruption and Anti-Money Laundering Laws. None of the Borrower, any of its Subsidiaries or, to the knowledge of the Borrower, any of their respective directors, officers, employees, agents or Affiliates is a Sanctioned Person. The Borrower and its



 

21 [[5791959]] Subsidiaries are in compliance in all material respects with all applicable Sanctions, Anti-Money Laundering Laws and Anti-Corruption Laws. To the best knowledge of the Borrower, there is no pending or threatened in writing action, suit, proceeding or investigation before any court or other Governmental Authority against the Borrower, any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective directors, officers, employees, agents or Affiliates that relates to a potential violation of any Sanctions, Anti-Money Laundering Laws or Anti-Corruption Laws. The Borrower will not directly or, to the knowledge of the Borrower, indirectly use, lend or contribute the proceeds of the Term Loan for any purpose that would violate any applicable Sanctions, Anti-Money Laundering Laws or Anti-Corruption Laws. 6. AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS On and after the Effective Date and so long as any Term Loan Commitment shall be in effect or any Obligation (whether or not due) shall remain outstanding or unpaid (other than Unasserted Contingent Claims), the Borrower shall do all of the following, unless the Agent shall otherwise consent in writing: 6.1 Existence; Compliance with Law. (a) Except as otherwise permitted under Section 7.1, 7.2 or 7.3, maintain, and cause each of its Subsidiaries to maintain, its and its Subsidiaries’ legal existence and (to the extent such concept exists in the relevant jurisdiction) good standing in their respective jurisdictions of formation, except, in the case of any Subsidiary, where the failure to do so would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. (b) Maintain, and cause each of its Subsidiaries to maintain, its and its Subsidiaries’ good standing (to the extent such concept exists in the relevant jurisdiction) in each jurisdiction in which the failure to do so would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Change. (c) Comply, and cause each of its Subsidiaries to comply, with all Requirements of Law to
which it is subject, except where the failure to do so would not be reasonably expected to have a Material Adverse Change. (d) Obtain all of the Governmental Approvals necessary for the performance by the Borrower of its obligations under the Loan Documents to which it is a party and the grant of a security interest to the Agent in the Collateral, in each case, to the extent failure to obtain such Governmental Approvals would be reasonably expected to have a Material Adverse Change, and promptly provide copies of any such obtained Governmental Approvals to the Agent upon its reasonable request. 6.2 Financial Statements, Reports, Certificates and Notices. Furnish to the Agent, on behalf of the Lenders, the following: (a) Quarterly Unaudited Financial Statements. Within sixty (60) days after the end of each of the first three Fiscal Quarters of each Fiscal Year (commencing with the Fiscal Quarter ending June 30, 2022), either (i) for so long as the HG Global Segment is a reportable segment of operations of White Mountains and its Subsidiaries, the balance sheet and results of



 

22 [[5791959]] operations information as of the end of or for such Fiscal Quarter (or for the portion of the Fiscal Year then ended) with respect to the HG Global Segment that is required to be reported as segment financial information in the consolidated financial statements of White Mountains included in its Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the applicable Fiscal Quarter or (ii) otherwise, the consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries as of the end of such Fiscal Quarter and the consolidated statements of operations of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries for such Fiscal Quarter and for the portion of the Fiscal Year then ended, prepared in conformity (including as to whether or not BAM is required to be consolidated therein) with GAAP; (b) Annual Audited Financial Statements. Within one hundred twenty (120) days after the end of each Fiscal Year (commencing with the Fiscal Year ending December 31, 2022), either (i) for so long as the HG Global Segment is a reportable segment of operations of White Mountains and its Subsidiaries, the balance sheet and results of operations information as of the end of or for such Fiscal Year with respect to the HG Global Segment that is required to be reported as segment financial information in the consolidated financial statements of White Mountains included in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the applicable Fiscal Year or (ii) otherwise, the consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries as of the end of such Fiscal Year and the consolidated statements of operations of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries for such Fiscal Year, prepared in conformity (including as to whether or not BAM is required to be consolidated therein) with GAAP, together with, in the case of this clause (ii), a report thereon (without any qualification as to “going concern” (except for any such qualification solely with respect to, or resulting from, the maturity of the Term Loan occurring within one year
from the time such report is delivered or any breach or anticipated breach of any financial covenant set forth in this Agreement) or the scope of audit) from PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP or another independent certified public accounting firm reasonably acceptable to the Agent; (c) Quarterly Compliance Certificate. Within five (5) Business Days of the date the financial information or financial statements would be required to be delivered under clause (a) or (b) above, a duly completed Compliance Certificate signed by a Responsible Officer of the Borrower certifying that as of the end of the applicable Fiscal Quarter or Fiscal Year, as the case may be, no Default or Event of Default exists (or, if a Default or an Event of Default exists, specifying the nature thereof) and setting forth calculations showing compliance with Section 7.13; (d) Notice of Suspension, Termination or Revocation. (i) Promptly after a Responsible Officer of the Borrower obtains knowledge thereof, notice of a receipt by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries of written notice from any Governmental Authority notifying the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries of a hearing relating to a suspension, termination or revocation of any Insurance License of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, including any request by a Governmental Authority with respect to any Insurance License that commits the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries to take, or refrain from taking, any action that affects the authority of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries to conduct their insurance or reinsurance business, and (ii) promptly (and, in any event, within five (5) days) after a Responsible Officer of the Borrower obtains knowledge of such receipt, copies of any written notice of actual suspension, termination or revocation by any Governmental Authority of any Insurance License of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries received by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries from such Governmental Authority, in

each case under this clause (d), where such suspension, termination, revocation or request could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Change;



 

23 [[5791959]] (e) Notice of Legal Action. Promptly after a Responsible Officer of the Borrower obtains knowledge thereof, notice of any legal action pending or threatened in writing against the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries if the monetary amount expressly claimed therein against the Borrower and its Subsidiaries exceeds $5,000,000; (f) Notice of Default or Material Adverse Change. Promptly (and, in any event, within five (5) days) after a Responsible Officer of the Borrower becomes aware of (i) the occurrence of a Default or Event of Default or (ii) the occurrence of any event or development that has had or could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Change, the written statement of a Responsible Officer of the Borrower setting forth the details of such Default or Event of Default or other event or development having a Material Adverse Change and the action which the Borrower and its Subsidiaries propose to take with respect thereto; (g) HG Re Statutory Statements. Within one hundred twenty (120) days after the end of each calendar year (commencing with the calendar year ending December 31, 2022), audited financial statements of HG Re prepared in conformity with the applicable statutory accounting standards, and promptly after submission thereof to any Applicable Insurance Regulatory Authority, copies of any quarterly and annual “Statutory Statements” of HG Re, together with all appropriate and customary schedules attached thereto; (h) BAM Statutory Statements. Promptly after receipt of copies thereof from BAM, copies of any annual or quarterly financial statements of BAM submitted by BAM to the New York State Department of Financial Services; provided that no financial statements of BAM shall be required to be delivered pursuant to this clause (h) to the extent disclosure thereof to the Agent or any Lender (or any of their respective representatives) is prohibited by applicable Requirements of Law; (i)
Reports to Subordinated Debt. Within five (5) days after the delivery thereof and to the extent not otherwise required to be furnished to the Agent pursuant to any other clause of this Section 6.2, copies of any material statements or material reports made available by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries pursuant to the terms of any documents relating to any Subordinated Debt to the holders of such Subordinated Debt (in their capacity as such); (j) Certain Collateral Notices. Promptly (and, in any event, within fifteen (15) days) after the occurrence of the applicable change, notice of (i) change in the jurisdiction of formation of the Borrower, (ii) change in the organizational type of the Borrower, (iii) change in the legal name of the Borrower or (iv) change in any organizational number (if any) assigned by the jurisdiction of formation of the Borrower; (k) Notice of Non-Investment Grade Ratings Event. Promptly (and, in any event, within five (5) days) after a Responsible Officer of the Borrower obtains knowledge thereof, notice of the occurrence of a Non-Investment Grade Ratings Event; (l) Notice of Amendment to FLRT Agreement. In the event the Borrower or any Subsidiary shall have entered into any amendment or other modification to the FLRT Agreement or the BAM Surplus Notes, prompt written notice thereof, together with a copy of such amendment or other modification; and



 

24 [[5791959]] (m) Other Financial Information. Promptly upon request thereof, such other information with respect to the Borrower and its Subsidiaries as may be reasonably requested by the Agent; provided that neither the Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries shall be required to disclose or provide any information (i) in respect of which disclosure to the Agent or any Lender (or any of their respective representatives) is prohibited by applicable Requirements of Law, (ii) that is subject to attorney-client or similar privilege or constitutes attorney work product or (iii) in respect of which the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries owes confidentiality obligations to any third party (provided that such confidentiality obligations were not entered into in contemplation of the requirements of this clause (m)). Documents required to be delivered pursuant to this Section 6.2 (i) may be delivered electronically and (ii) shall be deemed to have been delivered on the date (A) on which the Borrower (or, in the case of clauses (a)(i) and (b)(i) above, White Mountains) posts such documents, or provides a link thereto, at the principal website address of White Mountains (as such address is specified by the Borrower to the Agent from time to time), (B) in respect of the documents required to be delivered pursuant to clause (a)(i) or (b)(i) above, on which the applicable Quarterly Report or Annual Report of White Mountains shall have been made publicly available on the website of the SEC and (C) in respect of documents required to be delivered pursuant to clause (h) above, on which such financial statements shall have been made publicly available on the website of the New York State Department of Financial Services. 6.3 Taxes; Pensions. Timely file (subject to all applicable extensions), and cause each of its Subsidiaries to timely file (subject to all applicable extensions), all required federal, foreign, state and local tax returns and timely pay, and cause each of its Subsidiaries t
timely pay, all federal, foreign, state and local Taxes owed by the Borrower and each of its Subsidiaries, in each case, except to the extent (a) such Taxes are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings promptly instituted and diligently conducted, so long as such reserve or other appropriate provision, if any, as shall be required in conformity with GAAP shall have been made therefor, or (b) the failure to do so would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Change. 6.4 Insurance. Keep, and cause each of its Subsidiaries to keep, its business and properties insured for such risks, and in such amounts, as the Borrower reasonably believes to be prudent in light of the industry and location of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, in each case, with financially sound and reputable insurance companies (as reasonably determined by the Borrower). 6.5 Access to Collateral; Books and Records. Allow, and cause each of its Subsidiaries to allow, the Agent or its agents, upon reasonable prior notice and at reasonable times during normal business hours, to inspect the Collateral and to audit and copy the Books and Records from time to time; provided that neither the Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries shall be required to allow any of the foregoing as to any Books and Records (a) in respect of which disclosure to the Agent or any Lender (or any of their respective representatives) is prohibited by applicable Requirements of Law, (b) that are subject to attorney-client or similar privilege or constitutes attorney work product or (c) in respect of which the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries owes confidentiality obligations to any third party (provided that such confidentiality obligations were not entered into in contemplation of the requirements of this Section 6.5).



 

25 [[5791959]] 6.6 Anti-Corruption Laws; Anti-Money Laundering Laws; Sanctions. (a) Comply, and cause each of its Subsidiaries to comply, in all material respects with all applicable Anti-Corruption Laws, Anti-Money Laundering Laws and Sanctions, (b) not engage, and cause each of its Subsidiaries not to engage, in any activity that would breach in any material respect any applicable Anti-Corruption Law, (c) promptly after a Responsible Officer of the Borrower obtains knowledge thereof, notify the Agent of any action, suit or investigation by any court or Governmental Authority against the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries in relation to an alleged breach of any applicable Anti-Corruption Law by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, (d) not directly or, to the knowledge of the Borrower, indirectly use, lend or contribute the proceeds of the Term Loan for any purpose that would violate any applicable Anti-Corruption Law and (e) in order to comply with the “know your customer/borrower” requirements of the Anti-Money Laundering Laws, promptly provide to the Agent upon its reasonable request from time to time (i) to the extent known to the Borrower, information relating to individuals and entities affiliated with the Borrower that maintain a business relationship with the Agent or any Lender and (ii) such identifying information and documentation as may be available to the Borrower in order to enable the Agent or any Lender to comply with Anti-Money Laundering Laws. 6.7 Lender Calls. Upon the reasonable request of and on reasonable notice from the Agent, not more than twice in any Fiscal Year, participate in a conference call or teleconference, at such time as may be agreed to by the Borrower and the Agent, to review the financial condition of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries. 7. NEGATIVE COVENANTS On and after the Effective Date and so long as any Term Loan Commitment shall be in effect or any Obligations (whether or
not due) shall remain outstanding or unpaid (other than Unasserted Contingent Claims), the Borrower shall not, unless the Agent shall otherwise consent in writing: 7.1 Dispositions. Make, or permit any of its Subsidiaries to make, any Disposition of all or any part of its property or assets, whether now owned or hereafter acquired, except for (a) Dispositions of surplus, worn-out or obsolete equipment or other property that is, in the reasonable judgment of the Borrower, no longer economically practicable or commercially desirable to maintain or useful in the ordinary course of business of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries; (b) Dispositions constituting or effecting Permitted Liens, Permitted Investments or Restricted Payments expressly permitted by Section 7.6; (c) any non-exclusive licenses and any leases or subleases of any property (including Intellectual Property), and any termination of any licenses, leases or subleases of any property (including Intellectual Property), in each case, in the ordinary course of business; (d) Dispositions of cash or Cash Equivalents in the ordinary course of its business or otherwise not in violation of this Agreement; (e) Dispositions of assets to any BAM Trust Account in an amount not to exceed the amount thereof then required so to be Disposed pursuant to the FLRT Agreement or any agreements establishing or governing the BAM Trust Accounts, and other Dispositions made pursuant to the FLRT Agreement or any other agreement between or among the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, on the one hand, and BAM, on the other; (f) Dispositions between and/or among the Borrower and its Subsidiaries; (g) the sale or discount, in each case without recourse or subject to limited customary recourse, of accounts in the ordinary course of business, but only in connection with the compromise or collection thereof; (h) the lapse,



 

26 [[5791959]] abandonment or other Dispositions of Intellectual Property that is, in the reasonable judgment of the Borrower, no longer economically practicable or commercially desirable to maintain or useful in the conduct of the business of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries; (i) Dispositions resulting from any loss, destruction or damage of any property or assets or any actual condemnation, seizure or taking, by exercise of the power of eminent domain or otherwise, of any property or assets; (j) winding-up, liquidations and dissolutions of any Subsidiary to the extent expressly permitted by Section 7.2; (k) mergers, amalgamations and consolidations to the extent expressly permitted by Section 7.3 (other than Section 7.3(c)); (l) the termination or unwinding of any Swap Contract in accordance with its terms or otherwise in the ordinary course of business; (m) Dispositions of property to the extent that (i) the relevant property is exchanged for, or for credit against the purchase price of, similar replacement property or (ii) the proceeds of the relevant Disposition are promptly applied to the purchase price of such replacement property; (n) any surrender or waiver of contractual rights, including any expiration of any option agreement in respect of real or personal property, and the settlement, release or surrender of contractual rights or litigation claims in the ordinary course of business; (o) Dispositions made to comply with any order of any Governmental Authority or any applicable Requirement of Law; and (p) other Dispositions of property or assets that are made for fair market value (as reasonably determined by the Borrower) so long as the aggregate value of all property and assets so disposed of by the Borrower and its Subsidiaries shall not exceed $5,000,000 in any Fiscal Year; provided that, notwithstanding the foregoing, the Borrower and the Subsidiaries may consummate any Business Transfer. 7.2 Changes in Business; Liquidation and
Dissolution. (a) Engage, or permit any of its Subsidiaries to engage, in any lines of business other than the lines of businesses currently engaged in by the Borrower and its Subsidiaries and lines of business reasonably related or ancillary thereto or to the property and casualty insurance or reinsurance business generally, provided that neither the Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries shall provide reinsurance or other Policy risk transfer to any Person other than BAM. (b) Wind-up, liquidate or dissolve, or permit any of its Subsidiaries to do so, provided that (i) any Subsidiary may wind-up, liquidate or dissolve if the Borrower reasonably determines that such winding-up, liquidation or dissolution is not materially disadvantageous to the Lenders, (ii) HGR Portfolio Solutions ICAV may be wound-up, liquidated or dissolved as provided in the FLRT Agreement or in any agreement establishing or governing the BAM Trust Accounts, (iii) the Borrower and any Subsidiary may consummate any merger, amalgamation or consolidation expressly permitted by Section 7.3 and (iv) the Borrower or any Subsidiary may convert into another form of entity so long as such conversion does not impair the security interest of the Agent in the Collateral (it being agreed that a certificate of a Responsible Officer of the Borrower delivered to the Agent stating that the Borrower has determined in good faith that the requirements of this clause (iv) with respect to the applicable conversion have been satisfied shall be conclusive evidence thereof unless the Agent notifies the Borrower in writing within five Business Days of receiving such certificate that it disagrees with such determination (including a reasonable description of the basis upon which it disagrees)). 7.3 Mergers, Amalgamations or Consolidations. Merge, amalgamate or consolidate, or permit any of its Subsidiaries to merge, amalgamate or consolidate, with any other Person, provided that (a) the Borrower or any of its

Subsidiaries may merge, amalgamate or consolidate with the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, provided that if the Borrower is a party thereto, the



 

27 [[5791959]] Borrower shall be the surviving or continuing Person, (b) any Person (other than the Borrower) may merge, amalgamate or consolidate with any Subsidiary in a transaction in which the continuing or surviving Person is a Subsidiary and (c) any Subsidiary may merge, amalgamate or consolidate with any Person (other than the Borrower) in a transaction permitted by Section 7.1 in which, after giving effect to such transaction, the continuing or surviving Person is not a Subsidiary. 7.4 Indebtedness. Create, incur, assume or be liable for any Indebtedness, or permit any of its Subsidiaries to do so, in each case, other than Permitted Indebtedness. 7.5 Encumbrance. Create, incur or allow or suffer to exist, or permit any of its Subsidiaries to do so, any Lien on any of its properties, in each case, other than Permitted Liens. 7.6 Restricted Payments. Make any Restricted Payment, provided that (a) the Borrower may make Restricted Payments made solely in its Equity Interests, (b) the Borrower may repurchase its Equity Interests upon the exercise of stock options, warrants or other securities convertible into or exchangeable for Equity Interests if such Equity Interests represent all or a portion of the exercise price of, or Tax withholding with respect to, such options, warrants or other securities convertible into or exchangeable for Equity Interests, (c) the Borrower may make cash payments in lieu of the issuance of fractional shares in connection with the exercise of warrants, options or other securities convertible into or exchangeable for its Equity Interests, (d) so long as no Default under Section 8.1 or Event of Default under Section 8.4 exists at the time of such Restricted Payment (i) the Borrower may make Restricted Payments consisting of (A) payments made or expected to be made in respect of required withholding or similar Taxes with respect to any Employee Related Persons of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries or (B) repurchases of Equity
Interests in consideration of the payments described in clause (A) above, including demand repurchases in connection with the exercise of stock options, and (ii) the Borrower may make any Restricted Payments to any Employee Related Persons of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries upon the termination, retirement or death of any Employee Related Person or otherwise in accordance with any stock option or stock appreciation or similar rights plan, any management, director and/or employee stock ownership or incentive plan or any other employment arrangements or any equity holders’ agreement; provided that the aggregate amount of all such Restricted Payments does not exceed $500,000 in any Fiscal Year, which amount, to the extent not used in any Fiscal Year, shall be carried forward to the succeeding Fiscal Years, (e) so long as (i) no Default or Event of Default exists at the time of such Restricted Payment or would result therefrom and (ii) after giving effect thereto on a pro forma basis, the Borrower shall be in compliance with Section 7.13 as of the end of the then most recently ended Test Period, (A) the Borrower may make any Restricted Payment with the proceeds of a substantially concurrent issuance and sale of its Equity Interests, (B) the Borrower may make the Specified Restricted Payment, (C) the Borrower may make Restricted Payments to any direct or indirect parent of the Borrower, the proceeds of which shall be used to pay any federal, state, local or foreign income Taxes, or any franchise Taxes imposed in lieu thereof, owed by any direct or indirect parent of the Borrower in respect of any consolidated, combined, unitary or similar income Tax return that includes the Borrower and any of its Subsidiaries, to the extent attributable to income of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries determined as if the Borrower and its Subsidiaries filed consolidated, combined, unitary or similar returns separately from any direct or indirect parent of the

Borrower



 

28 [[5791959]] and (D) the Borrower may make other Restricted Payments; provided that no Restricted Payment shall be made pursuant to this clause (D) with the proceeds of any Shareholder Debt. 7.7 Investments. Make, or permit any of its Subsidiaries to make, any Investment, in each case, other than Permitted Investments; provided, however, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries may create or form a Subsidiary. 7.8 Transactions with Affiliates. Enter into or permit to exist any transaction between the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries with any Affiliate of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, except for: (a) transactions on terms that are no less favorable to the Borrower or such Subsidiary than those that would be obtained in an arm’s length transaction with a Person that is not an Affiliate of the Borrower (as reasonably determined by the Borrower), (b) transactions solely between or among the Borrower and one or more of its Subsidiaries (or any Person that becomes a Subsidiary as a result of such transaction), (c) transactions listed on Schedule 7.8, (d) transactions pursuant to or in connection with the FLRT Agreement or any other agreement with BAM, (e) payment of (x) fees in an aggregate amount in any Fiscal Year not to exceed $1,000,000 and (y) indemnification and expense reimbursements pursuant to policies or arrangements adopted in the ordinary course of business, (f) compensation (including bonuses and commissions) and employment, separation and severance of Employee Related Persons (including expense reimbursement and indemnification) and the establishment and maintenance of benefit programs or arrangements with Employee Related Persons, including vacation plans, health and life insurance plans, deferred compensation plans and retirement or savings plans and similar plans or equity incentive or equity option plans, including entering into any agreement
with respect to the foregoing, performing obligations of the Borrower or any Subsidiary thereunder and making any payments in respect thereof, (g) transactions and payments expressly permitted by this Agreement and the other Loan Documents, (h) any issuance, sale, conversion, exchange or other transaction in respect of Equity Interests not resulting in a Change in Control or otherwise in violation of this Agreement or any other Loan Document, and receipt of capital contributions not in violation of this Agreement or any other Loan Document, (i) any incurrence, repayment, prepayment, purchase, redemption, retirement, cancellation, modification or other transaction with respect to any Indebtedness not in violation of this Agreement or any other Loan Document, (j) any transaction with any Affiliate in connection with any IPO Event, a Change in Control or a Business Transfer and (k) transactions with customers, suppliers, purchasers or sellers of goods or services or providers of employees or other labor entered into in the ordinary course of business. 7.9 Subordinated Debt; Shareholder Debt. (a) Amend any provision in any document relating to the Subordinated Debt in violation of the subordination provisions thereof or any subordination agreement with respect thereto or in a manner that adversely affects in any material respect the subordination thereof to the Obligations. (b) Make any payment, prepayment, redemption, defeasance, sinking fund payment or repurchase of any Subordinated Debt (i) at any time a Default under Section 8.1 exists or (ii) in violation of the subordination provisions thereof or any subordination agreement with respect thereto.



 

29 [[5791959]] (c) Make any payment, prepayment, redemption, defeasance, sinking fund payment or repurchase of any Shareholder Debt at any time a Default under Section 8.1 or an Event of Default under Section 8.4 exists. 7.10 Investment Company Act; Margin Stock; Pensions. (a) Become an “investment company” or a company controlled by an “investment company”, under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended; or undertake as one of its important activities extending credit to purchase or carry margin stock (as defined in Regulation U of the Federal Reserve Board) or use the proceeds of the Term Loan for that purpose. (b) Fail, or permit any of its Subsidiaries to fail, to (i) meet the minimum funding requirements of ERISA with respect to any employee benefit pension plans (as defined in Section 3(2) of ERISA) that is sponsored, maintained or contributed to by the Borrower and that is subject to Title IV of ERISA (a “Pension Plan”) or (ii) prevent a Reportable Event or Prohibited Transaction, as defined in Section 4043 of ERISA and the regulations issued thereunder with respect to any Pension Plan (excluding those for which the 30-day notice period has been waived), from occurring, in each case, where such failure would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Change; withdraw, or permit any of its Subsidiaries to withdraw, from participation in, permit partial or complete termination of, or permit the occurrence of any other event with respect to, any present pension, profit sharing and deferred compensation plan which could reasonably be expected to result in any liability of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, including any liability to the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation or its successors or any other Governmental Authority, in each case which would reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Change. 7.11 Modifications of Operating Documents. Amend, modify or otherwise change, or permit
any of its Subsidiaries to do so, any of its or its Subsidiaries’ Operating Documents in any way materially adverse to the interests of the Agent and the Lenders (in their capacities as such) under the Loan Documents. 7.12 Sanctions; Anti-Corruption Laws; Anti-Money Laundering Laws. Use, or permit any of its Subsidiaries to use, directly or, to the knowledge of the Borrower, indirectly, any of the proceeds of the Term Loan (a) to fund any activities or business of or with any Sanctioned Person or in any other manner that would result in a violation of any applicable Sanctions by the Borrower, any of its Subsidiaries, the Agent or any Lender or (b) for the purpose of an offer, payment, promise to pay, or authorization of the payment or giving of money, or anything else of value, to any Person in violation of any applicable Anti-Corruption Law or Anti Money Laundering Laws. 7.13 Debt to Total Capital Ratio. Permit the Debt to Capital Ratio as of the end of any Test Period, commencing with the first Test Period ending after the Effective Date, to exceed 30%. Notwithstanding the foregoing or anything to the contrary in this Agreement (including Section 8), with respect to an Event of Default as a result of the Borrower’s failure to comply with this Section 7.13 on the last day of any Test Period, the Borrower shall have the right (the “Cure Right”), at any time until the date that is five (5) Business Days after the date on which financial statements for the applicable Fiscal Quarter or Fiscal Year are required to be delivered pursuant to



 

30 [[5791959]] Section 6.2(a) or 6.2(b), as applicable, to issue Qualified Equity Interests for cash or otherwise receive cash contributions in respect of its Qualified Equity Interests, in each case, which are designated by the Borrower as proceeds which shall be used, at the election of the Borrower, either (i) to increase the denominator of the Debt to Capital Ratio or (ii) to prepay the Term Loan, in each case, pursuant to the exercise of a Cure Right (the “Cure Amount”), and thereupon the Borrower’s compliance with this Section 7.13 shall be recalculated giving pro forma effect to such increase in such denominator or such prepayment by an amount equal to the Cure Amount solely for the purpose of determining compliance with this Section 7.13 as of the last day of such Test Period. If, after giving effect to the foregoing recalculation, the requirements of this Section 7.13 would be satisfied, then the requirements of this Section 7.13 shall be deemed satisfied as of the end of the relevant Test Period with the same effect as though there had been no failure to comply therewith at such date, and the applicable breach or default of this Section 7.13 that had occurred (or would have occurred) shall be deemed cured for all purposes of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, (A) during the term of this Agreement, the Cure Right shall not be exercised more than five times, and in each period of four consecutive Fiscal Quarters there shall be at least two Fiscal Quarters in which the Cure Right is not exercised, (B) the Cure Amount shall be no greater than the amount required for the purpose of complying with this Section 7.13 and (C) upon the Agent’s receipt of a written notice from the Borrower that the Borrower intends to exercise the Cure Right (a “Notice of Intent to Cure”) until the 5th Business Day following the date on which financial statements for the applicable Fiscal Quarter or Fiscal Year to which
such Notice of Intent of Cure relates are required to be delivered pursuant to Section 6.2(a) or 6.2(b), as applicable, neither the Agent (nor any sub-agent therefor) nor any Lender shall exercise any right to accelerate the Term Loan or any other Obligations, and none of the Agent (nor any sub-agent therefor) or any Lender shall exercise any right to foreclose on, realize, or take possession of any Collateral or any other right or remedy under the Loan Documents solely on the basis of an Event of Default under this Section 7.13. 8. EVENTS OF DEFAULT The continuance of any one of the following shall constitute an event of default (an “Event of Default”) under this Agreement: 8.1 Payment Default. The Borrower fails to make any payment of principal of the Term Loan or to pay any other Obligations (including interest or the Applicable Prepayment Premium) within thirty (30) days after such principal or such other Obligations are due and payable (which thirty (30) days cure period shall not apply to payments due on the Term Loan Maturity Date). 8.2 Covenant Default. (a) The Borrower fails or neglects to perform any obligation set forth in Section 6.1(a) (as to the legal existence of the Borrower), 6.2(f)(i) or 7; provided that any failure or neglect to perform any obligation set forth in Section 7.13 is subject to cure as provided in such Section and no Default or Event of Default shall arise under this clause (a) in respect of Section 7.13 until the 5th Business Day after the day on which financial statements are required to be delivered for the relevant Fiscal Quarter or Fiscal Year under Section 6.2(a) or 6.2(b), as applicable (unless the Borrower is not entitled to exercise the Cure Right in respect of the applicable Test



 

31 [[5791959]] Period pursuant to Section 7.13, in which case such Default or Event of Default will not be delayed until such 5th Business Day), and then only if the applicable Cure Amount has not been received on or prior to such 5th Business Day; or (b) The Borrower fails or neglects to perform, keep, or observe any other covenant or agreement of the Borrower contained in this Agreement or any Loan Documents (not specified in Section 8.1 or 8.2(a)), and such failure or neglect continues for thirty (30) days after the earlier of (i) receipt of written notice of such failure or neglect by a Responsible Officer of the Borrower from the Agent and (ii) the date a Responsible Officer of the Borrower has knowledge of such failure or neglect. 8.3 Attachment; Levy; Restraint on Business. (a) Any material portion of the assets of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, is attached, seized or levied on (in each case, excluding any Permitted Lien), or (b) any order of a court of competent jurisdiction enjoins, restrains, or prevents the Borrower or its Subsidiaries from conducting all or any material part of their business, and, in each case under this Section 8.3, the foregoing is not removed, discharged or rescinded within thirty (30) days; 8.4 Insolvency. (a) The Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries is generally unable to pay its debts (including trade debts) as they become due, is generally not paying its debts as such debts become due, admits in writing its inability to pay its debts generally or makes a general assignment for the benefit of creditors; (b) the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries begins an Insolvency Proceeding (other than, in the case of any Subsidiary, as expressly permitted by Section 7.2(b)); (c) an Insolvency Proceeding is begun against the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries and is not dismissed or stayed within sixty (60) days; (d) in the case of subclause (a) or (b) above, the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries shall take any action to authorize
any of the actions set forth therein; or (e) any material portion of the assets (or any material portion of the Collateral) of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, comes into possession of a trustee or receiver as a result of any Insolvency Proceeding; 8.5 Other Agreements. There is, under any agreement governing Indebtedness in an aggregate outstanding principal amount in excess of $5,000,000 to which the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries is a party with any Person that is not an Affiliate thereof, any default or breach by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries which has resulted in a current right by such Person, whether or not exercised, to accelerate the maturity of such Indebtedness (after giving effect to any grace or cure period and the giving of notice if required thereunder (and in each case, not prior thereto, it being understood that any such default or breach shall not constitute a Default or Event of Default hereunder while any notice or grace period, if applicable to such default or breach, remains in effect)); provided that the provisions of this Section 8.5 shall not apply to (a) any secured Indebtedness that becomes due as a result of the voluntary sale or other Disposition of, or a casualty, condemnation, taking or similar event with respect to, the property securing such Indebtedness if such sale or other Disposition is permitted under this Agreement and (b) any termination (or similar event) with respect to any Swap Contract; 8.6 Judgments; Penalties. One or more fines, penalties or final judgments, orders or decrees for the payment of money in an amount, individually or in the aggregate, at least equal to $5,000,000 (to the extent not covered by independent third-party insurance as to which liability



 

32 [[5791959]] has not been denied by such insurance carrier other than customary deductibles) shall be rendered against the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries by any Governmental Authority, and the same are not, within sixty (60) days after the entry, assessment or issuance thereof, discharged, satisfied, or paid, or after execution thereof, stayed or bonded pending appeal, or such judgments are not discharged or bonded prior to the expiration of any such stay; 8.7 Misrepresentations. The Borrower or any Person acting for the Borrower makes any representation, warranty or certification in this Agreement, any other Loan Document or any certificate delivered to the Agent in connection with this Agreement or any other Loan Document, and such representation, warranty or other certification is incorrect in any material respect when made, other than if the circumstances giving rise to the such incorrectness and the consequences of such incorrectness are capable of remedy and are remedied within thirty (30) days of the earlier of (a) receipt of written notice of such incorrectness by a Responsible Officer of the Borrower from the Agent and (b) the date a Responsible Officer of the Borrower has knowledge of such incorrectness; 8.8 Subordinated Debt. The Obligations ceasing, or the assertion in writing by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries that the Obligations have ceased, to constitute senior indebtedness under the subordination provisions of any document, instrument or agreement evidencing any Subordinated Debt (in each case, to the extent required by such subordination provisions) or the subordination provisions of any document, instrument or agreement evidencing any Subordinated Debt shall for any reason be invalidated or otherwise cease to be in full force and effect, or any other Person shall take a material action in breach thereof or contest in writing the validity or enforceability thereof or deny in writing that it has any further liability or
obligation thereunder, in each case under this Section 8.8, other than in accordance with the terms thereof; 8.9 Governmental Approvals. Any Insurance License of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries shall have been (a) revoked, rescinded, suspended, modified in an adverse manner or not renewed in the ordinary course for a full term or (b) subject to any decision by a Governmental Authority that would reasonably be expected to result in such Governmental Authority taking any of the actions described in clause (a) above, and such revocation, rescission, suspension, modification or non-renewal or such decision cause, or would reasonably be expected to cause, a Material Adverse Change; 8.10 Change in Control. A Change in Control shall occur; or 8.11 Validity; Liens. Any material provision of any Loan Document shall for any reason cease to be valid, binding and enforceable in accordance with its terms (or the Borrower or any Subsidiary shall assert in writing that any material provision of any Loan Document has ceased to be or otherwise is not valid, binding and enforceable in accordance with its terms), or any Lien created under any Loan Document shall cease to be a valid and perfected first priority Lien (subject to Permitted Liens) on any material portion of the Collateral, in each case under this Section 8.11, except (a) solely as a result of any action or inaction by the Agent or any Lender or (b) as otherwise permitted herein or therein.



 

33 [[5791959]] 9. RIGHTS AND REMEDIES 9.1 Rights and Remedies. Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, the Agent may, upon prior written notice to the Borrower, do any or all of the following: (a) terminate the Term Loan Commitments and declare all Obligations (including the Applicable Prepayment Premium, if any) immediately due and payable (but if an Event of Default described in Section 8.4(b) or 8.4(c) occurs, without notice or demand, all the Term Loan Commitments shall immediately terminate and all Obligations (including all accrued and unpaid interest thereon, all fees, the Applicable Prepayment Premium, if any, and all other amounts due under the Loan Documents) shall immediately be due and payable without any action by the Agent, without any notice to the Borrower or any other Person or any act by the Agent or any Lender); (b) stop advancing money or extending credit for the Borrower’s benefit under this Agreement; (c) make any payments and do any acts it considers necessary or reasonable to protect the Collateral and/or its security interest in the Collateral, and the Borrower shall assemble the Collateral if the Agent requests and make it available as the Agent designates; (d) enter premises where the Collateral is located, take and maintain possession of any part of the Collateral, and pay, purchase, contest, or compromise any Lien which appears to be prior or superior to its security interest and pay all expenses incurred, and in connection therewith the Borrower grants the Agent a license to enter and occupy its premises, without charge, to exercise any of the Agent’s or the Lenders’ rights or remedies; (e) ship, reclaim, recover, store, finish, maintain, repair, prepare for sale, advertise for sale, and sell the Collateral and in connection therewith the Agent is hereby granted a non-exclusive, royalty-free license or other right to use, without charge, the Borrower’s labels, Patents, Copyrights, mask
works, rights of use of any name, trade secrets, trade names, Trademarks, and advertising matter, or any similar property as it pertains to the Collateral, in completing production of, advertising for sale, and selling any Collateral and, in connection with the Agent’s exercise of its rights under this Section 9.1(e), the Borrower’s rights under all licenses and all franchise agreements inure to the Agent’s benefit (on behalf of itself and the Lenders); (f) deliver a notice of exclusive control, any entitlement order, or other directions or instructions pursuant to any Control Agreement or similar agreements providing control of any Collateral; (g) demand and receive possession of any Books and Records; and (h) exercise all rights and remedies available to any Secured Party under the Loan Documents or at law or equity, including all remedies provided under the Code (including disposal of the Collateral pursuant to the terms thereof).



 

34 [[5791959]] Notwithstanding anything in this Section 9.1 or elsewhere in this Agreement to the contrary, neither the Agent nor any Lender shall have the right to terminate any Term Loan Commitment (and no termination thereof that might otherwise be referred to herein on account of the existence of any Event of Default shall be effective), in each case, prior to the date of the termination of the Term Loan Commitments in accordance with Section 2.2(b); provided that (i) the provisions of this paragraph shall not apply to the automatic termination of the Term Loan Commitments pursuant to Section 9.1(a) as a result of the occurrence of an Event of Default described in Section 8.4(b) or 8.4(c) and (ii) nothing in this paragraph shall be deemed to be a waiver by any Lender of any condition precedent set forth in Section 3.2. 9.2 Power of Attorney. The Borrower hereby irrevocably appoints the Agent as its lawful attorney-in-fact and proxy, with full authority in the place and stead of the Borrower and in the name of the Borrower or otherwise, from time to time in the Agent’s discretion, exercisable only upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, to take any action and to execute any instrument that the Agent may deem necessary or advisable to accomplish the purposes of this Agreement, including but not limited to: (a) endorse the Borrower’s name on any checks or other forms of payment or security; (b) pay, contest or settle any Lien and adverse claim in or to the Collateral, or any judgment based thereon, or otherwise take any action to terminate or discharge the same; and (c) transfer the Collateral into the name of the Agent or a third party as the Code permits. The Borrower also hereby appoints the Agent as its lawful attorney-in-fact to sign the Borrower’s name on any documents necessary to perfect or establish the priority of, or to continue the perfection or priority of, the Agent’s security interest in the Collateral, regardles
of whether an Event of Default has occurred. The Agent’s foregoing appointments as the Borrower’s attorney in fact, and all of the Agent’s rights and powers, coupled with an interest, are irrevocable until all the Term Loan Commitments shall have terminated and all Obligations (other than Unasserted Contingent Claims) shall have been fully repaid and performed, but shall automatically cease to be in effect thereafter. 9.3 Protective Payments. If the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries fails to obtain the insurance required by Section 6.4 or fails to pay any premium thereon or fails to pay any other amount which the Borrower is obligated to pay under this Agreement or any other Loan Document or which may be required to preserve the Collateral, the Agent may obtain such insurance or make such payment, and all amounts so paid by the Agent shall be Obligations and shall be secured by the Collateral. The Agent shall provide the Borrower with notice of the Agent obtaining such insurance at the time it is obtained or within a reasonable time thereafter. No such payments by the Agent are deemed an agreement to make similar payments in the future or a Secured Party’s waiver of any Event of Default. 9.4 Application of Payments and Proceeds upon Default. If an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the Agent shall have the right to apply in any order any funds in its possession, whether from the Borrower’s account balances, payments, proceeds realized as the result of any collection of or any Disposition of the Collateral, or otherwise, to the Obligations. The Agent shall pay any surplus to the Borrower or to other Persons legally entitled thereto; the Borrower shall remain liable to the Secured Parties for any deficiency. If the Agent, directly or indirectly, enters into a deferred payment or other credit transaction with any purchaser at any sale of Collateral, the Agent shall have the option, exercisable at any time, of either reducing the



 

35 [[5791959]] Obligations by the principal amount of the purchase price or deferring the reduction of the Obligations until the actual receipt by the Agent of cash therefor. 9.5 Agent’s Liability for Collateral. So long as the Agent complies with reasonable banking practices regarding the safekeeping of the Collateral in the possession or under the control of the Agent, the Agent shall not be liable or responsible for: (a) the safekeeping of the Collateral; (b) any loss or damage to the Collateral; (c) any diminution in the value of the Collateral; or (d) any act or default of any carrier, warehouseman, bailee, or other third party. Subject to the foregoing, the Borrower bears all risk of loss, damage or destruction of the Collateral. 9.6 No Waiver; Remedies Cumulative. The Agent’s failure, at any time or times, to require strict performance by the Borrower of any provision of this Agreement or any other Loan Document shall not waive, affect or diminish any right of any Secured Party thereafter to demand strict performance and compliance herewith or therewith. The Secured Parties’ rights and remedies under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents are cumulative. The Secured Parties have all rights and remedies provided under the Code, by law, or in equity. A Secured Party’s exercise of one right or remedy is not an election and shall not preclude any Secured Party from exercising any other remedy under this Agreement or other remedy available at law or in equity. Any Secured Party’s delay in exercising any remedy is not a waiver, election, or acquiescence. 9.7 Demand Waiver. The Borrower waives demand, notice of default or dishonor, notice of payment and nonpayment, notice of any default, nonpayment at maturity, release, compromise, settlement, extension, or renewal of accounts, documents, instruments, chattel paper, and guarantees held by the Agent on which the Borrower is liable, in each case, in connection with any exercise of remedies
hereunder and except for any notice by the Agent or any Lender that is expressly required or contemplated to be given to the Borrower under this Agreement or any other Loan Document. 10. NOTICES All notices, consents, requests, approvals, demands, or other communication by any party to this Agreement or any other Loan Document to any other such party must be in writing and shall be deemed to have been validly served, given, or delivered: (a) upon the earlier of actual receipt and three (3) Business Days after deposit in the U.S. mail, first class, registered or certified mail return receipt requested, with proper postage prepaid; (b) upon transmission (or, if not transmitted during the normal business hours of the recipient, at the opening of business on the next business day for the recipient), when sent by e-mail; (c) one (1) Business Day after deposit with a reputable overnight courier with all charges prepaid; or (d) when delivered, if hand- delivered by messenger, all of which shall be addressed to the party to be notified and sent to the address or e-mail address indicated below. The Agent, any Lender or the Borrower may change its mailing or e-mail address by giving the other parties hereto written notice thereof in accordance with the terms of this Section 10. If to the Borrower: President HG Global Ltd. 26 Reid Street



 



 

37 [[5791959]] (c) Each party hereto irrevocably and unconditionally waives, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Requirements of Law, any objection that it may now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of any suit, action or proceeding based upon, arising out of or relating to this Agreement or any other Loan Document in any court referred to in Section 11(b). Each of the parties hereto irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Requirements of Law, any claim or defense of an inconvenient forum to the maintenance of such suit, action or proceeding in any such court. (d) Each party hereto hereby waives personal service of the summons, complaints and other process issued in any suit, action or proceeding based upon, arising out of or relating to this Agreement or any other Loan Document in any court referred to in Section 11(b) and agrees that service of such summons, complaints and other process may be made by registered or certified mail addressed to such party at the address set forth in, or subsequently provided by such party in accordance with, Section 10 and that service so made shall be deemed completed upon the earlier to occur of such party’s actual receipt thereof or three (3) Business Days after deposit in the U.S. mails, proper postage prepaid. Each party hereto waives any objection to such service of process and further irrevocably waives and agrees not to plead or claim in any such suit, action or proceeding that service of process was invalid and ineffective. Nothing in this Agreement or any other Loan Document will affect the right of any party to this Agreement to serve process in any other manner permitted by applicable Requirements of Law. (e) TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, THE BORROWER, THE AGENT AND EACH LENDER IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ITS RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL OF ANY CLAIM OR CAUSE OF ACTION ARISING OUT OF
OR BASED UPON THIS AGREEMENT, THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS OR ANY TRANSACTION CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR THEREBY, INCLUDING CONTRACT, TORT, BREACH OF DUTY AND ALL OTHER CLAIMS. THIS WAIVER IS A MATERIAL INDUCEMENT FOR ALL PARTIES TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT. EACH PARTY HAS REVIEWED THIS WAIVER WITH ITS COUNSEL. (f) This Section 11 shall survive the termination of this Agreement. 12. GENERAL PROVISIONS 12.1 Termination Prior to Term Loan Maturity Date; Survival. All covenants, representations and warranties made in this Agreement shall continue in full force until this Agreement has terminated pursuant to its terms. Upon the termination of all the Term Loan Commitments and the satisfaction by the Borrower of all Obligations (other than Unasserted Contingent Claims and any other obligations which, by their terms, are to survive the termination of this Agreement) in full in cash, this Agreement shall automatically terminate, provided that those obligations that are expressly specified in this Agreement as surviving this Agreement’s termination shall continue to survive notwithstanding this Agreement’s termination. 12.2 Successors and Assigns. (a) This Agreement binds and is for the benefit of the successors and permitted assigns of each party. The Borrower may not assign this Agreement or any of its rights or



 

38 [[5791959]] obligations hereunder without each Lender’s prior written consent, and any such assignment without such prior written consent shall be null and void. (b) No Lender may assign this Agreement or any of its rights or obligations hereunder, except that, with the prior written consent of the Agent and, so long as no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the Borrower (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed), each Lender has the right to assign all or any part of, or any interest in, its rights and obligations under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents to any Eligible Assignee, and, in the absence of any such required consent, any such assignment shall be null and void; provided that no consent of the Borrower shall be required for an assignment by a Lender of any of its rights or obligations hereunder to another Lender. The parties to each such assignment shall execute and deliver to the Agent, for its acceptance, an Assignment and Acceptance, together with any promissory note subject to such assignment. By executing and delivering an Assignment and Acceptance, the assigning Lender and the assignee thereunder confirm to and agree with each other and the other parties hereto as follows: (i) other than as provided in such Assignment and Acceptance, the assigning Lender makes no representation or warranty and assumes no responsibility with respect to any statements, warranties or representations made in or in connection with this Agreement or any other Loan Document or the execution, legality, validity, enforceability, genuineness, sufficiency or value of this Agreement or any other Loan Document furnished pursuant hereto; (ii) the assigning Lender makes no representation or warranty and assumes no responsibility with respect to the financial condition of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries or the performance or observance by the Borrower of any of its obligations under this Agreement or any other
Loan Document; (iii) such assignee confirms that it has received a copy of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents, together with such other documents and information it has deemed appropriate to make its own credit analysis and decision to enter into such Assignment and Acceptance; (iv) such assignee will, independently and without reliance upon the assigning Lender, the Agent or any Lender and based on such documents and information as it shall deem appropriate at the time, continue to make its own credit decisions in taking or not taking action under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents; (v) such assignee appoints and authorizes the Agent to take such action as agent on its behalf and to exercise such powers under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents as are delegated to the Agent by the terms hereof and thereof, together with such powers as are reasonably incidental hereto and thereto; and (vi) such assignee agrees that it will perform in accordance with their terms all of the obligations which by the terms of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents are required to be performed by it as a Lender. (c) With the prior written consent of the Agent and, so long as no Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, the Borrower (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed), each Lender has the right to grant participation in all or any part of, or any interest in, its rights and obligations under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents to any Eligible Assignee; provided that (i) such Lender’s obligations under this Agreement shall remain unchanged, (ii) such Lender shall remain solely responsible to the other parties hereto for the performance of such obligations and (iii) the other parties hereto shall continue to deal solely and directly with such Lender in connection with such Lender’s rights and obligations under this Agreement. A Lender that sells a participation shall, acting solely for this purpose a

an agent of Borrower, maintain a register on which it enters the name and address of each participant and the principal amounts (and stated interest) of each participant’s interest in the Term Loan or other



 

39 [[5791959]] obligations under the Loan Documents (the “Participant Register”); provided that no Lender shall have any obligation to disclose all or any portion of the Participant Register (including the identity of any participant or any information relating to a participant’s interest in any commitments, loans, letters of credit or its other obligations under any Loan Document) to any Person except to the extent that such disclosure is necessary to establish that such commitment, loan, letter of credit or other obligation is in registered form under Section 5f.103-1(c) of the United States Treasury Regulations. The entries in the Participant Register shall be conclusive absent manifest error, and such Lender shall treat each Person whose name is recorded in the Participant Register as the owner of such participation for all purposes of this Agreement notwithstanding any notice to the contrary. (d) The Agent, acting solely for this purpose as an agent of the Borrower, shall maintain at one of its offices a copy of each Assignment and Acceptance delivered to it and a register for the recordation of the names and addresses of each Lender and its assignees and transferees, and the Term Loan Commitment of, and principal amounts (and stated interest) of the Term Loan owing to, each Lender and each assignee pursuant to the terms hereof from time to time (the “Register”). The entries in the Register shall be conclusive absent manifest error, and the Borrower, the Agent, each Lender and each assignee shall treat each Person whose name is recorded in the Register pursuant to the terms hereof as a Lender hereunder for all purposes of this Agreement. The Register shall be available for inspection by the Borrower, the Lenders and any assignee and transferee, at any reasonable time and from time to time upon reasonable prior notice. 12.3 Indemnification. The Borrower agrees to indemnify, defend and hold each Secured Party, each of its Affiliates and each of its and its
Affiliates’ directors, officers, employees, agents or attorneys (each, an “Indemnified Person”) harmless against all claims, losses, damages, penalties, liabilities and reasonable and documented out-of-pocket costs and expenses (including, without limitation, reasonable and documented fees, costs and expenses of outside counsel, but limited to the reasonable and documented fees, costs and expenses of one firm of outside counsel to all Indemnified Persons, taken as a whole, and, if necessary, of one firm of local counsel in each appropriate jurisdiction to all Indemnified Persons, taken as a whole, which may include a single firm of local counsel acting in multiple jurisdictions) (collectively, “Claims”) incurred by such Indemnified Persons, whether prior to or from and after the Effective Date, whether direct, indirect or consequential, as a result of or arising from or relating to or in connection with the transactions contemplated by the Loan Documents, other than Claims (a) caused by gross negligence or willful misconduct of such Indemnified Person or any of its Affiliates, or any of its or their directors, officers or employees, in each case, as determined by a final, non-appealable judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction, (b) arising from a breach by such Indemnified Person or any of its Affiliates, or any of its or their directors, officers or employees, of its obligations under the Loan Documents or (c) arising from a dispute solely among the Indemnified Persons not arising out of or resulting from any act or omission on the part of the Borrower. This Section 12.3 shall not apply with respect to Taxes, other than any Taxes that represent claims, losses, damages, penalties or liabilities arising from any non-Tax claim. All amounts due under this Section 12.3 shall be payable by the Borrower within ten (10) days after receipt by the Borrower of an invoice therefor setting forth the amount thereof in reasonable detail, together with reasonable supporting

documentation.



 

40 [[5791959]] This Section 12.3 shall survive until all statutes of limitation with respect to the Claims and expenses for which indemnity is given shall have run. 12.4 Time of Essence. Time is of the essence for the performance of all obligations under this Agreement. 12.5 Severability of Provisions. Each provision of this Agreement is severable from every other provision in determining the enforceability of any provision. 12.6 Correction of Loan Documents. The Agent may correct patent errors and fill in any blanks in the Loan Documents consistent with the agreement of the parties so long as the Agent provides the Borrower with prior written notice of such correction and allows the Borrower at least ten (10) Business Days to object to such correction. In the event of such objection, such correction shall not be made except by an amendment signed by the Agent and the Borrower. 12.7 Amendments in Writing; Waiver; Integration. (a) Except as contemplated by Section 12.6 and except for any waivers or consents expressly permitted under this Agreement or any other Loan Document to be given by the Agent, no purported amendment or modification of any Loan Document, or waiver, discharge or termination of any obligation under any Loan Document, shall be enforceable or admissible unless, and only to the extent, expressly set forth in a writing signed by the Required Lenders (or by the Agent with the consent of the Required Lenders) and the Borrower; provided, however, that no amendment, modification, waiver or consent shall: (i) increase the Term Loan Commitment of any Lender or increase the Pro Rata Share of any Lender, reduce the principal of, or interest on, the Term Loan held by any Lender or any fee or Applicable Prepayment Premium payable to any Lender or postpone or extend any scheduled date fixed for any payment of principal of, or interest on, the Term Loan payable to any Lender, in each case, without the written consent of
such Lender (it being agreed that (A) no amendment, modification or waiver of, or consent to departure from, any condition precedent, representation, warranty, covenant, Default, Event of Default, mandatory prepayment or the implementation of the Default Rate shall be within the scope of this clause (i), and such actions shall only require the consent of the Required Lenders and (B) any amendment, modification or waiver of, or consent to departure from, the definition of the “Early Amortization Start Date” or the “Applicable Prepayment Premium” (or, in each case, any component definitions thereof) shall only require the consent of the Required Lenders); (ii) change the percentage of the Term Loan Commitment or of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Term Loan that is required for the Lenders or any of them to take any action hereunder without the written consent of each Lender adversely affected thereby; (iii) amend the definition of “Required Lenders” or “Pro Rata Share” without the written consent of each Lender adversely affected thereby; (iv) release from the Liens created under the Loan Documents all or substantially all of the Collateral (except as otherwise provided in this Agreement and the other Loan Documents), subordinate any Lien on the Collateral granted in favor of the Agent pursuant to the Loan Documents (except as otherwise provided in this Agreement) or release the Borrower from its obligations under the Loan Documents without the written consent of each Lender adversely affected thereby; (v) amend, modify or waive Section 9.4 or this Section 12.7 without the written consent of each Lender adversely affected thereby; or (vi) amend, modify or waive any provision of this Agreement in a manner that is directly and disproportionately adverse to any Lender (in each case, as compared to



 

41 [[5791959]] all of the Lenders) without the consent of each such Lender so affected by such amendment, modification or waiver. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no amendment or modification of any Loan Document shall, unless signed by the Agent, affect the rights or duties of the Agent (in its capacity as such) under this Agreement or the other Loan Documents. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, no oral promise or statement, nor any action, inaction, delay, failure to require performance or course of conduct shall operate as, or evidence, an amendment, modification or consent or have any other effect on any Loan Document. Any waiver or consent granted shall be limited to the specific circumstance expressly described in it, and shall not apply to any subsequent or other circumstance, whether similar or dissimilar, or give rise to, or evidence, any obligation or commitment to grant any further waiver or consent. (b) The Loan Documents represent the entire agreement among the parties hereto about the subject matter thereof and supersede prior negotiations or agreements with respect to such subject matter. All prior agreements, understandings, representations, warranties, and negotiations among the parties hereto about the subject matter of the Loan Documents merge into the Loan Documents. 12.8 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by different parties on separate counterparts, each of which, when executed and delivered, is an original, and all taken together constitute one agreement. 12.9 Confidentiality. Each Secured Party agrees to maintain the confidentiality of the Confidential Information (as defined below) and to exercise the same degree of care with respect thereto that it exercises for its own proprietary information, but disclosure of information may be made: (a) to the Agent’s or any Lender’s Subsidiaries or other Affiliates (such Subsidiaries and other Affiliates, together with the
Agent and the Lenders, collectively, the “Lender Entities”) on a “need-to-know” basis who are informed of the confidential nature of such information and are or have been advised of their obligation to keep information of this type confidential, (b) to prospective assignees of or participants in any interest in the Term Loan (provided, however, that any prospective assignee or participant shall have entered into an agreement for the benefit of the Borrower containing provisions substantially the same as those in this Section 12.9); (c) as required by law, regulation, subpoena, or other similar order of a Governmental Authority; (d) to the Agent or a Lender’s regulators (and any self-regulatory authority (including the National Association of Insurance Commissioners)) or as otherwise required in connection with the Agent’s or the Lender’s regulators’ examination or audit; (e) as the Agent or the Lenders reasonably consider appropriate in exercising remedies under the Loan Documents; and (f) to third-party service providers of the Agent so long as such service providers have executed a confidentiality agreement with the Agent with terms no less restrictive than those contained herein. For purposes of this Section, “Confidential Information” means all information relating to the Borrower and its Subsidiaries or other Affiliates and their respective businesses or the transactions contemplated hereby (including any information obtained by the Agent or any Lender from the review of the Books and Records), provided that Confidential information does not include information that is either: (i) in the public domain or in the Agent’s possession when disclosed to the Agent, or becomes part of the public domain (other than as a result of its disclosure by any other Lender Entity in violation of this Agreement) after disclosure to the Agent or any Lender; or (ii) disclosed to the Agent or any other Lender Entity by a third party if the Agent or such Lender Entity does not

know that the third party is prohibited from disclosing the information. Lender Entities may



 

42 [[5791959]] use anonymous forms of confidential information for aggregate datasets, for analyses or reporting, and for any other uses not expressly prohibited in writing by the Borrower. This Section 12.9 shall survive the termination of this Agreement. 12.10 Fees, Costs and Expenses. The Borrower shall reimburse (all being collectively referred to herein as the “Secured Party Expenses”): (a) the Agent for all reasonable and documented out-of-pocket fees, costs and expenses, including the reasonable and documented fees, costs and expenses of outside counsel for advice, assistance or other representation (but limited to one firm of outside counsel and, if necessary, one firm of local counsel in each appropriate jurisdiction, which may include a single firm of local counsel acting in multiple jurisdictions), in connection with negotiation, preparation, amendment, modification or waiver of, or consent with respect to, any of the Loan Documents or advice in connection with the administration of the Term Loan made pursuant hereto or its rights under the Loan Documents, provided that, with respect to any fees, costs and expenses incurred on or prior to the Funding Date, the Borrower shall not be required to reimburse under this clause (a) more than $200,000 therefor; and (b) the Agent and the Lenders for all reasonable and documented out-of-pocket fees, costs and expenses, including the reasonable and documented fees, costs and expenses of outside counsel (but limited to one firm of outside counsel and, if necessary, one firm of local counsel in each appropriate jurisdiction, which may include a single firm of local counsel acting in multiple jurisdictions) for advice, assistance or other representation, in connection with: (i) termination or enforcement of any of the Loan Documents; (ii) any litigation, contest, dispute, suit, proceeding or action (whether instituted by the Agent, the Lenders, the Borrower or any other Person, and whether as a party, witness or
otherwise) in any way relating to the Collateral, any of the Loan Documents or any other agreement to be executed or delivered in connection herewith or therewith, including any litigation, contest, dispute, suit, case, proceeding or action, and any appeal or review thereof, in connection with a case commenced by or against the Borrower or any other Person that may be obligated to the Agent or the Lenders by virtue of the Loan Documents, including any such litigation, contest, dispute, suit, proceeding or action arising in connection with any work-out or restructuring of the Term Loan during the pendency of one or more Events of Default; (iii) any attempt to enforce any remedies of the Agent or the Lenders against the Borrower or any other Person that may be obligated to the Agent or the Lenders by virtue of any of the Loan Documents, including any such attempt to enforce any such remedies in the course of any work- out or restructuring of the Term Loan during the pendency of one or more Events of Default; (iv) any work-out or restructuring of the Term Loan during the pendency of one or more Events of Default; and (v) any efforts after the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default to protect, evaluate, assess, appraise, collect, sell, liquidate or otherwise dispose of any of the Collateral; provided, in the case of this clause (b), that to the extent applicable, the exceptions set forth in Section 12.3 shall apply to the obligations of the Borrower under this Section 12.10. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, to the extent set forth above in this Section 12.10, such expenses, costs, charges and fees may include: reasonable and documented out-of-pocket fees, costs and expenses of accountants, appraisers, investment bankers, management and other consultants and paralegals; court costs and expenses; photocopying and duplication expenses; court reporter fees, costs and expenses; long distance telephone charges; air express

charges; secretarial overtime charges; and reasonable out-of-pocket expenses for travel, lodging and food paid or incurred in connection with the performance of such legal or other advisory services. All amounts due under this Section 12.10 shall be payable by the Borrower within ten (10) days after receipt by the Borrower of an invoice therefor setting forth the amount thereof in reasonable detail,



 

43 [[5791959]] together with reasonable supporting documentation. This Section 12.10 shall survive the termination of this Agreement. 12.11 Electronic Execution of Documents. The words “execution”, “signed”, “signature” and words of like import in any Loan Document or in any document, consent, notice, certificate, request, statement or authorization relating to any Loan Document shall be deemed to include Electronic Signatures or the keeping of records in electronic form, each of which shall be of the same legal effect, validity and enforceability as a manually executed signature or the use of a paper-based recordkeeping systems, as the case may be, to the extent and as provided for in any applicable law, including, without limitation, any state law based on the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act. 12.12 Captions. The headings used in this Agreement are for convenience only and shall not affect the interpretation of this Agreement. 12.13 Construction of Agreement. The parties mutually acknowledge that they and their attorneys have participated in the preparation and negotiation of this Agreement. In cases of uncertainty, this Agreement shall be construed without regard to which of the parties caused the uncertainty to exist. 12.14 Relationship. The relationship of the parties to this Agreement is determined solely by the provisions of this Agreement. The parties do not intend to create any agency, partnership, joint venture, trust, fiduciary or other relationship with duties or incidents different from those of parties to an arm’s-length contract. 12.15 USA PATRIOT Act. Each Lender that is subject to the requirements of the USA PATRIOT Act hereby notifies the Borrower that pursuant to the requirements of the USA PATRIOT Act, it is required to obtain, verify and record information that identifies the entities composing the Borrower, which information includes the name and address of each such entity and other information that will allow such Lende
to identify the entities composing the Borrower in accordance with the USA PATRIOT Act. The Borrower agrees to take such action and execute, acknowledge and deliver at its sole cost and expense, such instruments and documents as any Lender may reasonably require from time to time in order to enable such Lender to comply with the USA PATRIOT Act. 12.16 Third Parties. Nothing in this Agreement, whether express or implied, is intended to: (a) confer any benefits, rights or remedies under or by reason of this Agreement on any Persons other than the express parties to it and their respective permitted successors and assigns; (b) relieve or discharge the obligation or liability of any Person not an express party to this Agreement; or (c) give any Person not an express party to this Agreement any right of subrogation or action against any party to this Agreement. 13. DEFINITIONS 13.1 Rules of Construction; Definitions. (a) As used in the Loan Documents, the word “shall” is mandatory, the word “may” is permissive, the word “or” is not exclusive, the words “includes” and “including” are not



 

44 [[5791959]] limiting, the words “asset” and “property” shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect, the singular includes the plural, and numbers denoting amounts that are set off in brackets are negative. Unless the context requires otherwise, (i) any definition of or reference to any agreement (including any Loan Document), instrument or other document herein or in any other Loan Document shall be construed as referring to such agreement, instrument or other document as from time to time amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified (subject to any restrictions or qualifications on such amendments, restatements, supplements or modifications set forth herein), (ii) any definition of or reference to any statute, rule or regulation shall be construed as referring thereto as from time to time amended, supplemented or otherwise modified (including by succession of comparable successor laws), and all references to any statute shall be construed as referring to all rules, regulations, rulings and official interpretations promulgated or issued thereunder, (iii) any reference herein or in any other Loan Document to any Person shall be construed to include such Person’s successors and permitted assigns and, in the case of any Governmental Authority, any other Governmental Authority that shall have succeeded to any or all functions thereof, (iv) the words “herein”, “hereof” and “hereunder”, and words of similar import, when used in any Loan Document, shall be construed to refer to such Loan Document in its entirety and not to any particular provision hereof and (v) all references herein or in any other Loan Document to Articles, Sections, clauses, paragraphs, Exhibits and Schedules shall be construed to refer to Articles, Sections, clauses and paragraphs of, and Exhibits and Schedules to, such Loan Document. Any reference in this Agreement to perfection of any Lien and similar references shall be deemed to apply solely to Liens on the
Collateral that, within the meaning of the Code, is located in the United States (and shall not cover any Liens on any other Collateral). (b) For purposes of any basket set forth in Section 7 (including any basket set forth in any defined term referred to in Section 7) that is expressed as a Dollar amount, such Dollar amount shall be deemed to automatically increase, for each calendar year that commenced after the Effective Date (with effect from January 1 of such calendar year), by an amount equal to the product of (i) such amount (as it theretofore may have increased pursuant to this Section 13.1(b)) as in effect immediately prior to such increase multiplied by (ii) the annual rate of inflation for the immediately preceding calendar year, with such annual rate of inflation to be calculated based on the CPI as calculated by the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics (or, if that index ceases to be so calculated, such other comparable index as is generally accepted for purposes of measuring inflation in the United States). (c) As used in this Agreement, the following capitalized terms have the following meanings: “Adjusted Book Value” means, as of any date, (a) the total equity of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, determined on a consolidated basis in conformity with GAAP but without consolidation therein (to the extent such consolidation would otherwise be required in conformity with GAAP) of BAM, plus (b) to the extent reducing the amount referred to in clause (a), the sum of (i) the aggregate amount of accrued but unpaid dividends and other Restricted Payments by the Borrower as of such date, whether payable to White Mountains and its Subsidiaries or to holders of non-controlling interests, and (ii) unearned insurance premiums as of such date, net of deferred acquisition costs as of such date, in each case under this clause (b), with the amounts thereof to be determined without consolidation (to the extent such consolidation would otherwise be required in conformity

with GAAP) of BAM, minus (c) the time value of money discount on expected



 

45 [[5791959]] future payments on the BAM Surplus Notes as of such date, with such discount to be determined without any reduction in the amount thereof on account of non-controlling interests in the Borrower and its Subsidiaries but otherwise in the manner consistent with the determination thereof for purposes of the consolidated financial statements of White Mountains prepared in conformity with GAAP, but without consolidation therein (to the extent such consolidation would otherwise be required in conformity with GAAP) of BAM. “Adjusted Term SOFR” means, with respect to any Interest Period, the rate per annum equal to (a) the Term SOFR for such Interest Period plus (b) 0.26%; provided that if Adjusted Term SOFR as so determined shall be less than the Floor, then Adjusted Term SOFR shall be deemed to be the Floor. “Affiliate” means, with respect to any Person, each other Person that directly or indirectly Controls or is Controlled by or is under common Control with the Person specified. For purposes of the foregoing, “Control” means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management or policies, or the dismissal or appointment of the management, of a Person, whether through the ability to exercise voting power, by contract or otherwise. “Controlling” and “Controlled” have meanings correlative thereto. It is understood and agreed that for purposes of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents, BAM does not constitute an Affiliate of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, notwithstanding that the financial records of BAM may be required, in conformity with GAAP, to be consolidated in the consolidated financial statements of White Mountains. “Agent” is defined in the preamble hereof. “Agreement” is defined in the preamble hereof. “AM Best” means AM Best Company, or any successor to the rating agency business thereof. “Amortization Amount” means $3,750,000, as such
amount may be reduced in accordance with Section 2.2(f). “Amortization Collateral Account” means a deposit account or a securities account of the Borrower established with a depositary bank or a securities intermediary, as applicable, in the United States or Bermuda and, in the case of any such deposit account or securities account established in the United States, with respect to which a Control Agreement in favor of the Agent is in effect. “Amortization Start Date” means the earlier of the Scheduled Amortization Start Date and the Early Amortization Start Date. “Anti-Corruption Laws” means all Requirements of Law concerning or relating to bribery or corruption, including, without limitation, the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, the UK Bribery Act of 2010, and the anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws and regulations of those jurisdictions in which the Borrower or its Subsidiaries do business.



 

46 [[5791959]] “Anti-Money Laundering Laws” means all Requirements of Law concerning or relating to terrorism or money laundering, including, without limitation, the Money Laundering Control Act of 1986 (18 U.S.C. §§ 1956-1957), the USA PATRIOT Act and the Currency and Foreign Transactions Reporting Act (also known as the “Bank Secrecy Act,” 31 U.S.C. §§ 5311-5332 and 12 U.S.C. §§ 1818(s), 1820(b) and §§ 1951-1959) and the rules and regulations thereunder, and any law prohibiting or directed against the financing or support of terrorist activities (e.g., 18 U.S.C. §§ 2339A and 2339B). “Applicable Insurance Regulatory Authority” means any Governmental Authority that due to the nature of the activities of the Borrower or its Subsidiaries in the insurance or reinsurance industry has regulatory authority over the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries. “Applicable Margin” means (a) other than during any Non-Investment Grade Ratings Period, 6.00% per annum and (b) during any Non-Investment Grade Ratings Period, 7.00% per annum. “Applicable Prepayment Premium” means: (a) in respect of any Prepayment Premium Trigger Event that occurs on or prior to the third anniversary of the Funding Date, an amount equal to the present value of the aggregate amount of interest that would have accrued under this Agreement (before giving effect to the imposition of the Default Rate) on the aggregate principal amount of the Term Loan that shall have been repaid or prepaid pursuant to such Prepayment Premium Trigger Event (assuming that the Term Loan will continuously bear interest at a rate per annum equal to the sum of (i) the Adjusted Term SOFR for the Interest Period in effect on the date such Prepayment Premium Trigger Event occurs plus (ii) the Applicable Margin in effect on such date) for the period from and including the date on which such Prepayment Premium Trigger Event occurs through but excluding the date that is the
third anniversary of the Funding Date, discounted in accordance with accepted financial practice at a discount rate (applied on the same periodic basis as that on which interest on the Term Loan is payable) equal to the Treasury Rate plus 50 basis points per annum; (b) in respect of any Prepayment Premium Trigger Event that occurs after the third anniversary of the Funding Date and on or prior to the fourth anniversary of the Funding Date, an amount equal to the product of 3.00% and the aggregate principal amount of the Term Loan that is repaid or prepaid pursuant to such Prepayment Premium Trigger Event; (c) in respect of any Prepayment Premium Trigger Event that occurs after the fourth anniversary of the Funding Date and on or prior to the fifth anniversary of the Funding Date, an amount equal to the product of 1.00% and the aggregate principal amount of the Term Loan that is repaid or prepaid pursuant to such Prepayment Premium Trigger Event; and (d) in respect of any Prepayment Premium Trigger Event that occurs after the fifth anniversary of the Funding Date, zero; provided that, notwithstanding the foregoing, in the case of any Prepayment Premium Trigger Event that occurs (x) in connection with a Change in Control or a Business Transfer or (y) after the occurrence of an Early Amortization Trigger Event, the Applicable Prepayment Premium shall mean the lesser of (i) the Applicable Prepayment Premium as determined in accordance with



 

47 [[5791959]] clauses (a) through (d) above, as applicable, with respect to such Prepayment Premium Trigger Event and (ii) an amount equal to the product of 2.00% and the aggregate principal amount of the Term Loan that is repaid or prepaid pursuant to such Prepayment Premium Trigger Event. “Assignment and Acceptance” means an assignment and acceptance entered into by an assigning Lender and an assignee, and accepted by the Agent, in accordance with Section 12.2 hereof (including the consent of the Borrower if required by such Section) and substantially in a form acceptable to the Agent. “Available Tenor” means, as of any date of determination and with respect to the then- current Benchmark, as applicable, (a) if such Benchmark is a term rate, any tenor for such Benchmark (or component thereof) that is or may be used for determining the length of an interest period pursuant to this Agreement or (b) otherwise, any payment period for interest calculated with reference to such Benchmark (or component thereof) that is or may be used for determining any frequency of making payments of interest calculated with reference to such Benchmark, in each case, as of such date. “BAM” means Build America Mutual Assurance Company, a New York domiciled mutual financial guaranty insurance company. “BAM Surplus Notes” means the Surplus Notes, as defined in the FLRT Agreement as in effect on the date hereof, and any similar Indebtedness issued by BAM after the date hereof. “BAM Trust Account” means the Regulation 114 Trust Account and the Supplemental Trust Account, each as defined in the FLRT Agreement as in effect on the date hereof, and any other trust or a similar arrangement established by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries for the benefit of BAM. “Bankruptcy Code” means Title 11 of the United States Code, as amended from time to time and any successor statute or any similar federal or state law for the relief of
debtors. “Benchmark” means, initially, the Term SOFR Reference Rate; provided that if a Benchmark Transition Event has occurred with respect to the Term SOFR Reference Rate or the then-current Benchmark, then “Benchmark” means the applicable Benchmark Replacement to the extent that such Benchmark Replacement has replaced such prior benchmark rate pursuant to Section 2.10(b). “Benchmark Replacement” means, with respect to any Benchmark Transition Event, the first alternative set forth in the order below that can be determined by the Agent for the applicable Benchmark Replacement Date: (a) the Daily Simple SOFR; or (b) the sum of: (i) the alternate benchmark rate that has been selected by the Agent and the Borrower giving due consideration to (A) any selection or recommendation of a replacement benchmark rate or the mechanism for determining such a rate by the Relevant Governmental Body or (B) any evolving or then-prevailing market convention for determining a benchmark rate as a



 

48 [[5791959]] replacement to the then-current Benchmark for Dollar-denominated syndicated credit facilities and (ii) the related Benchmark Replacement Adjustment. If the Benchmark Replacement as determined pursuant to clause (a) or (b) above would be less than the Floor, the Benchmark Replacement will be deemed to be the Floor for the purposes of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents. “Benchmark Replacement Adjustment” means, with respect to any replacement of the then-current Benchmark with an Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement, the spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that has been selected by the Agent and the Borrower giving due consideration to (a) any selection or recommendation of a spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, for the replacement of such Benchmark with the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement by the Relevant Governmental Body or (b) any evolving or then-prevailing market convention for determining a spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, for the replacement of such Benchmark with the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement for Dollar-denominated syndicated credit facilities. “Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes” means, with respect to either the use or administration of Term SOFR or the use, administration, adoption or implementation of any Benchmark Replacement, any technical, administrative or operational changes (including changes to the definition of “Business Day”, the definition of “U.S. Government Securities Business Day”, the definition of “Interest Period” or any similar or analogous definition, timing and frequency of determining rates and making payments of interest, timing of borrowing requests or prepayment, conversion or continuation notices, the
applicability and length of lookback periods, the applicability of Section 2.10 and other technical, administrative or operational matters) that the Agent reasonably decides, after consultation with the Borrower, may be appropriate to reflect the adoption and implementation of any such rate or to permit the use and administration thereof by the Agent in a manner substantially consistent with market practice (or, if the Agent reasonably decides that adoption of any portion of such market practice is not administratively feasible or if the Agent reasonably determines that no market practice for the administration of any such rate exists, in such other manner of administration as the Agent reasonably decides, after consultation with the Borrower, is reasonably necessary in connection with the administration of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents). “Benchmark Replacement Date” means the earliest to occur of the following events with respect to the then-current Benchmark: (a) in the case of clause (a) or (b) of the definition of “Benchmark Transition Event”, the later of (i) the date of the public statement or publication of information referenced therein and (ii) the date on which the administrator of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof) permanently or indefinitely ceases to provide all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or such component thereof); or (b) in the case of clause (c) of the definition of “Benchmarks Transition Event”, the first date on which such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof)



 

49 [[5791959]] has been determined and announced by or on behalf of the administrator of such Benchmark (or such component thereof) or the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such Benchmark (or such component thereof) to be non-representative or non-compliant with or non-aligned with the International Organization of Securities Commissions (IOSCO) Principles for Financial Benchmarks; provided that such non-representativeness, non-compliance or non-alignment will be determined by reference to the most recent statement or publication referenced in such clause (c) and even if any Available Tenor of such Benchmark (or such component thereof) continues to be provided on such date. For the avoidance of doubt, the “Benchmark Replacement Date” will be deemed to have occurred in the case of clause (a) or (b) with respect to any Benchmark upon the occurrence of the applicable event or events set forth therein with respect to all then-current Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof). “Benchmark Transition Event” means the occurrence of one or more of the following events with respect to the then-current Benchmark: (a) a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the administrator of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof) announcing that such administrator has ceased or will cease to provide all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or such component thereof), permanently or indefinitely; provided that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide any Available Tenor of such Benchmark (or such component thereof); (b) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof), the Federal Reserve Board, the Federal Reserve Bank o
New York, an insolvency official with jurisdiction over the administrator for such Benchmark (or such component), a resolution authority with jurisdiction over the administrator for such Benchmark (or such component) or a court or an entity with similar insolvency or resolution authority over the administrator for such Benchmark (or such component), which states that the administrator of such Benchmark (or such component) has ceased or will cease to provide all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or such component thereof) permanently or indefinitely; provided that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide any Available Tenor of such Benchmark (or such component thereof); or (c) a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the administrator of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof) or the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such Benchmark (or such component thereof) announcing that all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or such component thereof) are not, or as of a specified future date will not be, representative or in compliance with or aligned with the International Organization of Securities Commissions (IOSCO) Principles for Financial Benchmarks. For the avoidance of doubt, a “Benchmark Transition Event” will be deemed to have occurred with respect to any Benchmark if a public statement or publication of information set forth above has occurred with respect to each then-current Available Tenor of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof).



 

50 [[5791959]] “Books and Records” means all books and records of the Borrower or any Subsidiary, including ledgers, tax returns, records regarding the Borrower’s and its Subsidiaries’ assets or liabilities, business operations or financial condition, records relating to the Collateral and all computer programs or storage or any equipment containing such information. “Borrower” is defined in the preamble hereof. “Business Day” means any day that is not a Saturday, Sunday or a day on which commercial banks in New York City or Bermuda are authorized or required by law to remain closed; provided that in relation to any interest rate settings with respect to the Term Loans, such day shall also be a U.S. Government Securities Business Day. “Business Transfer” means any sale, transfer or other Disposition by the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, whether in any single transaction or series of transactions, of assets and properties of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries constituting 50% or more of the assets of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, to any Person other than the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, but excluding any Disposition described in clause (e) of Section 7.1. It is understood and agreed that no Disposition by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries shall occur solely as a result of the financial records of BAM no longer being required, in conformity with GAAP, to be consolidated in the consolidated financial statements of White Mountains. “Capital Lease” means, as to any Person, any leasing or similar arrangement which, in accordance with GAAP, is or should be classified as a capital lease on the balance sheet of such Person. “Capital Lease Obligations” means, as to any Person, all monetary obligations of such Person under any Capital Leases, and, for purposes hereof, the amount of any such obligation shall be the capitalized amount thereof determined in accordance with GAAP. “Cash Equivalents” means, as at any date of
determination, any of the following: (a) marketable direct obligations issued or unconditionally guaranteed by the United States or any agency or instrumentality thereof, in each case, maturing not more than one year after such date; (b) marketable direct obligations issued by any state of the United States of America or any political subdivision of any such state or any agency or instrumentality thereof, in each case maturing not more than one year after such date and having, at the time of the acquisition thereof, a rating of at least A-1 from S&P or at least P-1 from Moody’s (or, in either case, the then equivalent grade), or carrying an equivalent rating by a nationally recognized rating agency if at any time Moody’s or S&P shall not be rating such obligations; (c) commercial paper or corporate demand notes maturing no more than one year after such date and having, at the time of the acquisition thereof, a rating of at least A-1 from S&P or at least P-1 from Moody’s (or, in either case, the then equivalent grade), or carrying an equivalent rating by a nationally recognized rating agency if at any time Moody’s or S&P shall not be rating such obligations;



 

51 [[5791959]] (d) certificates of deposit, time deposits or bankers’ acceptances maturing no more than one year after such date issued or accepted by, and money market and demand deposits maintained at, any commercial bank that is a member of the Federal Reserve System and has Tier 1 capital as defined in the regulations of its primary Federal banking regulator) of not less than $500,000,000; (e) readily marketable general obligations of any corporation organized under the laws of any state of the United States of America, payable in the United States of America, expressed to mature not later than 12 months following the date of issuance thereof and having, at the time of the acquisition thereof, a rating of at least A from S&P or A-2 from Moody’s (or, in either case, the then equivalent grade), or carrying an equivalent rating by a nationally recognized rating agency if at any time Moody’s or S&P shall not be rating such obligations; (f) repurchase agreements having maturities of not more than 90 days for underlying securities of the types described in the preceding clauses entered into with any commercial bank referred to in clause (d) above; (g) investments in investment companies, mutual funds or money market funds that, in each case, invest substantially all of their assets in investments described in the preceding clauses; (h) “Eligible Assets”, as defined in the FLRT Agreement as in effect on the Effective Date (or any similar term used in the FLRT Agreement as it may be in effect after the Effective Date); (i) other investments of a nature and type consistent with those held by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries on the Effective Date; and (j) other short term investments approved by the Agent. “Change in Control” means (a) White Mountains and its Subsidiaries ceasing to own, directly or indirectly (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 and Rule 13d-5 under the Exchange Act), beneficially and of record, Equity Interests representing more than
51.0% of the total voting power of all of the outstanding Voting Equity Interests of the Borrower or (b) the occurrence of an IPO Event. “Claims” is defined in Section 12.3. “Code” means the Uniform Commercial Code, as the same may, from time to time, be enacted and in effect in the State of New York; provided that in the event that, by reason of mandatory provisions of law, any or all of the attachment, perfection or priority of, or remedies with respect to, the Agent’s Lien on any Collateral is governed by the Uniform Commercial Code in effect in a jurisdiction other than the State of New York, the term “Code” shall mean the Uniform Commercial Code as enacted and in effect in such other jurisdiction solely for purposes of the provisions thereof relating to such attachment, perfection, priority, or remedies and for purposes of definitions relating to such provisions. “Collateral” is defined in Section 4.1.



 

52 [[5791959]] “Competitor” means competitors of White Mountains and its Subsidiaries principally engaged in lines of business substantially the same as any of the lines of business carried on by White Mountains and its Subsidiaries on the date hereof. “Compliance Certificate” means that certain certificate in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A. “Contingent Obligation” means, for any Person, any direct or indirect liability, contingent or not, of that Person for (a) any indebtedness, lease, dividend, letter of credit or other obligation of another Person that, in each case, is directly or indirectly guaranteed, endorsed or co-made by that Person, or for which that Person is directly or indirectly liable; (b) any obligations for undrawn letters of credit for the account of that Person; and (c) all obligations under any interest rate, currency or commodity swap agreement, interest rate cap or collar agreement, or other agreement or arrangement designated to protect a Person against fluctuation in interest rates, currency exchange rates or commodity prices; but “Contingent Obligation” does not include endorsements in the ordinary course of business. The amount of a Contingent Obligation is the stated or determined amount of the primary obligation for which the Contingent Obligation is made or, if not determinable, the maximum reasonably anticipated liability for it determined by the Person in good faith; but the amount may not exceed the maximum of the obligations under any guarantee or other support arrangement. “Control Agreement” means, with respect to any deposit account or securities account, any control agreement entered into among the depository bank or the securities intermediary, as applicable, at which such deposit account or securities account is maintained, the Borrower and the Agent pursuant to which the Agent obtains control (within the meaning of the Code) over such deposit account or securities account. The Agent agrees that, promptly upon
request by the Borrower that the Agent enter into a Control Agreement in respect of any deposit account or securities account for which such Control Agreement is required as contemplated by the definition of the term “Interest Reserve Account” or “Amortization Collateral Account”, the Agent shall execute and deliver to the Borrower a copy of such Control Agreement. “Copyrights” means any and all copyright rights, copyright applications, copyright registrations and like protections in each work of authorship and derivative work thereof, whether published or unpublished and whether or not the same also constitutes a trade secret. “Cure Amount” is defined in Section 7.13. “Cure Right” is defined in Section 7.13. “Daily Simple SOFR” means, for any day, SOFR, with the conventions for this rate (which will include a lookback) being established by the Agent in accordance with the conventions for this rate selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body for determining “Daily Simple SOFR” for syndicated business loans; provided that if the Agent reasonably decides that any such convention is not administratively feasible for the Agent, then the Agent may establish another convention in its reasonable discretion. “Debtor Relief Law” means the Bankruptcy Code and any other liquidation, conservatorship, bankruptcy, assignment for the benefit of creditors, moratorium, rearrangement,



 

53 [[5791959]] receivership, insolvency, reorganization, or similar debtor relief law of the United States, Bermuda or other applicable jurisdiction from time to time in effect. “Debt to Total Capital Ratio” means, as of any date, the ratio (expressed as a percentage) of (a) the sum of (i) the aggregate principal amount of the Term Loan and (ii) the aggregate principal amount of the Shareholder Debt, in each case, outstanding as of such date to (b) the sum of (i) the amount referred to in clause (a) above and (ii) Adjusted Book Value as of such date. “Default” means an event which, with the giving of notice or the lapse of time or both, unless cured or waived would constitute an Event of Default. “Default Rate” is defined in Section 2.3(b). “Defaulting Lender” means any Lender that has become the subject of a voluntary or involuntary proceeding under any Debtor Relief Law, or has had a receiver, conservator, trustee, administrator, custodian, assignee for the benefit of creditors or similar Person charged with the reorganization or liquidation of its business appointed for it or has had any order for relief in such proceeding entered in respect thereof. “Disposition” means any transaction, or series of related transactions, pursuant to which any Person sells, assigns, transfers, leases (as lessor), licenses (as licensor) or otherwise disposes of any property or assets (whether now owned or hereafter acquired) to any other Person, in each case, whether or not the consideration therefor consists of cash, securities or other assets owned by the acquiring Person. For purposes of clarification, “Disposition” shall include (a) the sale or other disposition for value of any contracts or (b) any disposition of property through a “plan of division” under the Delaware Limited Liability Company Act or any comparable transaction under any similar law. “Disqualified Equity Interests” means any Equity Interest that, by its terms (or by the terms of any security or other Equity Interest into
which it is convertible or for which it is exchangeable), or upon the happening of any event or condition, (a)(i) matures or is mandatorily redeemable, pursuant to a sinking fund obligation or otherwise, or (ii) is redeemable at the option of the holder thereof, in whole or in part (other than, in the case of the preceding clauses (i) or (ii), solely for Equity Interests that do not constitute Disqualified Equity Interests and cash in lieu of fractional shares of such Equity Interests) or (b) is convertible into or exchangeable, either mandatorily or at the option of the holder thereof, for (i) Indebtedness or (ii) any other Equity Interests that would constitute Disqualified Equity Interests, in each case of any of the preceding clauses (a) and (b), prior to the date that is 91 days after the Term Loan Maturity Date; provided that (i) an Equity Interest of any Person that would not constitute a Disqualified Equity Interest but for terms thereof giving holders thereof the right to require such Person to redeem or purchase such Equity Interest upon the occurrence of an “asset sale” or a “change in control” (or similar event, however denominated) shall not constitute a Disqualified Equity Interest and (ii) an Equity Interest of any Person that is issued to any Employee Related Persons or to any plan for the benefit of Employee Related Persons or by any such plan to such Employee Related Persons shall not constitute a Disqualified Equity Interest solely because it may be required to be repurchased by such Person or any of its Subsidiaries in order to satisfy applicable statutory or regulatory obligations or as a result of such employee’s termination, death or disability. For the avoidance



 

54 [[5791959]] of doubt, the cumulative preferred shares, par value $1,000 per share, of the Borrower outstanding as of the date hereof are not Disqualified Equity Interests. “Dollars,” “dollars” or use of the sign “$” means only lawful money of the United States and not any other currency, regardless of whether that currency uses the “$” sign to denote its currency or may be readily converted into lawful money of the United States. “Early Amortization Start Date” means the last day of the calendar quarter during which an Early Amortization Trigger Event has occurred. “Early Amortization Trigger Event” shall be deemed to have occurred if, after the Effective Date: (a) (i) BAM shall not have in effect an insurer financial strength rating (however denominated) from at least one of S&P or Moody’s, (ii) BAM shall have in effect an insurer financial strength rating (however denominated) from one (but not both) of S&P or Moody’s and such rating shall be BBB+ or lower or Baa1 or lower, as applicable, or (iii) BAM shall have in effect an insurer financial strength rating (however denominated) from both S&P and Moody’s and each such rating shall be BBB+ or lower or Baa1 or lower, as applicable; (b) the aggregate amount of premiums ceded by BAM to the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries pursuant to the FLRT Agreement (determined after netting therefrom the amount of any related ceding commission payable by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries to BAM but otherwise without any reduction therefrom on account of any other amounts payable by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries to BAM pursuant to the FLRT Agreement) during any Test Period, commencing with the first Test Period ended after the Effective Date, shall be less than 25% of the aggregate amount of premiums ceded by BAM to the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries pursuant to the FLRT Agreement (determined in the same manner) during the period of four consecutive Fiscal
Quarters ended immediately prior to the commencement of such Test Period; or (c) the FLRT Agreement is terminated in accordance with its terms, and there is no successor FLRT Agreement. “Effective Date” means March 31, 2022, which the parties hereto acknowledge is the date on which the conditions specified in Section 3.1 were satisfied (or waived). “Electronic Signature” means an electronic sound, symbol, or process attached to, or associated with, a contract or other record and adopted by a Person with the intent to sign, authenticate or accept such contract or record. “Eligible Assignee” means (a) any Lender or (b) any Affiliate of any Lender, but expressly excludes any Competitor. “Employee Related Persons” means, with respect to any Person, any current or former officers, directors, employees or consultants of such Person or any Immediate Family Member of any of the foregoing.



 

55 [[5791959]] “Equity Interests” means (a) all shares of capital stock (whether denominated as common stock or preferred stock), equity interests, beneficial, partnership or membership interests, joint venture interests, participations or other ownership or profit interests in or equivalents (regardless of how designated) of or in a Person (other than an individual), whether voting or non-voting, and (b) all securities convertible into or exchangeable for any of the foregoing and all warrants, options or other rights to purchase, subscribe for or otherwise acquire any of the foregoing, whether or not presently convertible, exchangeable or exercisable (other than, prior to the conversion thereof, Indebtedness that is convertible into any of the foregoing). “ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, and its regulations. “Event of Default” is defined in Section 8. “Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. “Excluded Taxes” means any of the following Taxes imposed on or with respect to a recipient or required to be withheld or deducted from a payment to a recipient: (a) Taxes imposed on or measured by net income (however denominated), franchise Taxes, and branch profits Taxes, in each case, (i) imposed as a result of such recipient being organized under the laws of, or having its principal office or, in the case of a Lender, its applicable lending office located in, the jurisdiction imposing such tax (or any political subdivision thereof) or (ii) that are Other Connection Taxes, (b) Taxes attributable to such recipient’s failure to comply with Section 2.6 and (c) any U.S. federal withholding Taxes imposed under FATCA. “FATCA” means Sections 1471 through 1474 of the IRC, as of the date of this Agreement (or any amended or successor version that is substantively comparable and not materially more onerous to comply with), any current or future regulations or official interpretations thereof, any agreements entered
into pursuant to Section 1471(b) of the IRC and any intergovernmental agreements with respect thereto and any laws implementing intergovernmental agreements. “Federal Reserve Board” means the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System of the United States. “Fee Letter” means that certain fee letter dated March 31, 2022, between the Borrower and the Agent. “Fiscal Quarter” means a fiscal quarter of any Fiscal Year. “Fiscal Year” means the fiscal year of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries ending on December 31 of each year. “Fitch” means Fitch Ratings, Inc., or any successor to its rating agency business. “Floor” means 0%. “FLRT Agreement” means the Ninth Amended and Restated First Loss Reinsurance Treaty Agreement, entered into as of January 7, 2022, by and between BAM and HG Re, as the



 

56 [[5791959]] same may be amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, and any agreement between the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries and BAM that replaces, substitutes or supersedes the foregoing. “Funding Date” is defined in Section 3.2(a). “GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles set forth in the opinions and pronouncements of the Accounting Principles Board of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and statements and pronouncements of the Financial Accounting Standards Board or in such other statements by such other Person as may be approved by a significant segment of the accounting profession in the United States, which are applicable to the circumstances as of the date of determination. “Governmental Approval” means any consent, authorization, approval, order, license, franchise, permit, certificate, accreditation, registration, filing or notice, of, issued by, from or to, or other act by or in respect of, any Governmental Authority. “Governmental Authority” means any nation or government, any state or other political subdivision thereof, any agency, authority, instrumentality, regulatory body, court, central bank or other entity exercising executive, legislative, judicial, taxing, regulatory or administrative functions of or pertaining to government, any securities exchange and any self-regulatory organization. “HG Global Segment” means the segment of the operations of White Mountains and its Subsidiaries that relates to the operations of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, as such segment is determined (including as to whether or not BAM is required to be included therein) in conformity with GAAP. It is understood and agreed that such segment is currently referred to as the “HG Global/BAM Segment” in the consolidated financial statements of White Mountains prepared in conformity with GAAP. “HG Re” means HG Re Ltd., an exempted Bermuda company limited by
shares and licensed as a special purpose insurer pursuant to the Bermuda Insurance Act 1978, as amended. “Immediate Family Member” means, with respect to any individual, such individual’s child, stepchild, grandchild or more remote descendant, parent, stepparent, grandparent, spouse, former spouse, domestic partner, former domestic partner, sibling, mother-in-law, father-in-law, son-in-law and daughter-in-law (including adoptive relationships), any trust, partnership or other bona fide estate-planning vehicle the only beneficiaries of which are any of the foregoing individuals, such individual’s estate (or an executor or administrator acting on its behalf), heirs or legatees or any private foundation or fund that is controlled by any of the foregoing individuals or any donor-advised fund of which any such individual is the donor. “Indebtedness” means, as to any Person, (a) any indebtedness of such Person for borrowed money, (b) any obligations of such Person for the deferred purchase price of property or services (excluding (i) accrued expenses and other accounts payable, (ii) deferred compensation payable to any Employee Related Person of the Borrower or any Subsidiary and (iii) any purchase price adjustment or earnout incurred in connection with an acquisition or other Investment, except to the extent that the amount payable pursuant to such purchase price adjustment or earnout is fixed



 

57 [[5791959]] and determinable and is not paid when due), (c) any reimbursement and other obligations of such Person in respect of surety bonds and letters of credit, (d) any indebtedness of such Person evidenced by notes, bonds, debentures or other similar instruments, (e) any Capital Lease Obligations of such Person, (f) all Disqualified Equity Interests of such Person, (f) any Swap Contract Liabilities of such Person, (g) all monetary obligations of such Person under any receivables factoring, receivable sales or similar transactions (other than obligations under customary limited recourse provisions) and all monetary obligations of such Person under any synthetic lease, tax ownership or financing lease, off-balance sheet financing or similar financing (but in any event excluding operating leases (as determined in accordance with GAAP) in respect of real property entered into by the Borrower and its Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business) and (h) any Contingent Obligations of such Person with respect to Indebtedness of any other Person of a type described in the preceding clauses. “Indemnified Person” is defined in Section 12.3. “Indemnified Taxes” means Taxes (other than Excluded Taxes) imposed on or with respect to any payment made by or on account of any obligation of the Borrower under any Loan Document. “Insolvency Proceeding” means, with respect to any Person, any proceeding by or against such Person under the United States Bankruptcy Code, or any other bankruptcy or insolvency law, including assignments for the benefit of creditors, compositions, extensions generally with its creditors, or proceedings seeking reorganization, arrangement, or other relief. “Instrument” means any “instrument” as defined in the Code. “Insurance License” means, with respect to any Person, any applicable license, certificate of authority, permit or other authorization which is required to be obtained from any Governmental Authority in connectio
with the operation, ownership or transaction of any insurance or reinsurance business of such Person and its Subsidiaries. “Intellectual Property” means, with respect to any Person, all of such Person’s right, title, and interest in and to the following: (a) its Copyrights, Trademarks and Patents; (b) any and all trade secrets and trade secret rights, including, without limitation, any rights to unpatented inventions, know-how and operating manuals; (c) any and all source code; (d) any and all design rights which may be available to such Person; (e) any and all domain names (including, without limitation, all subdomain names); (f) any and all claims for damages by way of past, present and future infringement of any of the foregoing, with the right, but not the obligation, to sue for and collect such damages for said use or infringement of the Intellectual Property rights identified above; and



 

58 [[5791959]] (g) all amendments, renewals and extensions of any of the Copyrights, Trademarks or Patents. “Interest Period” means (a) initially, the period commencing on the Funding Date and ending on the numerically corresponding day in the calendar month that is three months thereafter and (b) thereafter, each successive period commencing on the last day of the preceding Interest Period and ending on the numerically corresponding day in the calendar month that is three months thereafter; provided that (i) if any Interest Period would end on a day other than a Business Day, such Interest Period shall be extended to the next succeeding Business Day unless such next succeeding Business Day would fall in the next calendar month, in which case such Interest Period shall end on the next preceding Business Day, and (ii) any Interest Period that commences on the last Business Day of a calendar month (or on a day for which there is no numerically corresponding day in the last calendar month of such Interest Period) shall end on the last Business Day of the last calendar month of such Interest Period. “Interest Reserve Account” means a deposit account or a securities account of the Borrower established with a depositary bank or a securities intermediary, as applicable, in the United States or Bermuda and, in the case of any such deposit account or securities account established in the United States, with respect to which a Control Agreement in favor of the Agent is in effect. “Interest Reserve Deficit” shall be deemed to exist at any time if the aggregate amount of cash and Cash Equivalents on deposit in, or credited to, the Interest Reserve Account at such time is less than the Interest Reserve Requirement at such time. “Interest Reserve Requirement” means the requirement that the aggregate amount of cash and Cash Equivalents on deposit in, or credited to, the Interest Reserve Account at any time shall be at least equal to the product of (a) the aggregate
amount of interest accrued on the Term Loan for the most recent Interest Period ended prior to such time multiplied by (b) eight (8); provided that, prior to the end of the first Interest Period ended after the Funding Date, clause (a) above shall be deemed to refer to the aggregate amount of interest that would have accrued on the Term Loan for the initial Interest Period, such amount to be determined by the Borrower based on the Adjusted Term SOFR in effect for the initial Interest Period and the Applicable Margin applicable as of the Funding Date. “Investment” means, with respect to any Person, (a) any investment by such Person in any other Person (including in Affiliates of such Person) in the form of (i) loans, advances or similar extensions of credit to such other Person (excluding accounts payable arising in the ordinary course of business), (ii) guarantees of Indebtedness of such other Person, (iii) acquisitions of Indebtedness (including any bonds, notes, debentures or other debt securities) of such other Person, (iv) capital contributions to such other Persons or (v) acquisition of Equity Interests of, or all or substantially all of the assets of, such other Person (or all or substantially all of the assets of any division or business line of such other Person) and (b) the purchase or ownership of any Swap Contract for the purchase or sale of currency or other commodities at a future date in the nature of a futures contract. The amount of any Investment shall be the original cost of such Investment, plus the original cost of any addition thereto that otherwise constitutes an Investment, without any adjustments for increases or decreases in value, or write-ups, write-downs or write-offs with



 

59 [[5791959]] respect thereto, but giving effect to any repayments of principal or payment of interest in the case of any Investment in the form of a loan, advance or similar extension of credit or purchase or other acquisition of Indebtedness and any return of or on capital in the case of any other Investment (whether as a distribution, dividend, redemption or sale); provided that the amount of any Investment in the form of a guarantee of any Indebtedness shall be the stated or determined amount of the Indebtedness guaranteed or, if such amount is not determinable, the maximum reasonably anticipated liability for it determined by such Person in good faith (but not in excess of the maximum of the obligations under such guarantee). “Investment Grade” means (a) with respect to AM Best, a rating of bbb- or higher, (b) with respect to Fitch, a rating of BBB- or higher, (c) with respect to KBRA, a rating of BBB- or higher, (d) with respect to Moody’s, a rating of Baa3 or higher and (e) with respect to S&P, a rating of BBB- or higher (or, in each case, its equivalent under any successor rating category of the applicable Rating Agency). “Investment Grade Ratings Event” shall be deemed to have occurred if the Term Loan shall have in effect an Investment Grade Rating from any Rating Agency. “Investment Property” means any “investment property” as defined in the Code. “IPO Event” means any transaction or series of related transactions (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any acquisition by, or combination or other similar transaction with, a special purpose acquisition company) that results in any of the common Equity Interests of the Borrower (or any direct or indirect parent company thereof substantially all of the assets of which consist, at the time of the consummation of such transaction or transactions, of Equity Interests of the Borrower or one or more other such parent companies or assets arising in connection with such transaction or transactions) being
publicly traded on any U.S. national securities exchange. “IRC” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. “KBRA” means Kroll Bond Rating Agency, LLC, or any successor to the rating agency business thereof. “Lender Entities” is defined in Section 12.9. “Lenders” means the Persons listed on Schedule 1 and any other Person that shall have become a party hereto pursuant to an Assignment and Acceptance, other than any such Person that shall have ceased to be a party hereto pursuant to an Assignment and Acceptance. “Lien” means any mortgage, deed of trust, levy, charge, pledge, security interest or other encumbrance of any kind in the nature of a security interest, whether voluntarily incurred or arising by operation of law or otherwise against any property. “Loan Documents” means, collectively, this Agreement, any Schedules and Exhibits hereto, the Fee Letter, any Control Agreement, any subordination agreement entered into by the Agent as contemplated by this Agreement, any promissory note executed by the Borrower pursuant to this Agreement, the agreement between the Agent and the Borrower referred to in Section 2.5(a) and any other present or future agreement executed by the Borrower with or for the benefit of the



 

60 [[5791959]] Agent (on behalf of itself and the Lenders) in connection with this Agreement that pursuant to the terms thereof is designated as a “Loan Document”, in each case, as amended, restated, or otherwise modified. “Material Adverse Change” means (a) a material impairment of the validity, perfection or priority of the Agent’s Lien in the Collateral (other than as expressly permitted by this Agreement, including as a result of a termination and discharge of such Lien in accordance with this Agreement); (b) a material adverse change with respect to the financial condition, business, operations, assets or liabilities of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole; (c) a material impairment of the ability of the Borrower to perform its Obligations; or (d) a material impairment of the rights and remedies of the Agent or the Lenders under the Loan Documents, taken as a whole. “Moody’s” means Moody’s Investors Service, Inc., or any successor to the rating agency business thereof. “Net Cash Proceeds” means, with respect to any incurrence of Indebtedness, the aggregate amount of cash received (directly or indirectly) (whether as initial consideration or through the payment or disposition of deferred consideration) by or on behalf of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries (other than amounts received hereunder or from the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries) after deducting therefrom (a) reasonable expenses related thereto incurred by the Borrower or such Subsidiary in connection therewith, including customary fees, commissions, costs, underwriting discounts and other fees and expenses incurred by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries in connection therewith and (b) any Taxes paid or payable by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries in connection therewith, in each case, to the extent, but only to the extent, that the amounts so deducted are (i) actually paid, or reasonably expected to be paid, to a Person that, except in the case of reasonable out-of-
pocket expenses, is not an Affiliate of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries and (ii) properly attributable to such transaction. “Non-Investment Grade Ratings Event” shall be deemed to have occurred if (a) the Term Loan shall have in effect a rating from any Rating Agency that is not an Investment Grade Rating or (b) at any time after the Funding Date, the Term Loan shall not have in effect a rating from at least one of the Rating Agencies. “Non-Investment Grade Ratings Period” means any period that (a) commences on the date on which a Non-Investment Grade Ratings Event shall have occurred and (b) ends on any subsequent date on which an Investment Grade Ratings Event shall have occurred. “Notice of Borrowing” is defined in Section 3.2(a). “Notice of Intent to Cure” is defined in Section 7.13. “Obligations” means all present and future indebtedness, obligations and liabilities of the Borrower to the Secured Parties arising under this Agreement or any other Loan Documents, whether or not the right of payment in respect thereof is reduced to judgment, liquidated, unliquidated, fixed, contingent, matured, disputed, undisputed, legal, equitable, secured and unsecured, and whether or not such indebtedness, obligations and liabilities are discharged, stayed or otherwise affected by any Insolvency Proceeding. Without limiting the generality of the



 

61 [[5791959]] foregoing, the Obligations of the Borrower under the Loan Documents include (a) any debts, principal, interest, charges, expenses (including the Secured Party Expenses), premiums (including any Applicable Prepayment Premium), fees, mandatory prepayments, attorneys’ fees and disbursements, indemnities and other amounts payable by the Borrower under the Loan Documents, (b) the obligation of the Borrower to reimburse any amount in respect of any of the foregoing that the Agent or any Lender (in its sole discretion) may elect to pay or advance on behalf of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, (c) interest accruing under the Loan Documents after Insolvency Proceedings begin and (d) debts, liabilities, or obligations of the Borrower under the Loan Documents assigned to a Secured Party. “OFAC” means the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the United States Department of the Treasury. “Operating Documents” means, for any Person, such Person’s formation documents, and (a) if such Person is a corporation, its bylaws, (b) if such Person is a limited liability company, its limited liability company agreement (or similar agreement), and (c) if such Person is a partnership, its partnership agreement (or similar agreement), each of the foregoing with all current amendments or modifications thereto. “Other Connection Taxes” means, with respect to any recipient, Taxes imposed as a result of a present or former connection between such recipient and the jurisdiction imposing such Tax (other than connections arising from such recipient having executed, delivered, become a party to, performed its obligations under, received payments under, received or perfected a security interest under, engaged in any other transaction pursuant to or enforced any Loan Document, or sold or assigned an interest in any Loan Document). “Participant Register” is defined in Section 12.2(c). “Patents” means all patents, patent applications and like protections
including without limitation improvements, divisions, continuations, renewals, reissues, extensions and continuations-in-part of the same. “Pension Plan” is defined in Section 7.10(b). “Permitted Indebtedness” means: (a) any Indebtedness owing to the Agent or any Lender under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents; (b) Indebtedness existing on the Effective Date and described on Schedule 7.4; (c) Subordinated Debt; (d) unsecured Indebtedness to trade creditors incurred in the ordinary course of business; (e) Indebtedness incurred as a result of endorsing negotiable instruments received in the ordinary course of business;



 

62 [[5791959]] (f) Indebtedness secured by Liens permitted under clauses (a) and (c) of the definition of “Permitted Liens” hereunder; (g) Indebtedness incurred in the ordinary course of business in respect of obligations of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries to pay the deferred purchase price of goods or services or progress payments in connection with such goods and services; (h) Indebtedness of the Borrower to any Subsidiary and Indebtedness of any Subsidiary to the Borrower or any other Subsidiary; (i) Indebtedness in respect of Swap Contract Liabilities entered into in the ordinary course of business that are incurred for the bona fide purpose of hedging the interest rate risks and not for speculative purposes; (j) Indebtedness (i) incurred in connection with workers’ compensation, unemployment insurance and other social security legislation or (ii) in respect of tenders, statutory obligations, bids, leases, governmental contracts, trade contracts, surety, stay, appeal or performance bonds and other similar obligations (exclusive of obligations for the payment of borrowed money) incurred in the ordinary course of business; (k) Indebtedness owing to insurance carriers incurred to finance insurance premiums of the Borrower or any Subsidiary in the ordinary course of business; (l) Indebtedness in respect of netting services, overdraft protections and other cash management and treasury services, in each case incurred in the ordinary course of business; (m) unsecured Indebtedness of the Borrower issued to Employee Related Persons of the Borrower or any Subsidiary to repurchase Equity Interests of the Borrower or any Affiliate thereof (which unsecured Indebtedness is issued in lieu of any Restricted Payments permitted under Section 7.6 for such purpose); (n) Indebtedness in respect of judgments, attachments or awards not resulting in an Event of Default or in respect of appeal or other surety bonds relating to such judgments; (o) Indebtedness consisting o
Contingent Obligations in respect of Indebtedness otherwise permitted by this definition of “Permitted Indebtedness”; (p) Indebtedness consisting of the obligations with respect to purchase price adjustments, earnouts or similar obligations and indemnities incurred in connection with Permitted Investments or Dispositions permitted hereunder; (q) Indebtedness in respect of letters of credit entered into in the ordinary course of business and not in connection with the borrowing of money; (r) to the extent constituting Indebtedness, obligations of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries under the FLRT Agreement or any other agreement between the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, on the one hand, and BAM, on the other;



 

63 [[5791959]] (s) other Indebtedness of the Borrower in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $25,000,000 at any time outstanding, provided that (i) such Indebtedness shall not be guaranteed by any Subsidiary of the Borrower, (ii) such Indebtedness shall not be secured by Liens on any assets of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries and (iii) at the time of, and after giving pro forma effect to, the incurrence of such Indebtedness, the Borrower shall be in compliance with Section 7.13 as of the end of the then most recently ended Test Period; (t) Indebtedness comprised of obligations in connection with letters of credit not to exceed $200,000 at any time outstanding; (u) without duplication of any other Indebtedness, all premiums (if any), interest (including post-petition interest and payment in kind interest), accretion or amortization of original issue discount, fees, expenses and charges with respect to any Indebtedness of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries; and (v) extensions, refinancings, modifications, amendments and restatements of Permitted Indebtedness referred to in clauses (b), (c), (f) and (l) above; provided that (i) the principal amount thereof is not increased, (ii) the terms thereof are not modified to impose more burdensome terms upon the Borrower or any Subsidiary, as the case may be, (iii) such Indebtedness is without recourse to any of the Subsidiaries, except, in the case of any Subsidiary, to the extent the original Indebtedness was recourse to such Subsidiary, and (iv) the maturity of such Indebtedness is not shortened. “Permitted Investments” means: (a) Investments (including, without limitation, Subsidiaries) existing on the Effective Date and described on Schedule 7.7; (b) Investments consisting of cash and Cash Equivalents; (c) Investments consisting of the endorsement of negotiable instruments for deposit or collection or similar transactions in the ordinary course of the Borrower or any Subsidiary; (d) (i) Investments in the
BAM Surplus Notes and (ii) other Investments in BAM or in the BAM Trust Account, in each case, made pursuant to the FLRT Agreement or any other agreement between the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, on the one hand, and BAM, on the other (and, in the case of any Investments in the form of a Disposition after the Effective Date of cash and Cash Equivalents to any BAM Trust Account, in an amount not to exceed the amount thereof then required so to be Disposed pursuant to the FLRT Agreement or any agreement establishing or governing such BAM Trust Account); (e) Investments between, among or in the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries (whether existing on the Effective Date or hereafter formed or acquired, including newly formed Subsidiaries); (f) Investments consisting of travel advances and employee relocation loans and other loans and advances to Employee Related Persons of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business, and loans to Employee Related Persons of the Borrower or any of its



 

64 [[5791959]] Subsidiaries relating to the purchase of Equity Interests of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries pursuant to any management, director and/or employee stock ownership or incentive plans or any other employment arrangements or any equity holders’ agreements; (g) Investments (including debt obligations) received (i) in connection with the bankruptcy, winding-up or reorganization of any Person, (ii) in settlement of delinquent obligations of, or other disputes with, customers, suppliers and other account debtors arising in the ordinary course of business, (iii) upon foreclosure or realization with respect to any secured Investment or other transfer of title with respect to any secured Investment and/or (iv) as a result of the settlement, compromise, resolution of litigation, arbitration or other disputes; (h) Investments consisting of accounts receivable and notes receivable of, or prepaid royalties and other credit extensions to, customers and suppliers in the ordinary course of business; (i) Swap Contracts incurred for bona-fide hedging purposes and not for speculative purposes; (j) Investments consisting of cash collateral for obligations in connection with letters of credit not to exceed $200,000 at any time outstanding; (k) promissory notes, securities and other non-cash consideration received in connection with Dispositions permitted by Section 7.1; (l) (i) Permitted Indebtedness, (ii) Permitted Liens and (iii) transactions permitted by Section 7.1, 7.3 or 7.6(a); (m) guarantees of obligations that do not constitute Indebtedness and are otherwise not prohibited hereunder; (n) any Investments the consideration for which is Qualified Equity Interests of the Borrower or Equity Interests of any parent thereof; (o) any Investment to the extent such Investment is made with the net cash proceeds of (i) a capital contribution to the Borrower in respect of its Qualified Equity Interests or (ii) the issuance of Qualified Equity Interests by the Borrower; (p) Investments
of any Person existing at the time such Person becomes a Subsidiary of the Borrower or consolidates, amalgamates or merges with the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries so long as such Investments were not made in contemplation of such Person becoming a Subsidiary or such consolidation, amalgamation or merger; and (q) other Investments in an aggregate amount not to exceed $1,000,000 at any time outstanding. “Permitted Liens” are: (a) Liens (i) existing on the Effective Date and described on Schedule 7.5 or (ii) arising under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents;



 

65 [[5791959]] (b) Liens for Taxes either not due and payable or being contested in good faith and for which the Borrower or its Subsidiaries maintains adequate reserves on its Books and Records to the extent required by GAAP; (c) purchase money Liens (i) on assets acquired or held by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries incurred for financing the acquisition of such assets securing Indebtedness in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $200,000 at any time outstanding or (ii) existing on assets when acquired, if, in the case of clauses (i) and (ii), the applicable Lien is confined to such assets and improvements and the proceeds of such assets; (d) statutory Liens (and rights of setoff) of landlords, banks, carriers, warehousemen, mechanics, repairmen, construction contractors, workmen and materialmen, and other Liens imposed by applicable Requirements of Law, in each case, incurred in the ordinary course of business (i) for amounts not yet overdue by more than 30 days, (ii) for amounts that are overdue by more than 30 days and that are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings, so long as the Borrower or any Subsidiary, as applicable, has set aside adequate reserves on its Books and Records to the extent required by GAAP or (iii) with respect to which the failure to make payment could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Change; (e) Liens incurred (i) in the ordinary course of business in connection with workers’ compensation, unemployment insurance and other types of social security laws and regulations, (ii) in the ordinary course of business to secure the performance of tenders, bids, leases, government contracts, trade contracts, statutory obligations, surety, stay and appeal bonds and other similar obligations (exclusive of obligations for the payment of borrowed money), (iii) pursuant to pledges and deposits of cash or Cash Equivalents in the ordinary course of business securing (A) any liability for
reimbursement, premium or indemnification obligations of insurance brokers or carriers providing property, casualty, liability or other insurance to the Borrower or any Subsidiary or (B) leases, subleases, licenses or sublicenses of property otherwise permitted by this Agreement and (iv) to secure obligations in respect of letters of credit, bank guaranties, bankers’ acceptances, surety bonds, performance bonds or similar instruments posted with respect to the items described in clauses (i) through (iii) above; (f) Liens incurred in the extension, renewal or refinancing of the Indebtedness secured by Liens described in (a) through (c), but any extension, renewal or replacement Lien must be limited to the property encumbered by the existing Lien and the principal amount of the Indebtedness may not increase; (g) leases, subleases, licenses or sublicenses granted to other Persons in the ordinary course of business; (h) Liens consisting of (i) any interest or title of a lessor, sub-lessor, licensor or sublicensor under any lease, license or similar arrangement permitted hereunder, (ii) any landlord lien permitted by the terms of any lease, or assignments of insurance or condemnation proceeds provided to landlords (or their mortgagees) pursuant to the terms of any lease, (iii) any restriction or encumbrance to which the interest or title of such lessor, sub-lessor, licensor or sub-licensor may be subject, (iv) any subordination of the interest of the lessee, sub-lessee, licensee or sub- licensee under such lease, license or similar arrangement to any restriction or encumbrance



 

66 [[5791959]] referred to in the preceding clause (iii) or (v) ground leases or subleases in respect of real property on which facilities owned or leased by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries are located; (i) Liens arising from attachments or judgments, orders, or decrees in circumstances not constituting an Event of Default under Sections 8.3 and 8.6; (j) rights of set-off and other Liens in favor of financial institutions arising in connection with accounts of the Borrower or any Subsidiary held at such institutions in the ordinary course of business or in connection with netting services, overdraft protections and other cash management and treasury services; (k) zoning restrictions, building codes, easements, rights of way, licenses, covenants and other similar restrictions, including environmental or land use restrictions, minor defects or irregularities in title and other similar Liens affecting the use of real property that do not secure monetary obligations and do not materially impair the use of such real property for its intended purposes or the value thereof; (l) purported liens evidenced by (x) the filing of precautionary Uniform Commercial Code financing statements or similar filings relating to leases entered into in the ordinary course of business and (y) unauthorized Uniform Commercial Code financing statements with respect to which no Lien has been granted by the Borrower or any Subsidiary; (m) Liens consisting of (i) in connection with any Disposition permitted by Section 7.1, customary rights and restrictions contained in agreements relating to such Disposition pending the completion thereof and/or (ii) the pledge of cash and Cash Equivalents as part of an escrow arrangement required in any Disposition permitted by Section 7.1; (n) Liens of a collection bank arising under Section 4-208 or 4-210 of the Uniform Commercial Code on items in the course of collection; (o) Liens on unearned insurance premiums securing Indebtedness permitted under
clause (j) of the definition of “Permitted Indebtedness”; (p) Liens on cash collateral for obligations in connection with letters of credit not to exceed $200,000 at any time outstanding; (q) other Liens on assets with a fair market value (as reasonably determined by the Borrower) not exceeding $500,000 securing obligations permitted hereunder; (r) (i) Liens that are contractual rights of setoff or netting and (ii) any pledge and/or deposit securing any settlement of litigation; (s) Liens on the BAM Trust Accounts and the assets subject to the trust arrangements created thereby, in each case, created pursuant to the FLRT Agreement or any agreement establishing or governing any BAM Trust Account; and (t) other Liens necessary for the normal operation of the business of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries.



 

67 [[5791959]] “Person” means any individual, sole proprietorship, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, company, trust, unincorporated organization, association, corporation, institution, public benefit corporation, firm, joint stock company, estate, entity or government agency. “Pledged Issuer” is defined in the definition of “Pledged Shares”. “Pledged Shares” means (a) the shares of capital stock and other Equity Interests of any direct Subsidiary of the Borrower (each, a “Pledged Issuer”) at any time and from time to time owned by the Borrower, whether or not evidenced or represented by any stock certificate, security or other Instrument, (b) all certificates, securities or other Instruments representing such shares of capital stock or other Equity Interests and (c) all rights, contractual or otherwise, in respect thereof and all dividends, distributions, cash, Instruments, Investment Property, financial assets, securities, Equity Interests and other property (including, without limitation, any stock dividend and any distribution in connection with a stock split) from time to time received, receivable or otherwise distributed in respect of or in exchange for any or all of such Equity Interests. “Policy” has the meaning assigned to such term in the FLRT Agreement. “Prepayment Premium Trigger Event” means (a) any voluntary prepayment of all or any portion of the Term Loan pursuant to Section 2.2(e), (b) any mandatory prepayment of all or any portion of the Term Loan pursuant to Section 2.2(d), (c) any prepayment of all or any portion of the Term Loan after the acceleration thereof pursuant to Section 9.1(a) after the occurrence and during the continuation of an Event of Default, and (d) any prepayment of all or a portion of the Term Loan pursuant to Section 9.4 in connection with (i) any foreclosure and sale of Collateral, (ii) any sale of Collateral in any proceeding under any Debtor Relief Law or (iii) any restructure, reorganization or compromise of
the Obligations by the confirmation of a plan of reorganization or any other plan of compromise, restructure or arrangement in any proceeding under any Debtor Relief Law; provided that, for the avoidance of doubt, (A) any repayment of installments of the Term Loan pursuant to Section 2.2(c)(ii) and (B) any repayment of the Term Loan of any Defaulting Lender pursuant to Section 2.7(b) shall not, in either case, constitute a Prepayment Premium Trigger Event. “Pro Rata Share” means, with respect to any Lender as to all matters (including, without limitation, the indemnification obligations arising under this Agreement), the percentage obtained by dividing (a) such Lender’s portion of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Term Loan by (b) the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Term Loan; provided, that, prior to the termination of the Term Loan Commitments, the percentage shall be obtained by dividing (i) such Lender’s Term Loan Commitment by (ii) the Term Loan Commitment Amount. “Proceeds” means any “proceeds” as defined in the Code. “Qualified Equity Interests” means, with respect to any Person, all Equity Interests of such Person that are not Disqualified Equity Interests. “Rating Agency” means any of AM Best, Fitch, KBRA, Moody’s and S&P. “Register” is defined in Section 12.2(d).



 

68 [[5791959]] “Relevant Governmental Body” means the Federal Reserve Board or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or a committee officially endorsed or convened by the Federal Reserve Board or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or any successor thereto. “Required Lenders” means Lenders whose Pro Rata Shares aggregate at least 50.1%. “Requirements of Law” means, as to any Person, any law (statutory or common), treaty, rule or regulation or determination of an arbitrator or a court or other Governmental Authority, in each case, applicable to or binding upon such Person or any of its property or to which such Person or any of its property is subject. “Responsible Officer” means any of the Chief Executive Officer, if any, President, Chief Financial Officer, if any, and Controller of the Borrower and, for purposes of Section 3.1, any Secretary or any Assistant Secretary of the Borrower. “Restricted Payment” means (a) any dividend or other distribution on account of any Equity Interests of the Borrower, now or hereafter outstanding, (b) any repurchase, redemption, retirement, defeasance, sinking fund or similar payment, purchase or other acquisition for value of any Equity Interests of the Borrower, now or hereafter outstanding and (c) any payment to retire, or to obtain the surrender of, any outstanding warrants, options or other rights for the purchase or acquisition of shares of any class of Equity Interests of the Borrower, now or hereafter outstanding. “Sanctioned Country” means, at any time, a country or territory that is the subject or target of any Sanctions that broadly prohibit dealings with that country or territory (which, as of the Effective Date, include the so-called Donetsk People’s Republic, the so-called Luhansk People’s Republic, Crimea, Cuba, Iran, North Korea and Syria). “Sanctioned Person” means, at any time, (a) any Person listed in OFAC’s Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons List, OFAC’s Sectoral
Sanctions Identification List, and any other Sanctions-related list of designated Persons maintained by OFAC, the U.S. Department of State, the United Nations Security Council, the European Union or Bermuda, (b) a Person that resides in, is organized in or located in a Sanctioned Country or (c) any Person owned or controlled by any Person or Persons described in clause (a) or (b). “Sanctions” means Requirements of Law concerning or relating to economic or financial sanctions or trade embargoes imposed, administered or enforced from time to time by OFAC, the U.S. Department of State, the United Nations Security Council, the European Union or Bermuda. “Scheduled Amortization Start Date” means the date that is the fifth anniversary of the Funding Date. “SEC” means the Securities and Exchange Commission, any successor thereto, and any analogous Governmental Authority. “Secured Party” means the Agent and each Lender. “Secured Party Expenses” is defined in Section 12.10.



 

69 [[5791959]] “Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. “Shareholder Debt” means, at any time, any Indebtedness outstanding at such time in reliance on clause (s) of the definition of “Permitted Indebtedness”. “SOFR” means a rate equal to the secured overnight financing rate as administered by the SOFR Administrator. “SOFR Administrator” means the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (or a successor administrator of the secured overnight financing rate). “Solvent” means, with respect to any Person on a particular date, that on such date (a) the fair value of the property of such Person is not less than the total amount of the liabilities of such Person, (b) the present fair salable value of the assets of such Person is not less than the amount that will be required to pay the probable liability of such Person on its existing debts as they become absolute and matured, (c) such Person is able to realize upon its assets and pay its debts and other liabilities, contingent obligations and other commitments as they mature in the normal course of business, (d) such Person does not intend to, and does not believe that it will, incur debts or liabilities beyond such Person’s ability to pay as such debts and liabilities mature, and (e) such Person is not engaged in business or a transaction, and is not about to engage in business or a transaction, for which such Person’s property would constitute unreasonably small capital. “S&P” means S&P Global Ratings, a division of S&P Global Inc., and any successor to its rating agency business. “Specified Restricted Payment” means a dividend, distribution or other Restricted Payment by the Borrower in an aggregate amount not to exceed $125,000,000. “Subordinated Debt” means Indebtedness of the Borrower that is subordinated to all of the Obligations on terms substantially consistent with Exhibit C hereto, whether such subordination terms apply to such Indebtedness ab initio pursuant to the express terms thereof
(so long as the Agent and the Lenders are, pursuant to the express terms thereof, third party beneficiaries of such subordination terms) or as a result of the Agent and the applicable subordinated creditor having entered into a subordination agreement setting forth such subordination terms. The Agent agrees that, promptly upon request by the Borrower that the Agent enter into any such subordination agreement, the Agent shall execute and deliver to the Borrower a copy of such subordination agreement. “Subsidiary” means, as to any Person at any time, a corporation, partnership, limited liability company or other entity of which Voting Equity Interests having ordinary voting power to elect a majority of the board of directors or other managers (or Persons performing similar functions) of such corporation, partnership, limited liability company or other entity are at the time owned, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, or both, by such Person. Unless the context otherwise requires, each reference to a Subsidiary herein shall be a reference to a Subsidiary of the Borrower. For the avoidance of doubt, BAM is not a Subsidiary of the Borrower. “Swap Contract” means (a) any and all rate swap transactions, basis swaps, credit derivative transactions, forward rate transactions, commodity swaps, commodity options, forward



 

70 [[5791959]] commodity contracts, equity or equity index swaps or options, bond or bond price or bond index swaps or options or forward bond or forward bond price or forward bond index transactions, interest rate options, forward foreign exchange transactions, cap transactions, floor transactions, collar transactions, currency swap transactions, cross-currency rate swap transactions, currency options, spot contracts, or any other similar transactions or any combination of any of the foregoing (including any options to enter into any of the foregoing), whether or not any such transaction is governed by or subject to any master agreement, (b) a “swap agreement” as that term is defined in Section 101(53B)(A) of the Bankruptcy Code, and (c) any and all transactions of any kind, and the related confirmations, which are subject to the terms and conditions of, or governed by, any form of master agreement published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc., any International Foreign Exchange Master Agreement, or any other master agreement (any such master agreement, together with any related schedules, a “Master Agreement”), including any such obligations or liabilities under any Master Agreement. “Swap Contract Liabilities” means the liabilities of the Borrower or any Subsidiary under any Swap Contract as calculated on a marked-to-market basis in accordance with GAAP. “Tax and Trust Funds” means cash, Cash Equivalents or other assets that are comprised solely of (a) funds used or to be used for payroll, payroll Taxes and other employee benefit payments to or for the benefit of any Employee Related Person of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, (b) funds used or to be used to pay Taxes required to be collected, remitted or withheld by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries (including federal, foreign, state and local withholding Taxes (including the employer’s share thereof)), (c) escrow, fiduciary and/or trust funds held for
the benefit of third parties in the ordinary course of business or pursuant to transactions permitted under this Agreement and (d) any other funds which the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries is permitted by the terms of this Agreement to provide as cash collateral for the benefit of another Person. “Taxes” means all present or future taxes, levies, imposts, duties, deductions, withholdings (including backup withholding), assessments, fees or other charges imposed by any Governmental Authority, including any interest, additions to tax or penalties applicable thereto. “Term Loan” is defined in Section 2.2(a). “Term Loan Commitment” means, with respect to each Lender, the commitment of such Lender to make to the Borrower the portion of the Term Loan in the amount set forth on Schedule 1 hereto, as the same may be terminated or reduced from time to time in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. “Term Loan Commitment Amount” means $150,000,000. “Term Loan Maturity Date” means the date that is the 10th anniversary of the Funding Date (or, if such date is not a Business Day, the first Business Day following such date). “Term SOFR” means the Term SOFR Reference Rate for a tenor comparable to the applicable Interest Period on the day (such day, the “Periodic Term SOFR Determination Day”) that is two (2) U.S. Government Securities Business Days prior to the first day of such Interest Period, as such rate is published by the Term SOFR Administrator; provided, however, that if as



 

71 [[5791959]] of 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on any Periodic Term SOFR Determination Day the Term SOFR Reference Rate for the applicable tenor has not been published by the Term SOFR Administrator and a Benchmark Replacement Date with respect to the Term SOFR Reference Rate has not occurred, then Term SOFR will be the Term SOFR Reference Rate for such tenor as published by the Term SOFR Administrator on the first preceding U.S. Government Securities Business Day for which such Term SOFR Reference Rate for such tenor was published by the Term SOFR Administrator so long as such first preceding U.S. Government Securities Business Day is not more than three (3) U.S. Government Securities Business Days prior to such Periodic Term SOFR Determination Day. “Term SOFR Administrator” means CME Group Benchmark Administration Limited as administrator of the forward-looking term secured overnight financing rate (or a successor administrator of the Term SOFR Reference Rate selected by the Agent in its reasonable discretion). “Term SOFR Reference Rate” means the forward-looking term rate based on SOFR. “Test Period” means, as of any date, the period of four consecutive Fiscal Quarters then most recently ended for which financial statements have been delivered (or are required to have been delivered) under Section 6.2(a) or 6.2(b), as applicable (or, prior to the first such delivery, the period of four consecutive Fiscal Quarters ended December 31, 2021). “Trademarks” means any trademark and servicemark rights, whether registered or not, applications to register and registrations of the same and like protections, and the entire goodwill of the business of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries connected with and symbolized by such trademarks. “Treasury Rate” means, as of any date of determination of the Applicable Prepayment Premium, the yield to maturity at the time of computation of United States
Treasury securities with a constant maturity (as compiled and published in the most recent Federal Reserve Statistical Release H.15(519) that has become publicly available at least two Business Days prior to such date of determination (or, if such Statistical Release is no longer published, any publicly available source of similar market data)) most nearly equal to the period from such date of determination to but excluding the date that is the third anniversary of the Funding Date; provided, however, that if the period from such date of determination to but excluding the date that is the third anniversary of the Funding Date is not equal to the constant maturity of the United States Treasury security for which a weekly average yield is given, the Treasury Rate shall be obtained by linear interpolation (calculated to the nearest one-twelfth of a year) from the weekly average yields of United States Treasury securities for which such yields are given. “Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement” means the applicable Benchmark Replacement excluding the related Benchmark Replacement Adjustment. “Unasserted Contingent Claims” means contingent Tax gross-up, indemnification and expense reimbursement obligations to the extent no demand on the Borrower has been made with respect thereto and no claim giving rise thereto has been asserted against the Borrower. “U.S. Government Securities Business Day” means any day that is not a Saturday, a Sunday or a day on which the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association recommends



 

72 [[5791959]] that the fixed income departments of its members be closed for the entire day for purposes of trading in United States government securities. “USA PATRIOT Act” means The Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001 (Title III of Pub. L. No. 107 56 (signed into law October 26, 2001)). “Voting Equity Interests” of a Person means Equity Interests of such Person of the class or classes the holders of which are entitled (without regard to the occurrence of any contingency) to vote in the election of the board of directors or other managers (or Persons performing similar functions) of such Person. “White Mountains” means White Mountains Insurance Group, Ltd., an exempted Bermuda company limited by shares. 14. AGENT 14.1 Appointment. Each Lender (and each subsequent holder of the Term Loan) hereby irrevocably appoints and authorizes the Agent to perform the duties of the Agent as set forth in this Agreement and the other Loan Documents, including: (i) to receive on behalf of each Lender any payment of principal of or interest on the Term Loan outstanding hereunder and all other amounts accrued hereunder for the account of the Lenders and paid to the Agent, and to distribute promptly to each Lender its Pro Rata Share of all payments so received; (ii) to distribute to each Lender copies of all material notices and agreements received by the Agent and not required to be delivered to each Lender pursuant to the terms of this Agreement; provided that the Agent shall not have any liability to the Lenders for the Agent’s inadvertent failure to distribute any such notices or agreements to the Lenders; (iii) to maintain, in accordance with its customary business practices, ledgers and records reflecting the status of the Obligations, the Term Loan, and related matters and to maintain, in accordance with its customary business practices, ledgers and records
reflecting the status of the Collateral and related matters; (iv) to execute or file any and all financing or similar statements or notices, amendments, renewals, supplements, documents, instruments, proofs of claim, notices and other written agreements with respect to this Agreement or any other Loan Document; (v) to perform, exercise, and enforce any and all other rights and remedies of the Lenders with respect to the Borrower, the Obligations, or otherwise related to any of the foregoing to the extent reasonably incidental to the exercise by the Agent of the rights and remedies specifically authorized to be exercised by the Agent by the terms of this Agreement or any other Loan Document; (vi) to incur and pay such fees as are necessary or appropriate for the performance and fulfillment of its functions and powers pursuant to this Agreement or any other Loan Document; and (vii) subject to Section 14.3, to take such action as the Agent deems appropriate on its behalf to manage the Term Loan, to administer the Loan Documents and to exercise such other powers delegated to the Agent by the terms hereof or of the other Loan Documents (including, without limitation, the power to give or to refuse to give notices, waivers, consents, approvals and instructions and the power to make or to refuse to make determinations and calculations), together with such powers as are reasonably incidental thereto to carry out the purposes hereof and thereof. As to any matters not expressly provided for by this Agreement and the other Loan Documents (including, without limitation, enforcement or collection of the Term Loan), the Agent shall not be required to exercise any discretion or take any action, but shall be



 

73 [[5791959]] required to act or to refrain from acting (and shall be fully protected in so acting or refraining from acting) upon the instructions of the Lenders; provided, however, that the Agent shall not be required to take any action which, in the reasonable opinion of the Agent, exposes the Agent to liability or which is contrary to this Agreement or any other Loan Document or applicable law. 14.2 Nature of Duties. The Agent shall have no duties or responsibilities except those expressly set forth in this Agreement or in the other Loan Documents. The duties of the Agent shall be mechanical and administrative in nature. The Agent shall not have by reason of this Agreement or any other Loan Document a fiduciary relationship in respect of any Lender. Nothing in this Agreement or any other Loan Document, express or implied, is intended to or shall be construed to impose upon the Agent any obligations in respect of this Agreement or any other Loan Document except as expressly set forth herein or therein. Each Lender shall make its own independent investigation of the financial condition and affairs of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries in connection with the making and the continuance of the Term Loan hereunder and shall make its own appraisal of the creditworthiness of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries and the value of the Collateral, and the Agent shall have no duty or responsibility, either initially or on a continuing basis, to provide any Lender with any credit or other information with respect thereto, whether coming into its possession before the Effective Date or at any time or times thereafter; provided that, upon the reasonable request of a Lender, the Agent shall provide to such Lender any documents or reports delivered to the Agent by the Borrower pursuant to the terms of this Agreement or any other Loan Document. If the Agent seeks the consent or approval of the Lenders to the taking or refraining from taking any action hereunder, the
Agent shall send notice thereof to each Lender. 14.3 Rights, Exculpation, Etc. The Agent and its directors, officers, agents or employees shall not be liable for any action taken or omitted to be taken by them under or in connection with this Agreement or the other Loan Documents, except for their own gross negligence or willful misconduct as determined by a final judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Agent (i) may treat the payee of the Term Loan as the owner thereof until the Agent receives written notice of the assignment or transfer thereof, pursuant to Section 12.2, signed by such payee and in form satisfactory to the Agent; (ii) may consult with legal counsel (including, without limitation, counsel to the Agent or counsel to the Borrower), independent public accountants, and other experts selected by the Agent and shall not be liable for any action taken or omitted to be taken in good faith by any of them in accordance with the advice of such counsel or experts; (iii) makes no warranty or representation to any Lender and shall not be responsible to any Lender for any statements, certificates, warranties or representations made in or in connection with this Agreement or the other Loan Documents; (iv) shall not have any duty to ascertain or to inquire as to the performance or observance of any of the terms, covenants or conditions of this Agreement or the other Loan Documents on the part of any Person, the existence or possible existence of any Default or Event of Default, or to inspect the Collateral or other property (including, without limitation, the books and records) of any Person; (v) shall not be responsible to any Lender for the due execution, legality, validity, enforceability, genuineness, sufficiency or value of this Agreement or the other Loan Documents or any other instrument or document furnished pursuant hereto or thereto; and (vi) shall not be deemed to have made any representation

or warranty regarding the existence, value or collectability of the Collateral, the existence, priority or perfection of the Agent’s Lien thereon, or any certificate prepared by the Borrower in connection therewith, nor shall the Agent be



 

74 [[5791959]] responsible or liable to the Lenders for any failure to monitor or maintain any portion of the Collateral. The Agent shall not be liable for any apportionment or distribution of payments made by it in good faith pursuant to this Agreement, and if any such apportionment or distribution is subsequently determined to have been made in error, the sole recourse of any Lender to whom payment was due but not made shall be to recover from other Lenders any payment in excess of the amount which they are determined to be entitled. The Agent may at any time request instructions from the Lenders with respect to any actions or approvals which by the terms of this Agreement or of any of the other Loan Documents the Agent is permitted or required to take or to grant, and if such instructions are promptly requested, the Agent shall be absolutely entitled to refrain from taking any action or to withhold any approval under any of the Loan Documents until it shall have received such instructions from the Lenders. 14.4 Reliance. The Agent shall be entitled to rely upon any written notices, statements, certificates, orders or other documents or any telephone message believed by it in good faith to be genuine and correct and to have been signed, sent or made by the proper Person, and with respect to all matters pertaining to this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents and its duties hereunder or thereunder, upon advice of counsel selected by it. 14.5 Indemnification. To the extent that the Agent is not reimbursed and indemnified by the Borrower, the Lenders will reimburse and indemnify the Agent from and against any and all liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, expenses, advances or disbursements of any kind or nature whatsoever which may be imposed on, incurred by, or asserted against the Agent in any way relating to or arising out of this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents or any action
taken or omitted by the Agent under this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents, in proportion to each Lender’s Pro Rata Share; provided, however, that no Lender shall be liable for any portion of such liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, expenses, advances or disbursements for which there has been a final judicial determination that such liability resulted from the Agent’s gross negligence or willful misconduct. The obligations of the Lenders under this Section 14.5 shall survive the payment in full of the Term Loan and any other Obligation under this Agreement and the cancellation of this Agreement. 14.6 Agent Individually. With respect to its Pro Rata Share of the Term Loan Commitment hereunder and the Term Loan made by it, the Agent shall have and may exercise the same rights and powers hereunder and is subject to the same obligations and liabilities as and to the extent set forth herein for any other Lender. The term “Lenders” or any similar term shall, unless the context clearly otherwise indicates, include the Agent in its individual capacity as a Lender (as applicable). The Agent and its Affiliates may accept deposits from, lend money to, and generally engage in any kind of banking, trust or other business with the Borrower and its Subsidiaries as if it were not acting as the Agent pursuant hereto without any duty to account to the other Lenders. 14.7 Collateral Matters. The Lenders hereby irrevocably authorize the Agent to release any Lien granted to or held by the Agent upon any Collateral upon all the Term Loan Commitments having been terminated and all the Obligations (other than Unasserted Contingent Claims) having been paid in full in cash. Upon request by the Agent at any time, the Lenders will confirm in



 

75 [[5791959]] writing the Agent’s authority to release particular types or items of Collateral pursuant to this section. 14.8 Agency for Perfection. Each Lender hereby appoints the Agent and each other Lender as agent and bailee for the purpose of perfecting or establishing the priority of the security interests in and liens upon the Collateral in assets which, in accordance with applicable Requirements of Law, can be perfected only by possession or control (or where the security interest of a secured party with possession or control has priority over the security interest of another secured party) and the Agent and each Lender hereby acknowledges that it holds possession of or otherwise controls any such Collateral for the benefit of the Agent and the Lenders as secured party. Should any Lender obtain possession or control of any such Collateral, such Lender shall notify the Agent thereof, and, promptly upon the Agent’s request therefor shall deliver such Collateral to the Agent or in accordance with the Agent’s instructions. The Borrower by its execution and delivery of this Agreement hereby consents to the foregoing. 14.9 No Reliance on Agent’s Customer Identification Program. Each Lender acknowledges and agrees that neither such Lender, nor any of its Affiliates, participants or assignees, may rely on the Agent to carry out such Lender’s, Affiliate’s, participant’s or assignee’s customer identification program, or other requirements imposed by the USA PATRIOT Act or the regulations issued thereunder, including the regulations set forth in 31 C.F.R. §§ 1010.100(yy), (iii), 1020.100, and 1020.220 (formerly 31 C.F.R. § 103.121), as hereafter amended or replaced (“CIP Regulations”), or any other anti-terrorism Requirements of Law, including any programs involving any of the following items relating to or in connection with the Borrower, its Affiliates or their agents, the Loan Documents or the transactions hereunder or contemplated hereby: (a) any
identity verification procedures, (b) any recordkeeping, (c) comparisons with government lists, (d) customer notices or (e) other procedures required under the CIP Regulations or other regulations issued under the USA PATRIOT Act. Each Lender, Affiliate, participant or assignee subject to Section 326 of the USA PATRIOT Act will perform the measures necessary to satisfy its own responsibilities under the CIP Regulations. 14.10 No Third Party Beneficiaries. The provisions of this Article (other than Section 14.7, which shall also be for the benefit of the Borrower) are solely for the benefit of the Secured Parties, and neither the Borrower nor its Subsidiaries shall have rights as a third-party beneficiary of any of such provisions. 14.11 No Fiduciary Relationship. It is understood and agreed that the use of the term “agent” herein or in any other Loan Document (or any other similar term) with reference to the Agent is not intended to connote any fiduciary or other implied (or express) obligations arising under agency doctrine of any applicable law. Instead such term is used as a matter of market custom, and is intended to create or reflect only an administrative relationship between contracting parties. 14.12 Reports; Confidentiality; Disclaimers. By becoming a party to this Agreement, each Lender: (a) is deemed to have requested that the Agent furnish such Lender, promptly after it becomes available, a copy of each field audit or examination report with respect to the



 

76 [[5791959]] Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries (each, a “Report”) prepared by or at the request of the Agent, and the Agent shall so furnish each Lender with each such Report, (b) expressly agrees and acknowledges that the Agent (i) does not make any representation or warranty as to the accuracy of any Reports, and (ii) shall not be liable for any information contained in any Reports, (c) expressly agrees and acknowledges that the Reports are not comprehensive audits or examinations, that the Agent or other party performing any audit or examination will inspect only specific information regarding the Borrower and its Subsidiaries and will rely significantly upon the Borrower and its Subsidiaries’ books and records, as well as on representations of their personnel, (d) agrees to keep all Reports and other material, non-public information regarding the Borrower and its Subsidiaries and their operations, assets, and existing and contemplated business plans in a confidential manner in accordance with Section 12.9, and (e) without limiting the generality of any other indemnification provision contained in this Agreement, agrees: (i) to hold the Agent and any other Lender preparing a Report harmless from any action the indemnifying Lender may take or fail to take or any conclusion the indemnifying Lender may reach or draw from any Report in connection with any loans or other credit accommodations that the indemnifying Lender has made or may make to the Borrower, or the indemnifying Lender’s participation in, or the indemnifying Lender’s purchase of, a loan or loans of the Borrower, and (ii) to pay and protect, and indemnify, defend and hold the Agent and any other Lender preparing a Report harmless from and against, the claims, actions, proceedings, damages, costs, expenses, and other amounts (including, attorneys’ fees and costs) incurred by the Agent and any such other Lender preparing a Report as the direct or indirect result of any third
parties who might obtain all or part of any Report through the indemnifying Lender. 14.13 Collateral Custodian. Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of any Event of Default, the Agent or its designee may at any time and from time to time employ and maintain on the premises of the Borrower a custodian selected by the Agent or its designee who shall have full authority to do all acts necessary to protect the Agent’s and the Lenders’ interests. The Borrower hereby agrees to, and to cause its Subsidiaries to, cooperate with any such custodian and to do whatever the Agent or its designee may reasonably request to preserve the Collateral. All costs and expenses incurred by the Agent or its designee by reason of the employment of the custodian shall be the responsibility of the Borrower and shall be Obligations. 14.14 Agent May File Proofs of Claim. In case of the pendency of any proceeding under any Debtor Relief Law or any other judicial proceeding relating to the Borrower, the Agent (irrespective of whether the principal of the Term Loan shall then be due and payable as herein expressed or by declaration or otherwise and irrespective of whether the Agent shall have made any demand on the Borrower) shall be entitled and empowered (but not obligated) by intervention in such proceeding or otherwise: (a) to file and prove a claim for the whole amount of the principal and interest owing and unpaid in respect of the Term Loan and all other Obligations that are owing and unpaid



 

77 [[5791959]] and to file such other documents as may be necessary or advisable in order to have the claims of the Secured Parties (including any claim for the compensation, expenses, disbursements and advances of the Secured Parties and their respective agents and counsel and all other amounts due the Secured Parties hereunder and under the other Loan Documents) allowed in such judicial proceeding; and (b) to collect and receive any monies or other property payable or deliverable on any such claims and to distribute the same; and any custodian, receiver, assignee, trustee, liquidator, sequestrator or other similar official in any such judicial proceeding is hereby authorized by each Secured Party to make such payments to the Agent and, in the event that the Agent shall consent to the making of such payments directly to the Secured Parties, to pay to the Agent any amount due for the reasonable compensation, expenses, disbursements and advances of the Agent and its agents and counsel, and any other amounts due to the Agent hereunder and under the other Loan Documents. [Signature pages follow]
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Exhibit 31.1



PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

 
I, G. Manning Rountree, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of White Mountains Insurance Group, Ltd.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and we have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information
relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this quarterly report is
being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth
fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of
the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

May 6, 2022
By:

/s/ G. Manning Rountree
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
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Exhibit 31.2



PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934



I, Liam P. Caffrey, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of White Mountains Insurance Group, Ltd.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and we have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information
relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this quarterly report is
being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth
fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of
the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

May 6, 2022

By:

/s/ Liam P. Caffrey
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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Exhibit 32.1
 

PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 

In connection with the quarterly report on Form 10-Q of White Mountains Insurance Group, Ltd. (the “Company”), for the period ending March 31, 2022 as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, G. Manning Rountree, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

 
• The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and,
 
• The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company as of and for the periods presented

in the Report.


 

/s/ G. Manning Rountree
Chief Executive Officer


(Principal Executive Officer)

 

   
May 6, 2022
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Exhibit 32.2
 

PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 

In connection with the quarterly report on Form 10-Q of White Mountains Insurance Group, Ltd. (the “Company”), for the period ending March 31, 2022 as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Liam P. Caffrey, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to
§906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

 
• The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and,
 
• The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company as of and for the periods presented

in the Report.



/s/ Liam P. Caffrey
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer


(Principal Financial Officer)

 

   
May 6, 2022
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